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Chairman Rust: Called the committee back to order. Opened hearing on SB 2060. 
 
(00:50) Senator Kreun: Introduced SB 2060. This bill essentially changes two components 
of our current seatbelt law. First it changes the law to a primary enforcement law and second 
it requires everyone in vehicle to wear a seatbelt. Current law does not require backseat 
passengers to wear a seatbelt after a certain age. There are two big concerns to consider, 
out of 91 fatality crashes in 2017 in North Dakota, 55% were not wearing seatbelts. Also, 
North Dakota ranks 49th in the use of seatbelts according to the American Health Ranking. 
The main point of this is how traumatic, devastating and heartbreaking this type of an event 
can be and how simple it is to avoid by just wearing a seatbelt in many cases. The problem 
when a death occurs, especially when it’s the wage-earner, first they go through their health 
insurance, then they go through their auto insurance, their savings and the maximums are 
all met. At some point they become dependent upon Medicaid or rehabilitation programs or 
some other program we have in North Dakota. See (3:49) Attachment #1 for more 
information. My father was a Minnesota State Trooper for 23 years and at his retirement he 
said “I never unbuckled a dead person.” Part of the problem we have is a lack of urgency to 
wear seatbelts. We need to create the urgency again. 
 
(8:20) Senator Dwyer: Could you articulate the balance between us as a state doing 
something to achieve the benefits as you have laid out here versus infringing on people’s 
freedoms? 
 
(8:41) Senator Kreun: We in the legislature do this all the time, we have to balance the rights 
that we have as individuals versus the cost to society. As indicated in Attachment #1 the 
cost to society is higher than I believe what we give up. We already have the secondary 
enforcement law. People may say the law enforcement will just go around picking on that. 
There are many other things that you can get pulled over for, it’s not hard to find something 
to pull someone over for if you really want to. 



Senate Transportation Committee  
SB 2060 
01/04/19 
Page 2  
   

(10:16) Vice Chairman Clemens: So does the 55% fatality rate mean that 45% of fatality 
accidents were wearing seatbelts? 
 
Senator Kreun: That is correct. Seatbelts don’t protect you from everything. However, if 60% 
or 70% were wearing seatbelts potentially those wouldn’t be deaths. 
 
Vice Chairman Clemens: I know education is working, because if my grandchildren are 
riding with me they make sure I’m wearing my seatbelt. So the younger generations are going 
I think we will see a lot more use of seatbelts. 
 
(12:50) Senator Patten: Can you please explain the difference in primary versus secondary? 
Also there is a change in fines correct? 
 
Senator Kreun: Correct the fines have changed. The secondary enforcement mean you 
cannot be pulled of simply for not wear your seatbelt, there must be another violation before 
law enforcement can stop you. Whereas a primary enforcement means law enforcement can 
stop you for it and cite you for just that. 
 
Senator Bakke:  Is there a reason you stopped at 11 passenger vehicles? 
 
Senator Kreun: There are other laws that go back into the 11 and 12 passenger van and 
such, but they are in a different category. The still do require seatbelts in most cases. Back 
to the seatbelts in school buses, the development of seatbelts in school buses has been 
researched numerous times. In the development and construction of the buses – especially 
the newer ones – are vastly better than older buses. For one thing the seats made 
differently. The biggest issue is the buses will actually tip over or actually roll over. If that 
were to happen and children were buckled in seatbelts there would be hanging upside 
down could potentially be injured while trying to free themselves, because of the height of 
the bus. Research has shown the seatbelts in a bus don’t create the kind of safety as they 
do in a vehicle. 
 
Chairman Rust: Review of bill. I want to remind people that we will have an additional 
hearing on this bill for NEW testimony do to the fact not everyone who wanted to testify 
could be here today. 

 
(19:45) Mike Gerhart, North Dakota Motor Carriers Association: Our mission is to 
promote highway safety, so we’re in support of SB2060. The Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration did a study regarding seatbelts. Through the study they gleaned that in states 
where there is a primary seatbelt laws commercial vehicle drivers are safer because there is 
a greater compliance. The study also cited that in those same states there is an enhanced 
safety to the motoring public because when the motoring public is involved in an accident 
with a commercial motor vehicle and they are buckled up they are better protected. I recently 
retired after 26 years of service with the State Patrol, and I can tell you this legislation before 
you will save lives, without question. I would encourage a Do Pass on this bill. 
 
 
(22:00) Kari Mongeon, North Dakota Department of Transportation: Attachment #2: 
See Attachment #2 for testimony and more information. 
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(28:09) Aaron Birst, North Dakota Association of Counties: Attachment #3 See 
Attachment #3 for testimony and more information. 
 
(30:04) Patrick Ward, State Farm/Association of North Dakota Insurers and Member 
Companies: For all the reasons already articulated we support primary enforcement of 
seatbelts and urge a Do Pass. 
 
Chairman Rust: Is it fair to say that my insurance premiums are going up to cover those 
people who choose not to wear their seatbelts and are involved in an accident? 
 
Mr. Ward: I believe it is. 
 
(32:22) Gaylon Becker, citizen: I’m in favor if this bill, but I have a question. What would the 
requirement be for older vehicle, such as classic cars? 
 
Chairman Rust: That is something we would have to ask the Highway Patrol. 
 
(34:18) Don Larson, General Motors: In the interest of time I won’t get into the things 
already discussed. General Motors is a big proponent of a primary enforcement seatbelt law. 
The seatbelt is the main safety device we install on all vehicles. While every day our 
companies are working to increase the safety and security of the vehicles the seatbelt is still 
the number one safety device. 
 
(35:20) Wade Kadrmas, North Dakota Highway Patrol: Attachment #4 See Attachment 
#4 for testimony. In regards to the question about the year, make and model of vehicles being 
included, it’s already in the Century Code; every passenger car manufactured or assembled 
after January 1, 1965 must be equipped with lap belt assemblies. 
 
Senator Bakke: When the enforcement is changed from secondary to primary, that means 
you can be stopped if you’re not wearing your seatbelt, is that correct? 
 
Mr. Kadrmas: That is correct. You can be stopped no different than if you had a tail light out, 
or what’s considered “white light to the rear.” If you’re driving around at night and any law 
enforcement officer observes a vehicle with white light visible to the rear can be stopped right 
now. 
 
Senator Bakke: Asked for further clarification on primary enforcement. 
 
Chairman Rust: We will now take testimony in opposition to SB 2060. 
 
(38:33) David Hafner, citizen: There are situations that may cause death if you wear a 
seatbelt. A little over two years ago I was hauling a load of hay and as I entered the hay yard 
flames came through my truck. I didn’t have time to take the truck out of gear or turn it off, I 
only had time to open my door and jump out. I was on fire! I appreciate the statistics presented 
by everyone in favor of this bill, but I do not believe I would be here today if I had been 
wearing a seatbelt and had to look for the device to unbuckle myself before I could jump out. 
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There were some young ladies from Dickinson driving in unfamiliar territory ending up in 
water unable to get out of the vehicle. So I ask who is the right person to make this decision? 
 
(41:40) Lawrence Bitner, citizen: I was with the seatbelt fighting committee back in the 
nineties. In my opinion the only reason the seatbelt law finally passed was because of the 
way it was worded on the ballot. I oppose the seatbelt drastically because I believe it a 
communistic type law a dictator law. I’m the one who should decide if I die in a vehicle crash. 
If the state passes this law and someone dies and are wearing a seatbelt, can the state be 
sued?  
 
Chairman Rust: I believe the state can be sued. However, we will find out more information 
about that. 
 
Mr. Bitner: I also believe the seatbelt laws are used as training for rookie officers, teaching 
them how to write tickets. The other thing is when they find a dead spot and there isn’t a 
whole lot going on law enforcement go around writing seatbelt tickets. Not only should this 
bill not pass, but the seatbelt law we currently have should gotten rid of all together. Seatbelts 
cause a false sense of security. People think if they’re wearing their seatbelt they can take 
more risks in their driving habits. 
 
(48:56) Tyler Morrow: I see a lot of issues with this bill, it talks out of both sides of its mouth. 
The very aspect of talk, well a bus might do this, and therefore we don’t want buses to have 
seatbelts is an admission that there are situations in which a seatbelt is not optimal, and that 
could be any vehicle. There three calculations that will have to be made by law enforcement 
if this passes, first is that vehicle made to hold 11 passengers or 12? Second what year was 
that vehicle made, was it before 1965? Then they have to be able to tell if they are wearing 
their seatbelt. I urge you to try to see if someone is wearing their seatbelt or not driving down 
the highway. I don’t trust the “based on training and experience,” and the supreme is getting 
there too where they don’t trust “based on training and experience” either. Those calculations 
would need to be done immediately. Mail carriers are exempt from this bill. If we want to save 
everyone and the seatbelt will do it, don’t we care about mail carriers? There is also “if all 
safety belts are in use by other occupants,” so does that mean we can have 6 passengers in 
a vehicle with 5 seatbelts, what does the sixth passenger do, not wear a seatbelt? Is that a 
crime under this bill? Perhaps just raising the fine as proposed in this legislation will have the 
same effect as changing the secondary enforcement to primary. People will probably think 
about it a little bit more about whether or not they choose to wear their seatbelts if the fine is 
higher. In reference to the statistics stated earlier, the standard deviation on those is a coin 
toss. Whether you live or die while wearing your seatbelt is a coin toss (with standard 
deviation) when you get into that 50/50 range I think we all realized that. We all know there 
are some accidents you won’t survive no matter what. The insurance companies testified this 
would save money, what no one is calculated is there will be accidents that would have 
caused a fatality and now is going to be a serious injury and there will be a cost for the rest 
of their lives. Not to mention the morality of it. Who is to decide whether there is a fatality 
versus a serious lifelong injury? 
 
Senator Dwyer: Clarified information on whether or not suing the state would be possible. 
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(58:00) Chairman Rust: Clarification on committee procedure for bills. Committee adjourns 
for the day. 
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Chairman Rust: Called to order the hearing on SB 2060. 
 
Senator Kreun, District 42: I won’t go through the testimony they I presented during the 
previous hearing, but there are two things I’d like to point out. First, within a week of our last 
testimony there was another death without a seatbelt by a 74-year-old man. One vehicle was 
making a U-turn and the other vehicle hit him in the side and died. He simply was not wearing 
his seatbelt. Secondly, this is all for the human concept of what the tragedies that take place 
are of not wearing your seatbelt. You can do all the statistics and say it doesn’t work, it doesn’t 
work. The statistics are very strong that seatbelts do prevent deaths. One of the things I 
started on during the last hearing is that there is currently no law requiring the use of seatbelts 
in the backseat. The statistic that we have never mentioned before is your chance of 
perishing, dying in the front set with a seatbelt on with an unbuckled backseat passenger is 
twice as much as before. A flying projectile will kill that front seat person who is wearing a 
seatbelt, and the unbelted rear passenger becomes just that, a projectile. I don’t think we 
have emphasized enough the importance of the rear seat passengers being buckled up as it 
is for the front seat passengers. 
 
(2:48) Chris Price, Director of Emergency Medical Systems, North Dakota Department 
of Health; and Mandy Slag, Injury Prevention Program Director, North Dakota 
Department of Health: See Attachment #1 for testimony. 
 
(9:25) Carma Hanson, Coordinator Safe Kids Grand Forks: See Attachment #2 for 
testimony and additional information. 
 
(17:50) Gene LaDoucer, AAA-The Auto Club Group, and Team Lead for North Dakota 
Vision Zero Young Driver Emphasis Team:  See Attachment #3 for testimony and 
additional information. 
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(20:05) Leighton Yates, Senior Manager of State Government Affairs, Alliance of 
Automobile Manufacturers: I would like to express our strong support of SB 2060. For 
those of you not familiar with the Alliance, we are a trade association that represents twelve 
of the world’s leading car and light duty truck manufacturers. Seatbelts have saved more 
lives than any other safety system in today’s passenger vehicles and their usage maximizes 
the potential of other safety systems within the vehicle as well. Changing from secondary to 
primary enforcement seatbelt laws in other states has increased seatbelt use on average by 
10%-15% in just the first 2 years and helps reduce the incidence of death and injury. This 
change also helps to decrease traffic crash related health costs attributed to medical costs 
as well as work loss. By eliminating the secondary enforcement provisions in the state’s 
existing seatbelt laws law enforcement officials will be able to stop and ticket seatbelt 
violators as they can for any other traffic infraction. This is not a radical proposition or an 
infringement on personal rights, this is about safety. Seatbelt laws already exist in North 
Dakota and the issue surrounding SB 2060 is enforcement. As a side note 34 states have 
already addressed such laws in their own respective jurisdictions. The seatbelt is the vehicle 
primary passenger safety feature with the sole purpose of preventing occupant injuries or 
fatalities. This no cost bill is a great opportunity for the legislature to positively impact the 
safety of North Dakota drivers. For this reason and those outlined above, we urge your do 
pass recommendation on SB 2060. 
 
(22:19) Bill Wocken, North Dakota League of Cities: See Attachment #4 for testimony. 
 
(24:07) Donnell Preskey, North Dakota Association of Counties, Executive Director of 
North Dakota Sheriffs and Deputies Association: The North Dakota Sheriffs and Deputies 
Association passed a resolution in October supporting the primary enforcement seatbelt law. 
One of the reasons is that North Dakota has 10,000 miles of county roads and protecting 
those drivers on those roads is an important part of what our county’s responsibility is. It is 
unfortunate that the largest number of fatal crashes in 2007 occurred on county roads. Here 
today I have Kelly Leben to provide testimony from a Sheriff’s perspective. 
 
(25:28) Kelly Leben, Sheriff Burleigh County, Instructor for North Dakota Safety 
Council: See Attachment #5 for testimony. 
 
(27:55) Chairman Rust: How do you really detect whether or not someone is wear a seatbelt 
while driving down the road? Furthermore, how could you tell if a backseat passenger is 
wearing a seatbelt or not when they have tinted windows? 
 
(28:32) Sheriff Leben: The backseat is obviously going to create a harder dynamic, because 
it’s not as visible especially like you pointed out the tinted windows are another dynamic. 
When we do enforcement of the traffic laws out on the roadways, we always give the benefit 
of the doubt to the operator of the vehicle. Most times what we will see prior to a traffic stop 
when you pass a car, especially at slower speeds, when we look you're able to see the 
registration of the vehicle with the use of the front plate and also law enforcement officers will 
look for that tell-tale sign of the seatbelt strap coming down across. Its surprisingly very visible 
when you look, but again sometimes you may or may not be able to see that. Often times 
what we will see on traffic stops is when an officer makes that stop and the offender’s vehicle 
comes to a stop you’ll see that quick pulling over of the seatbelt. So again it’s not going to be 
easy, this is difficult enforcement. I can tell you when we do work special enforcement on 
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occupancy protection our officers will put themselves in areas where they are able to see 
due to low speeds of vehicles and most often they’re stationary. 
 
(30:20) Representative Owens, District 17: I stand here today in favor of this bill for the 
same reason that I brought this bill many times before, I am singularly focused on limiting the 
dangers of DUIs in the state. We have our officers trained to notice whether you're wearing 
your seatbelt or not. In the past we’ve had a number of single car roll overs where alcohol 
was involved. The unique aspect in each of those cases was there were no seatbelts used. 
It’s always been brought to my attention, I’ve always wondered about it, say a police officer 
sees someone driving, they may not be driving erratic, because the first thing a drunk knows 
they’re not supposed to do is drive. They get in the car, they’re focused on how they’re driving 
the car, they forget to put their seatbelt on and the officer sitting there notices they don’t have 
their seatbelt on but can’t stop them because it’s a secondary enforcement law. The drunk 
driver continues on half a mile and runs a stop sign and kills somebody. It could have been 
prevented had that officer that saw them without their seatbelt could have stopped them at 
that point it would mess up the time line, but we would prevent that from happening. But we 
will never know, because we will never have the proof of that. If they do stop them, we won’t 
have the proof that they stopped them and prevented it and if they don’t stop them we don’t 
know if they saw that and had the opportunity to stop them before the event occurred. I think 
this is a very important bill to help reduce the number of DUIs in the state and give the officers 
one more tool in their toolbox to get the drunks off the roads and that’s always been my focus. 
 
(32:33) Terry Weaver, Traffic Safety Program Manager, North Dakota Safety Council: 
See Attachment #6 for testimony and additional information. 
 
(35:07) Brian Barrett, Lobbyist, Emergency Medical Service Association: I am just here 
to say that we support SB  2060. 
 
(35:40) Senator Fors: Looking at the hand out you gave it states 643 people died on North 
Dakota roads, and of those people killed in car crashes where seatbelts applied 318 were 
not wearing a seatbelt. So is that statement saying more people were killed that were wearing 
seatbelts? 
 
(36:33) Ms Weaver: I will have to go back to our department and look at the numbers that 
those were pulled for and get back to you with an answer. 
 
(38:07) Sergeant Wade Kadrmas, Safety and Education Officer, North Dakota Highway 
Patrol: See Attachment #7 for testimony (supplemental testimony/information from prior 
hearing on 1/04/19 
 
(44:34) Senator Clemens: So a farm vehicle over 20,000 pounds could be transporting 
between the farm and the local area which I suppose could be up to 20, 30 miles they’re not 
required to wear a seatbelt? 
 
(45:02) Sergeant Kadrmas: That is correct, as long as it is register as a farm vehicle, has a 
farm plate, and I know there are some farmers that do commercial operations in the winter 
so they have commercial plates, DOT does have enough information that they can designate 
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that vehicle as a farm vehicle as well, so that would be considered a farm vehicle within the 
state as well. 
 
(45:24) Senator Clemens: What is the reason for that exemption? They’re exposed to the 
same danger as anybody else is. If that’s the purpose of seatbelts, why aren’t the required 
to wear them? 
 
(45:37) Sergeant Kadrmas: That comes down through the Federal Motor Carriers Safety 
Administration and the USDOT. 
 
Senator Clemens: So that’s a federal exemption? 
 
Sergeant Kadrmas: Yes, that’s part of the federal exemption. 
 
Chairman Rust: Called for further testimony in favor of SB 2060, hearing none, called for 
testimony in opposition to SB 2060. 
 
(46:36) Ralph Muecke: I don’t know I'm so much against the seatbelts, it kind of makes me 
scratch my head a little bit in a way though because, it’s almost like giving somebody 
medicine to treat the symptoms and not the cause. I had my pickup in the shop the other day 
and the guy gave me his wife’s car to drive home and it was so small I could barely get into 
it. Once I got in there was no place I could go, so a seatbelt wouldn’t have done me any 
good. I see these terribly bright headlights as being an even bigger problem. Why isn’t 
something being done about that? 
 
Chairman Rust: We are talking about seatbelts right now. 
 
Mr. Muecke: It’s all related. I see them as being related because you're so blinded, that right 
there can cause a heck of an accident. It’s to the point already that my wife and I we hate to 
drive at night already for that reason. You meet somebody with really bright lights, I know 
you're not supposed to do it, but I flash them, I flash them to try to make the person dim their 
lights. A lot of them absolutely refuse to do it. They pass you and you're trying to see in all 
kinds of colors. Now some of them that do dim when you flash them, their lights were already 
on dim and then they turn them on bright and holy Moses was that bright. 
 
Chairman Rust: Sir if you could kind of keep it to seatbelts we would appreciate it. 
 
Mr. Muecke: I am keeping it to seatbelts, but I see this as a bigger hazard. If you're wearing 
a seatbelt, the seatbelt isn’t going to do you any good when it comes to that. I'm happy with 
the secondary seatbelt the way it is. I wear a seatbelt, but you get to thinking about it they 
just aren’t doing the job they’re intended to be. 
 
Chairman Rust: See Attachment #8 for further testimony from David Hafner. 
Closed hearing on SB 2060. 
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Chairman Rust: Brought discussion to SB 2060. In my estimation the bill does 4 things; it 
makes the seatbelt law a primary enforcement; it says that everybody, front-seat and 
backseat has to wear a seatbelt (so it includes the rear-seat passengers); and there is a fine. 
Asked for discussion. 
 
Senator Patten: Understanding that there are some strong opinions on both sides of this 
and a person could understand. When I listened to the testimony I think those in favor were 
much more compelling in my mind, as it related to a reason to go to a primary enforcement 
law. As I think it was Aaron Birst said, it is actually the law right now that you wear a seatbelt, 
you just get a pass unless you committed another violation. 
 
Senator Clemens: I listened to the testimony, of course and I agree there were probably 
more here in favor. But, then from constituents, other than that one email we got the had a 
lot of names in it supporting the bill, I've got people talking to me that don’t want to bill. So I 
guess just for the sake of the argument her I'm on the other side, not favoring bill. I don’t 
know exactly what, if you were to a fair analysis of the public where they would be at. There 
was a poll done by I think some of the people that were supporting the bill, it showed more 
people wanted it. But then, I think it was the day or the night of the hearing, on the local new 
it was like 57/42 that were against the change. That’s just letting you know where I'm at. 
 
Senator Dwyer: I motion a DO PASS. 
 
Senator Bakke: I second the DO PASS motion. 
 
Roll Call Vote was taken: 
Total was 3-3-0 Motion Fails 
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Chairman Rust: Before we have the next motion. I agree the testimony we got here was 
overwhelmingly in favor of it. But, people that contacted me (I asked them to send me a text, 
send me an email, talk to me) and it’s really close in my district, to about 50/50 you’ve got 
those that want it and those that don’t. 
 
Senator Bakke: Do you think the heartburn is over the requirement that they wear the 
seatbelt or the fact that it’s going from a secondary offence to the primary? Which is the part 
that they have more of the problem with? Both? 
 
Chairman Rust: Up in our area, small towns you have people who drive 3-4 blocks to the 
post office. They get in their car they drive to the post office without a seatbelt, they go out of 
town they have a seatbelt on. They really kind of feel it’s an intrusion into their personal 
liberties. That the government, just because some people think it’s a good idea to give them 
should not be in the business of forcing everybody. That’s kind of where they’re from. Most 
of the people that talk to me tell me they wear their seatbelt almost all the time when they’re 
on the road, but there are times that they don’t and they don’t want to have some policeman 
stopping them because they’re between their house and the grocery store and get fine for 
not wearing a seatbelt. 
 
Senator Bakke: So it sounds to me like the issue for them is more that they don’t want it to 
be a primary enforcement. Because if it’s secondary the police can’t stop them in that small 
town just for not wearing their seatbelts. So do we just want to do an amendment on this bill 
that says you must wear your seatbelt in the backseat but it’s still secondary? I mean, I'm 
just trying to find a compromise position on this. Because, I get that position, and I’ll be honest 
will you, when I'm in town, I rarely put my seatbelt on; and I know I should and my 
grandchildren yell at me and my children yell at me, but when I'm on the road I have my 
seatbelt on. So I understand that position, but I also understand from when I looked at who 
stood up there and said this is important and we need to do it, versus those people that came 
to it and the reasons they had for not wearing it didn’t seem as compelling. That was just my 
opinion. 
 
Chairman Rust: Senator Bakke I would say that every one of the people that testified were 
zeroing in on primary enforcement, and I think if we did an amendment to soften this and say 
you have to have them in the backseat but it’s still secondary those people would not be very 
happy. To be really honest. I mean every one of them that I thought was up there saying it 
needs to be primary, it needs to be primary, it needs to be primary. So I don’t know that and 
amendment is going to be very appealing to any one of them. 
 
Senator Clemens: To answer your question, the people who talked to me never said 
anything about the penalties and they wear seatbelts. But they don’t want to be told they 
have to wear it. There might be some occasions where they’re not going to wear it and they 
don’t want to be told they have to, but basically they wear them. I also got the sense they did 
want us messing with this bill and putting any further restrictions on seatbelts. 
 
Chairman Rust: Do you have a motion for me? 
 
Senator Clemens: I make a motion for a DO NOT PASS. 
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Senator Fors: I second the DO NOT PASS motion. 
 
Senator Dwyer: ill just say this, that I think we’re all reluctant to impose regulations on our 
public. We are a conservation state and were not really interested in overregulating, having 
the government telling people what they do. But in this case we’re talking about life, and it’s 
proven that those states, those 33 states that have primary enforcement seatbelt laws, their 
seatbelt usage has gone up, anywhere from 9%-11% and that results in lives being saved. 
There is a societal cost as the people testified, both in terms of injuries and deaths, and if 
you’ve lost a family member who wasn’t wearing a seatbelt it’s a tremendous tragedy and 
impact. While we’re very reluctant to impose regulations on people and have the government 
tell them what they can and cannot do, this one goes to the very issue of life and that is why 
I support it. 
 
Senator Clemens: I agree with Senator Dwyer that this is about life. I believe that there are 
some lives that are saved by using seatbelts, but people from birth to 18 are already primary 
enforcement under our current law. I was a little surprised today when we heard testimony; 
and we’ll probably do some work with the bill; but the bill we got today was going to allow 
minors to on highways to ride in a pickup box. I'm having a hard time figuring out, on one bill 
which is already law, it’s a primary offence for anyone under 18 to not wear a seatbelt. Now 
today we get another bill saying it’s ok for those same kids to ride in the back of a pickup 
down the highway, with the farmer exemption of course. 
 
Roll Call Vote was taken: 
Total was 3-3-0 Motion Fails 
 
Senator Bakke: I move a WITHOUT COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Senator Patten: I second the motion. 
 
Senator Bakke: I think we’re just deadlocked and I think now we present it as fairly as we 
can to the Senate and let them vote as they see fit and go with that. 
 
Senator Patten: I hope we don’t have one person missing tomorrow, and have a 46-member 
Senate vote on it. 
 
Chairman Rust: As I think about this, it probably is something where as a state we’re 
probably in that range of being 50/50 anyways so why wouldn’t it be 50/50 here, you know if 
you think about it. 
 
Roll Call Vote was taken: 
Total was 6-0-0 Motion Passes 
Carrier will be Senator Dwyer 
 
Chairman Rust: Let me tell you the way I see this working, and in the past it’s the way I’ve 
seen it. The carrier should get up and give the happenings of the committee and tell them it’s 
going to them without committee recommendation. Then you can do one of two things, you 
can sit down; because the carrier of the bill, believe it or not can get up as many times as he 
wants and so can the committee chairman I guess. The other option is to. Since you are in 
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favor of the bill, I believe once you’ve gotten down to saying we’re bringing this to Senate 
without recommendation, you could say something to the effect of “Mr. President may I 
continue?” and then inform the Senate that as a member of the committee you voted in favor 
of this bill and give your reasons why. Then I would think there would be probably some of 
this committee that might want to get up and say why you voted the other way. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL relating to the amount of statutory fees and the use of safety belts; and relating to 
secondary enforcement of safety belt requirements; and to provide a penalty. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachment # 1-16 

 
Chairman Ruby opened the hearing on SB 2060. 
 
Senator Curt Kreun, District 42, introduced SB 2060. The bill changes two portions of 
Century Code.  It changes the seat belt law to a primary enforcement law.  It also requires 
everyone in the vehicle to wear a seat belt, even the back seat.  We can do a better job of 
reducing fatalities and injuries in the state of North Dakota.  Out of 91 fatalities in North 
Dakota, 55% weren’t wearing a seat belt.  This bill won’t save every life, but it may help. 
According to the American Health we rand 49th in the U.S. for seat belt use.  The main point 
is these issues are very traumatic to people involved.  If we can reduce this tragedy, it is one 
of the things that we need to focus on.  It is easy to fix; we just need to put the seat belt on.  
When there are accidents like this we also spend millions of dollar through Medicaid and 
Medicare in just the first instance that people are being taken care of after an accident.   That 
affects our Medicaid and Medicare programs, and what we pay for it.  After an accident 
people may also be disabled, which is another cost that we pay for. The primary reasons that 
we are doing this are to save lives, prevent injuries, and save the long term cost involved.  
It is proven that just because kids buckle up when they are young, they won’t do it the rest of 
their lives.  Many young people are killed and injured while having an accident and they are 
not buckled up. This is not about giving law enforcement one more reason to pull us over.  It 
is about safety for drivers.  There is no fiscal note on this bill; it won’t cost a dime. See 
attachment #1. 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  How did we come by the numbers in the attachment (1)? 
 
Senator Kreun:  Those are numbers that the Privacy Act would let us use from Medicaid files. They 
are not names or people, just the numbers that we paid for Medicaid, that the primary cost was from 
an unbelted accident. 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  I am trying to find a connection when Medicaid pays for injuries via 
CPT codes; where is the connection from the Department of Transportation. 
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Senator Kreun:  This didn’t come from the Department of Transportation, it came from Health and 
Human Services.   
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  But it says individuals identified by the Department of 
Transportation. 
 
Senator Kreun:  They were identified by the Department of Transportation as not wearing a seat 
belt, but the costs came from Health and Human Services. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  There is no breakdown of age.  Do you know how many were under age 18? 
 
Senator Kreun:  We couldn’t do that.  
 
Chairman Ruby:  I know from having teenagers that when they get out on their own, they do not 
always buckle up, even though the seat belt law is primary for those under 18.  So, do you think the 
extra enforcement will have more effect on those over 18? 
 
Senator Kreun:  Question not answered. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  There is a number of people that get tickets for not being buckled up, and the ticket 
will increase to $50.  Why isn’t there a fiscal note? 
 
Senator Kreun:  It will go to the Common Schools Trust Fund, not into the General Fund. 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  I’m looking at ICD-10 codes on the computer.  I don’t see where it 
says belted or unbelted.  If there is not a code for that, how does Human Services know whether they 
were belted or not?   
 
Senator Kreun:  It is my understanding that when I asked for the information it was put together at 
Human Services with the information from the Department of Transportation.  That’s all I know. 
 
Terry Traynor, Executive Director of North Dakota Association of Counties, Vision Zero, 
provided written testimony for the committee giving crash statistics in North Dakota.  See attachment 
#2.  
 
Shawn Doble, Watford City Chief of Police, provided written testimony to urge a DO PASS on SB 
2060.  See attachment #3. 
 
17:00 
Karin Mongeon, Safety Division Director for the North Dakota Department of Transportation, 
spoke to support SB 2060.  Written testimony was provided. See attachments #4-5.   
23:10 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  There is a lot of focus on cost savings.  I don’t know how deeply it 
has been analyzed, or it is just that serious injuries cost a lot of money and the taxpayers pay for it?  
It is one thing to say we want to save lives, but is it a cost analysis to show what the net effect would 
be?  
 
Karin Mongeon:  Our analysis with Medicaid, which is not complete yet, would focus on just the 
actual cost to Medicaid.  
 
Chairman Ruby:  According to the chart, there are 9 states that have lower usage than we do.  Two 
of those have primary seat belt laws, and both of them have $5.00 more in penalty.  How do we feel 
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that we are going to jump significantly by doing this?  And our penalty will be more than double.  We 
are outperforming two primary states right now.  
 
Karin Mongeon:  There will always be some anomalies in the data.  A lot of states have reported 
that the level of seatbelt use is related to the level of enforcement that they commit to. 
 
Representative Nelson:    Do we have any data that splits out the backseat seat belt use?   
 
Karin Mongeon:  I don’t have it here, but we have analyzed that data.  The backseat passenger seat 
belt use is lower.   
 
Representative Nelson:  Was there any talk of fining the backseat person $50 rather than the driver 
to make them responsible? 
 
Karin Mongeon:  Not to my knowledge. 
 
Terry Weaver, Traffic Safety Manger, North Dakota Safety Council, provided testimony in support 
of SB 2060.   See attachment # 6-7. 
 
29:00 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas, Safety and Education Officer from North Dakota Highway Patrol, spoke in 
support of SB 2060 and provided written testimony.  See attachment #8. 
38:00 
 
Representative Grueneich:  If this is truly about safety, why are we raising the fines? 
 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas:  To me it is important for everyone to wear their seat belts.  We understand 
that wearing a seat belt increases their safety in a crash, and we support that. 
 
Representative Paur:  Are you just looking for a reason to stop someone, so you can then give them 
a seat belt violation? 
 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas: No, usually it is done in conjunction.  An officer is looking for speeding 
violations, headlights out, tires too wide, etc., then they would give a seat belt violation if the driver 
wasn’t belted up.  
 
Representative Paulson:  What percentage of the time would an officer cite someone for a seatbelt 
violation compared to the times that they were just warned and educated? 
 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas:  That would be up to the individual officer.  Law enforcement’s job is the side 
of enforcement, but some individuals might learn just from being stopped.  Some might learn or 
voluntarily comply after receiving a citation. There are warnings being issued. 
 
Representative Owens: Do you look for a primary offense and THEN look for a secondary offense?  
 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas:  Yes.  
 
Representative Jones:  Will the primary belt enforcement include points against drivers? 
 
Sgt. Wade Kadrmas:  That is not part of the bill. 
 
Mike Gerhart, Executive Vice President of the North Dakota Motor Carrier’s Association, spoke 
in support SB.  Written testimony was provided.  See attachment #9. 
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Ryan Gellner, North Dakota Association of Counties and the North Dakota County 
Commissioners’ Association, spoke to support SB 2060.  Written testimony was provided.  See 
attachment #10. 
 
54:50   
Kristen Jones, Coordinator of Safe Kids Grand Forks, spoke to support SB 2060 and provided 
written testimony on behalf of Carma Hanson.  See attachment #11. 
1:02 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  I see in the data you provided that North Dakota is currently seeing 
an increased use of seat belt use without a primary seat belt law. Doesn’t that show that we are on 
our way voluntarily to greater usage without any mandate? 
 
Kristen Jones:  The data shows that the primary seat bill law will cause seat belt usage to increase 
even more, and that is what we want. 
 
1:04 
Chris Price, Director of the Division of Emergency Medical Systems for North Dakota 
Department of Health and a paramedic, spoke to support SB 2060 and provided written testimony.  
See attachment # 12.   
1:09 
 
Representative Nelson:  Are responders also injured because someone doesn’t’ use their seatbelt? 
 
Chris Price:  I can’t provide any statistics on the mental injuries of first responders.  I can say 
personally, that it is hard to attend someone that has senselessly lost their life, and the outcome could 
have been different if they had been wearing a seat belt. 
 
1:11:00 
Bill Wocken, North Dakota League of Cities, spoke to support SB 2060 and provided written 
testimony.  See attachment # 13.  
 
Representative Paur:  Motorcycles are inherently dangerous, but would you like to ban motorcycles? 
 
Bill Wocken:  We have not chosen that position.  We do think that not wearing seat belts is a bad 
decision that can be reversed.  
 
1:14:39 
Don Larson, General Motors, spoke to support SB 2060.  From a manufacturer’s perspective, 
despite all the advancements in vehicle safety, the seat belt is still the primary safety device in a 
vehicle to protect the occupants.  
 
Donnel Preskey, North Dakota Sheriffs’ and Deputies’ Association, spoke to support SB 2060 
and hand out testimony from Sheriff Kelly Leben, Burleigh County.  See attachment #14. 
 
Gene LaDoucer, AAA – The Auto Club Group, spoke to support SB 2060 and provided written 
testimony.  See attachment #15. 
1:18:41 
 
Representative Jones:  How many accidents are there involving teens where they leave the 
roadway and are involved in a roll over?    
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Gene LaDoucer:   I don’t know the specific numbers.  When you look at the crash factors for teens, 
speed and driving too fast for conditions are always at the top.   A study that AAA has done show that 
60% of teen crashed are a result of distractions, other teen passengers being one of the major ones 
and cell phone use.  We stress that the parents need to supplement what their children learn in 
drivers’ education.    
 
Chairman Ruby:  Do you have anything to prove that having a secondary offense for those over 18 
is the reason that the teenagers do not continue to wear seat belts?   
 
Gene LaDoucer:  The idea behind that is that in North Dakota you see that teens are the group that 
is the least likely to buckle up.  Why aren’t they buckling up, even though there is a primary law for 
them?  Also, 99% of the parents think that their teens are buckled up 100 percent of the time, but that 
is not the case. An NDSU study shows that as few as 40% of teens in rural areas are buckling up. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  If primary laws are so effective, that should be deterring them from that. 
 
Gene LaDoucer:  Not when you have a secondary enforcement for those 18 and older.   
 
1:26:49 
Representative Owens stood to support SB 2060.  Seatbelt usage in North Dakota has trended back 
down in 2017; it is 79.3%.  It is a less that 2% increase since 2013. The biggest issue I have with seat 
belt laws is with DUIs.  It is proven that DUI drivers do not put their seatbelts on.  They are focused 
on how they are driving.  If it were a primary law, the officer could stop them and find out they were 
drinking before they have the opportunity to kill someone.  It is preventative.  This is my focus with 
seat belts is to get these drivers off the road.  It will be a tool to help law enforcement. My concern is 
stopping the accident of an innocent.  
 
Representative Grueneich:  I feel that this is an unlimited use of power to stop more people.  
 
Representative Paulson:  I learned in judiciary that there are three places that you “can stand your 
ground” and do not have a duty to retreat.  One is in your home; one is in a motor home or travel 
trailer or a vehicle.  Would you comment on why that might be, and how it relates to this law? 
 
Representative Owens:  I agree with this three conditions, but don’t know how it relates to this law.  
 
Chairman Ruby: You mentioned that primary enforcement would help capture drunk drivers, and 
that primary enforcement will reduce the amount of people not being buckled up.  We earlier 
increased the penalties for drunk driving and still drunk driving is going up.  How do you explain that 
and the increased penalty will increase buckling up? 
 
Representative Owens:   My point to you is that drunk drivers don’t always buckle up, so let’s give 
law enforcement the ability to stop them when they don’t have their seat belt on.  
 
Representative Jones:  We were told that the seatbelt law would never become primary, it was just 
a secondary offense to encourage seat belt usage.    
 
1:44 
Jason Benson, Cass County Engineer, stood to support SB 2060. Related a story of his nephew 
who was killed in a car accident because he did not have a seat belt on.   
 
Pat Ward, State Farm and All State Insurance groups, stood to support SB 2060. 
 
Brian Barret, EMS Association, stood to support SB 2060. 
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There was no further support for SB 2060. 
There was no opposition on SB 2060. 
 
Eric Elkins, Medical Services Division, North Dakota Department of Human Services, stood to 
provide information on some of the numbers we provided. 
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  You provided a table to Senator Kruen which was used in testimony 
as evidence to try to up with a tally.  My question is how you came by those numbers when as far as 
I am aware there is no ICD-10 code for if a person is belted or not.  It wouldn’t be straight through the 
medical side.  HIPPA would prevent anything from the transportation side to be able to correlate 
straight through to the medical side.  How did you derive this table? 
 
Eric Elkins:  We received the unbelted recipient information from the Department of Transportation 
through a data sharing agreement.  I believe they went to the internal review board to make sure that 
information was okay to share.  Then they gave us information of the unbelted recipients for the time 
period of 2013 to 2017.  Then from those recipients, that is how we came up with the episode category 
of services for the conditions and the dollars associated with those.   
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  I apologize to everyone because I don’t want to delay this.  I don’t 
know if your answers will change anyone’s mind as to whether they are in favor or opposed to the 
bill.  But, I think it is important to know what the numbers mean and that there is accuracy and veracity 
in those numbers.  If you don’t mind, can you go through this again.  I know what you said, but I am 
still not making the connection.  Maybe I might construe that you said: The Department of 
Transportation gave personal information on who was injured, so they might be followed up as to 
what those injures were, and what was paid out to treat those injuries.  Is that true? 
 
 Eric Elkins:  We received a file from the Department of Transportation that did have the unbelted 
recipients in crashes and with that file we then ran those recipients against our claims data through 
an analytic process with our decision support system that identifies episodes of care based on 
diagnosis code.  That is what is in the chart.   
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  Are you confirming that the Department of Transportation gave 
personal identifiable date to crash victims, and you were able to take that personal data and find out 
what their injuries were and how much was paid out for them? 
 
Eric Elkins:  That is correct.  We received a file of unbelted crash recipients.  
 
Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker:  That is very interesting.  I will be looking into that further.  Thank 
you.  
 
Chairman Ruby:  Would that have been everyone that qualified that was unbuckled.  So, you would 
use those numbers to see if there had been any Medicaid payments? 
 
Eric Elkins:  That is correct.  We received a file of the unbelted persons, and we used that file to run 
it against our claims data to come up with the numbers. 
 
Chairman Ruby:  Is that consistent with HIPPA to use those numbers?   
 
Eric Elkins:  That process was run through the IRB with data used sharing agreements and IRB to 
make sure that it was okay to do this.  I can give you this information.  
 
There was no further neutral testimony on SB 2060.   
The hearing was closed on SB 2060. 
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Chairman Ruby provided an amendment for SB 2060.  See attachment # 16. (19.0515.01003) 
He described the amendment.  It adds some further vehicles that stop frequently.  

Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker moved the amendments (19.0515.01003). 

Representative Grueneich seconded the motion.  

Representative Hager:  I think most small towns have 25 mph speed limits, so I think that 30 mph 
might be too high.  I think it should be lower.  

Chairman Ruby:  Yes, obviously the drivers have to follow the posted speed limits.  It is mostly for 
short distances at lower speeds. 

A voice vote was taken on the amendments.  The motion carried. 

 

Vice Chairman Rick C. Becker moved a DO NOT PASS as amended on SB 2060.   

Representative Kading seconded the motion. 

A roll call vote was taken:  Aye  9  Nay  4  Absent  1 

The motion carried.  Representative Weisz will carry SB 2060. 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative D. Ruby 

February 27, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2060 

Page 2, line 10, after "a" insert: 
"i" 

Page 2, line 13, after the period insert: 

Page 2, line 13, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter "� 

"� To" 

Page 2, line 14, overstrike "to drivers" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"b. To a driver" 

Page 2, line 15, overstrike "to operators" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"c. To an operator" 

Page 2, line 15, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"g_,_ To" 

Page 2, line 16, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"e. To" 

Page 2, line 19, overstrike "or when" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"i. When" 

Page 2, line 20, after "occupants" insert: ": or 

9.:. To an operator or a passenger of a motor vehicle that stops frequently 
to allow the driver or passenger to leave the vehicle temporarily or to 
deliver property from the vehicle. This exception applies only when the 
vehicle is traveling at a speed not exceeding thirty miles [48.28 
kilometers] per hour between stops" 

Page 2, after line 20, after the period insert: 

"�" 

Page 2, after line 22, after the period insert: 

"4." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.0515.01003 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2060: Transportation Committee (Rep. D. Ruby, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO NOT 
PASS (9 YEAS, 4 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2060 was placed on 
the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 2, line 10, after "a" insert: 
tl

i
ll 

Page 2, line 13, after the period insert: 
11

�
11 

Page 2, line 13, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter "� 

"sL To" 

Page 2, line 14, overstrike "to drivers" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"!1. To a driver" 

Page 2, line 15, overstrike "to operators" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"g_,_ To an operator" 

Page 2, line 15, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"li. To" 

Page 2, line 16, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"� To" 

Page 2, line 19, overstrike "or when" and insert immediately thereafter: 

'1 When" 

Page 2, line 20, after "occupants" insert: "_;_Q[ 

g,. To an operator or a passenger of a motor vehicle that stops 
frequently to allow the driver or passenger to leave the vehicle 
temporarily or to deliver property from the vehicle. This exception 
applies only when the vehicle is traveling at a speed not exceeding 
thirty miles (48.28 kilometers) per hour between stops" 

Page 2, after line 20, after the period insert: 
11

�
11 

Page 2, after line 22, after the period insert: 

"4." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Department of Human Services 

Medical Services Division 

Medicaid Claims Incurred CY 2013 through CY 2017 for Individuals Identified by DOT as Unbelted 

2019 Senate Bill 2060 

Total Paid Based on DOT 
Reported Date of Accident Summary by Category of Seavice (2013-2017) 

I 1mt: • -· ·--• 

Incurred Year Patients Net Pay Epis Total Episode Summary Group Patients Net Pay Epis Total 

2013 18 $400,970.89 Arthropathies/Joint Disord NEC 6 $4,568.26 
2014 12 $60,701.31 cardiac Arrhythmias 2 $1,204.16 
2015 14 $381,812.41 Cardiovasc Disord, NEC 3 $2,210.08 
2016 17 $41,752.03 Condition Rel to Tx - Med/Surg 1 $9.24 
2017 18 $271,020.97 Fracture/Disloc - Hip/Fem Head 8 $115,004.15 
Aggreg'ate 79 $1,156,257.61 Fracture/Disloc - Knee/Patella 1 $152.88 

Fracture/Disloc - Upper Extrem 6 $18,988.72 
Gastroint Disord, NEC 1 $30.42 
Headache, Migraine/Muscle Tens 2 $2,847.06 
Hernia, External 1 $0.00 
Injury - Abdomen/Trunk 7 $7,068.84 
Injury - Chest Wall 7 $43,567.16 
Injury - Eye 1 $5,660.18 
Injury - Head 13 $107,052.02 
Injury - Knee 1 $51.06 
Injury - Musculoskeletal, NEC 16 $29,489.85 
Injury, NEC 8 $5,612.57 
Mental Hlth - Depression 2 $1,023.20 
Respiratory Disord, NEC 3 $808.69 
Spinal/Back Disord, Ex Low 14 $810,275.21 
Spinal/Back Disord, Low Back 1 $633.86 

Aggregate 79 $1,156,257.61 

Claims for conditions such as pregnancy or chronic medical conditions excluded. 

cannot assure that all expenditures would have been avoided if individuals would have been wearing a seatbelt. 
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SENATE TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
January 4, 2019 

North Dakota Department of Transportation 
Karin Mongeon, Safety Division Director 

SB 2060 

Good morning Chairman Rust and members of the Senate Transportation Committee. My name is Karin 

Mongeon and I am the Safety Division Director for the North Dakota Department of Transportation 

(NDDOT). I am here this morning to speak in favor of SB 2060. 

Motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of injury-related death in North Dakota. More people die in 

unbelted crashes in North Dakota than any other single contributing crash factor including impaired 

driving, distracted driving, or speeding. 

Crash data collected and analyzed by the NDDOT Safety Division shows that over the most recent five 

years (2013-2017), 643 people died in motor vehicle crashes. Of those killed where seat belts apply (528) 

- excluding motorcyclists, bicyclists and pedestrians - 60 percent (318) were not wearing a seat belt. 

This same data demonstrates in the chart below the direct correlation between seat belt use and injury 

severity. Unbelted vehicle occupants account for the largest percent of fatalities and serious injuries 

while belted occupants most commonly receive non-serious or no injuries. (Figure 1) 
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FIGURE 1 
Percent of Restraint Use by Injury Classification 

North Dakota, 2013-2017 
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An annual observational seat belt study conducted by North Dakota State University (NDSU) Upper 

Great Plains Transportation Institute (UGPTI) on behalf of the NDDOT Safety Division shows North 



Dakota's seat belt use rate in 2018 was 82.5 percent. While this may appear high, it's the 20 percent 
who do not wear their seat belts -about 150,000 North Dakotans -who remain extremely vulnerable

­the consequences of a crash. And, this 20 percent of non-seat belt users is contributing to 60 percent 
North Dakota crash fatalities annually. Also, North Dakota's observed seat belt use rate has been 
consistently lower than the national seat belt use rate over the past 10 years. 

Vision Zero 

The NDDOT, along with the North Dakota Highway Patrol, is assigned responsibility for the public safety 
of road users. The NDDOT takes this responsibility very seriously, and one year ago this month, launched 
the Vision Zero strategy to reduce motor vehicle crash deaths and serious injuries in North Dakota to 
zero -along with the North Dakota Highway Patrol and the North Dakota Department of Health. 

Vision Zero has been very well-received and has the support and involvement of hundreds of North 
Dakota stakeholders throughout North Dakota working together to apply evidence-based strategies 
proven to prevent severe motor vehicle crashes. A Primary Seat Belt Law (PBL) is among the evidence­
based strategies identified in the North Dakota Vision Zero Plan as a priority strategy for implementation 
because it will have immediate and significant impact to reduce crash fatalities and serious injuries in 
North Dakota. Research shows that states that transitioned to a PBL have experienced a 10-12 percent 
increase in their observed seat belt use. (Source: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration) 

The citizens of North Dakota largely support a PBL. An annual study conducted by NDSU UGPTI on behalf 
of the NDDOT Safety Division shows that North Dakota citizen support for a PBL has increased 7 perce

·
· 

over the past five years (2014-2018). Sixty-two percent of respondents to this survey in 2018 favored 
PBL (Figure 2). 

FIGURE 2 
Percent In Favor of a 
PBL in North Dakota 
(Strongly Favored + 

Year Somewhat Favored) 
2014 55% 
2015 56% 
2016 58% 
2017 61% 
2018 62% 

A PBL has no cost to State government and will save money. During a November 2018 analysis, North 
Dakota Workforce Safety and Insurance (WSI) claims data matched with NDDOT crash data shows that 
point in time costs to WSI for employees injured in unbelted motor vehicle crashes was more than $12.3 
million over the most recent five year period (2013-2017). When indemnity and medical reserves 
(anticipated spending through the life of the claims) are added, this amount increases to more than $28 
million in costs to WSI. Actual costs to WSI are even higher than what is reported considering not all 
records were matched between NDDOT and WSI data. And, amounts reported here do not represent • 
costs that were incurred but not yet reported. Costs to WSI can be significantly reduced with consisten 
seat belt use. The NDDOT is in the process of conducting this same analysis with Medicaid claims data. 
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The analysis is not yet complete, however, costs are expected to be exponentially higher due to the 
number of Medicaid recipients . 

Seat belts save lives. They are the single most effective traffic safety device to prevent death and injury 
in a motor vehicle crash. But, all drivers and passengers must wear them in order for them to be 
effective. 

I urge you to pass SB 2060 to save lives from motor vehicle crashes in North Dakota . 
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Testimony to the 

Senate Transportation Committee 
Prepared January 2, 2019 

by Ryan Gellner, North Dakota Association of Counties 

Regarding: SB 2060 

My Name is Aaron Birst, Legal Counsel for the North Dakota Association of Counties. 

The North Dakota Association of Counties and the North Dakota County Commissioners Association 
support SB 2060. 

In North Dakota there are over ten-thousand miles of county roads that counties are ultimately 
responsible for. Doing whatever we can to protect those driving on county roads, or any road for that 
matter, is an important part of that responsibility. 

North Dakota is one of the remaining 16 states that lack primary enforcement authority for the use of 
seatbelts in motor vehicles. A Primary Seatbelt Law is will have an immediate and significant impact on 
reducing motor vehicle crash deaths and serious injuries in North Dakota. 

Motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of injury-relate death in our state. Over the past five years 
(2013-2017), 643 people died on North Dakota's roads. Of those people killed in automobile crashes 
where seatbelts were applicable 60-percent were not wearing a seatbelt (NDDOT) . 

Data from the NDDOT shows us that about 20-percent, or roughly 150,000 North Dakotans do not use 
their seatbelt. This 20-percent is contributing to 60-percent of North Dakota crash deaths annually. 

Driving on public roads is a privilege, and not a right ... therefor it can and should be regulated. Requiring 
seatbelt use is no more an infringement on your rights than being required to turn on your headlights or 
use your turn signals or stop at stop signs. Upgrading North Dakotas seatbelt law from secondary 
enforcement to primary enforcement won't create a new law. It will simply allow law enforcement 
officers to enforce a seatbelt law just like they do any other traffic law. 

The Illinois Supreme Court rules in the case People vs. Koh rig (1986) that seatbelt laws are 
constitutional. The court said, "A law whose aim is to reduce the private and public costs resulting from 
injuries and deaths caused by motor vehicle accidents is within the police power of the state." 

You have the power. The North Dakota Association of Counties is asking you to keep us safe on our 
roadways. More people die in motor vehicle crashes in our state from being unbelted than any other 
contributing crash factor including drunk driving, distracted driving, or speeding. (NDDOT) 

Thank you to the Chairman, and all the Transportation Committee members. Your work on protecting 
every North Dakota citizen riding in an automobile is greatly appreciated . 
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Minnesota, Observed Seat Belt Use Rate and • 
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An evaluation of the impact of the Minnesota law change was conducted by the University of 
Minnesota in 2014. The study estimated that there had been 132 fewer fatalities from motor 
vehicle crashes, 434 fewer serious injuries, and 1270 fewer moderate injuries since the Primary 

• Seatbelt Law went into effect. This translated into at least $67-million in avoided hospital 
charges which includes direct charges of nearly $16-million or more Minnesota tax dollars that 
would have been billed to Medicare, Medicaid and other government insurers. 

• 



Brandon Solberg 
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N D  RT H DA KOTA 
H I G HWAY PATRO L 

State Capitol ,  600 E. Bou levard Ave ., Dept. 504 
Phone: 701-328-2447 Emai l :  ndhpinfo@nd .gov 

Bismarck, ND 58505-0240 
Website : www. nd.gov/ndhp 

Senate B i ll 2060 
Senate Transportation Commi ttee 

January 4 ,  20 1 9  

Sf;dOloD #Lj 

Doug Burgum 
Governor 

Good morni ng , Chai rman Rust and members of the Senate Transporta tion Commi ttee. 
My name i s  Sgt. Wade Kadrmas. I am the Safety and Education Officer for  the North 
Dakota Highway Patrol. I am here today on behalf of my agency to provide testimony i n  
support of Senate B i ll 2060 . 

The North Dakota Highway Patrol has been responsi ble for traffi c safety i n  the state 
beg i nni ng i n  1 935 . S i nce then, there have been numerous strateg ies,  campaig ns ,  and 
laws i mplemented which focused on i mprovi ng traffic safety. While these measures 
have g reatly enhanced safety, they have not reduced the number of i nd ividuals that d ie 
in crashes on our roads to an acceptable number, the only acceptable number, which is 
zero. 

The NDHP has been worki ng hand i n  hand wi th the Department of Transportation ,  
Department of Health, and other Vis ion Zero partners to help educate ci tizens of North 
Dakota on the i mportance of maki ng responsi ble drivi ng decisions as they travel on our 
roadways. Vision Zero partners do not randomly decide on best practi ces but rather 
uti li ze data collected at crashes, through studies, and through personal experience to 
gu ide the d i rection and focus of the strateg ies that are aimed at reduci ng serious i njury 
and fatali ty crashes on our roads . 

As a law enforcement agency, the highway patrol is  responsi ble for  enforcement of the 
laws that are i ntroduced , debated, voted on, and passed duri ng leg islative session. We 
support data-based leg islation that improves traffic safety and keeps those traveli ng on 
the roadways we patrol safe ,  every day. 

A 2004 Center for D isease Control review of stud ies concluded that primary seatbelt 
laws i ncreased seatbelt use by about 1 4  percent and reduced occupant fatali t ies by 
about 8 percent compared to secondary laws. 

NDHP troopers and other law enforcement are committed to protecti ng the publi c .  We 
are confident, based off data and research, that voluntary compliance will i ncrease wi th 
a primary seatbelt law i n  place . As seatbelt use increases, the number of serious 
i njuries and fatali ties wi ll decrease . 

Resci ndi ng the secondary enforcement law doesn't requi re us to obtai n new eq uipment 
and i t' s  revenue neutral. It simply encourages i nd ividuals to comply wi th a law that 
enhances safety on our roadways . 

This concludes my testimony. I am happy to answer any questions . 

The mission of the North Dakota Highway Patrol is to make a difference every day by providing high quality law enforcement services to keep North Dakota safe and secure. 
AN INTERNATIONALLY ACCREDITED LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY PROVIDING PROFESSIONAL SERVICE 
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Senate B i l l  2060 

Transportation Com mittee 

January 1 0, 20 1 9, 1 0:00 a.m. 

Good m o rn i n g  Cha i rman  Rust a nd mem bers of the  Com m ittee. My name i s  

C h r i s  P r ice and I a m  the D i recto r of the  D ivi s ion  of Emerg ency M ed ica l 

Syste ms  fo r the  North  Da kota Depa rte nt of Hea l th .  J o i n i n g  me i s  M a ndy S lag ,  

the  I nj u ry P reve nt ion Prog ra m D i recto r, a l so with the  N o rth  Da kota 

Depa rtment  of H ea lth .  I n  add it ion  to o u r  respective pos i t ions, M a ndy is a 

reg i ste red n u rse  a n d  I a m  a pa ra med ic .  We a re here to provid e  test i mony i n  

s u p po rt o f  Senate B i l l  2060. 

I wou l d  l i ke to ask yo u to ta ke a moment  and th i n k  a bout  a motor veh i c l e  

c ra s h, i t  m i g ht  have been one you had fi rst- hand  knowled g e  o r  one  tha t  you 

have hea rd a bo ut .  D id  someth ing  ha ppen  to you o r  someone you know that 

rea l ly d i d n 't h ave to happen?  How d id that  m a ke you fee l ?  P roba b ly  not very 

we l l .  That ' s  the  same fee l i ng that every Emerency M ed ica l Tec h n ica n ( E MT) or  

pa ra med ic  has  each t ime he or she  attends  a moto r veh i c l e  c ra sh  in  wh ich a n  

occu pant  h a s  succu mbed to i nj u ries w h i l e  not wea r i ng  a seat be l t .  I ca n say 

afte r 33 yea rs as a pa ra med ic, that the fee l i ng d oesn ' t  g et a ny better. I n  fact, i t  

has o n l y  beco me  worse. 

Seatbe l ts save l ives - the facts a re i nd i sputa b le .  I a m  confi dent that  a ny EMT o r  

pa ra med i c  sta n d i ng befo re you wo u l d  be a b l e  to  s h a re a sto ry a bout  a t ime 

when h e  o r  she ca red fo r a be lted c ra sh  v ict i m in  the  p resence of a l i fe less,  

u n be l ted v ict i m .  I n  my case, I th i n k  a bout  a c ra sh  that I res ponded to i nvolvi ng 

be l ted ,  fro nt seat occupa nts, an  u n be lted rea r passenger  who was ejected, and  

a fue l  l e ak  a n d  su bseq uent fl ash fi re . The  u n be l ted passe nger  who was  ejected 

from the  veh i c l e  d id not su rvive, wh i l e  the  be lted,  fro nt seat occu pa nts 

s u rvived a n d  were u n ha rmed by the fi re. 

You may have hea rd ,  or  may hea r in add it i ona l  test imony a bout  the fi na nc ia l 

a nd soc ieta l costs of u n be l ted c rash  v ict ims .  I n  add i t ion ,  the re i s  u ndoubted ly 

an e m ot io n a l  cost - not on ly to the v ict i ms '  l oved ones, but  a l so to the E M S  

responde rs, the  c lea r  majority b e i n g  co m m u n ity - sp i r ited vo l u nteers.  Yes, any 

severe i nj u ry o r  loss of l i fe we ighs  heavi ly  on  the m i nds  of you r  fr i ends  and 

ne ig h bors who res pond with the loca l a m bu l a nce servi ce, but  I ca n assu re you 
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that the eas i ly p reventab l e  i nj u ries a nd deaths, l i ke those that a re the  res u lt of 
not wea ri ng a seat be l t, a re the ha rdest to come to terms with .  

Tha n k  you fo r the opportu n ity to  share my testi mony. M a ndy S l ag  wi l l  now 
prov ide he r  comments .  

Good morn i ng  Cha i rman  Rust a nd members of the Senate Tra nsportat io n  
Comm ittee. As Ch ri s  p revious ly stated, my name i s  Ma ndy S l a g  a nd I am  the 
I nj u ry P revent ion  P rog ram  D i recto r. 

A few yea rs ago  a fri end  of m i n e  from Mandan  lost he r  step-d aug her  i n  a 
crash  between  B i sma rck  and  Mandan  days befo re her  2 1 st b i rthday. The 
peop le  in  the ca r were not be l ted and were h it by a d ru n k  d r ive r t rave l i ng the 
wrong way. I 've seen fi rst- hand  the emotiona l  im pact th i s  c ra sh  had on  he r  
fa m i ly. A seat be l t  i s  the best defense aga i nst a d ru n k  d r iver . 

As Ch r i s  p rev ious ly stated, seat be lts save l ives. They a re the s i n g l e  most 
effective t raffi c safety device to prevent death and i nj u ry i n  a moto r veh i c l e  
c rash .  (Nat iona l  Safety Cou nc i l ) 

Seat be lts protect you by: 
• Keep ing  you i n  contro l  of you r  veh ic le  if you a re fo rced to swerve o r  b ra ke 

sudden ly by keep ing  you i n  the d river's seat. 
• Keep ing  you i n  the veh i c le .  (You a re 25  t i mes more l i ke ly to be ki l l ed if 

you ' re th rown from a veh i c l e  d u ring a crash .) 
• Spread i ng the fo rce of impact over a l a rge a rea and  the stro ngest pa rt of 

the body. 
• A l l owi ng you r  body to s l ow down g radua l ly, lessen i ng the  im pact on  

i nte rna l  o rga ns .  
• P revent i ng im pact with the i nter ior of the veh i c l e, such  as  the steer i ng 

whee l ,  dash  o r  wi ndsh i e l d .  
• P revent i ng co l l i s i on  with other occu pa nts of the veh ic l e .  
• Prevent i ng t ra u ma to the b ra i n  and sp i na l  cord ca used by sudden  change  

i n  mot ion .  
• I nc reas i ng  you r  chance of rema i n i ng consc ious afte r a c ra sh, wh i ch  wi l l  

he l p  you get o u t  o f  the veh i c l e  a nd he l p others .  
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Wea ri ng  a seatbe l t  ca n prevent you from co l l id i ng with other occupa nts i n  the 
veh i c l e .  An u n restra i ned occu pant becomes projecti l e  a nd r i sks serious  i nj u ry 
o r  d eath to others i n  the veh ic le .  I f  you don 't wea r a seatbe l t  and  a re i nvo lved 
i n  a c rash ,  othe r  occu pants in the ca r a re at r i sk  of i nj u ry from you h itti ng 
them .  
• Exposu re to u n belted occu pa nts i nc reases the ri s k  of i nj u ry o r  death to 

othe r  occu pa nts i n  the veh ic le  by 40 percent. 
• I n  a fronta l c rash, an  u n be lted rea r seat passenger  s i tti ng  beh i nd  a belted 

d river i nc reases the r i sk of fata l i ty fo r the d rive r by 1 37 percent compa red 
with a be l ted rea r seat passenge r. ( I n su ra nce I nst i tute fo r H i g hway Safety) 

One  death o n  No rth Da kota roads  is too ma ny. A pr ima ry seat be lt  l aw is an  
ev idence- based strategy to  he lp  move No rth Da kota towa rd zero motor 
veh i c l e  c ra sh  deaths .  These deaths a re preventab le .  To prevent u nbe lted 
moto r veh i c l e  d eaths, everybody needs to wea r a seat be l t, eve ry tr i p, every 
t i me .  

The No rth  Da kota Depa rtment of H ea lth i s  p l eased to be pa rtner i ng  with the 
No rth  Da kota Depa rtment of  Tra nsportat ion and  the No rth  Da kota H ig hway 
Patro l  o n  the  V i s ion Ze ro i n it iative and  is com m itted to red uc i ng  moto r veh i c l e  
c ra sh  deaths and  serious i nj u r ies to  No rth Da kota ns .  

We u rg e  you to pass SB  2060 to save the l ives of No rth  Da kota ns .  Ch ri s  a nd I 
a re h appy to an swer any questions  you may have. 
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M r. Cha i rman ,  members of the Committee ,  my name is Carma Hanson .  I am the Coord inator of Safe 
Kids Grand Forks , an  i nj u ry prevention coal it ion that covers northeast North Dakota and northwest 
M i n nesota . Altru Health System is the lead agency for our  coa l it ion and our  membersh ip  consists of 
over 1 50 bus inesses , agencies, i nd ividuals ,  service c lubs and commun ity members who come 
together under  the umbre l la  of i nj u ry prevent ion for ch i l d ren . I am a lso a certified ch i ld  passenger 
safety techn ic ian (car seat expert) and have spent much of my career imp lementi ng effective 
strateg ies that p revent u n i ntentional i nju ries and deaths ,  particu larly i n  ch i l d ren .  

Over the years , I have been a part of the statewide g roup of experts that gather routi ne ly to create 
what has been known as the North Dakota Strateg ic H ighway Safety P lan - now the North Dakota 
Vis ion Zero P lan . Th is  p lan  is requ i red by the Federa l  H ighway Adm in istrat ion (FHWA) and is 
spearheaded by the North Dakota Department of Transportation . I n  the past, experts have come 
together from areas such as law enforcement, traffic eng ineers ,  metropol itan p lann ing organ izations ,  
county agencies ,  ch i ld passenger safety , emergency med ical p roviders and others to create a 
strategy for mak ing our  North Dakota roadways safer .  When our  team gathers ,  we create a p lan 

.tioping to m i rror the evidence-based outcomes proven successfu l i n  other  states . For many years , 
W,embers of th is g roup  have known that a primary seat belt b i l l  is a p roven effective strategy in  

red uc ing traffic i nj u ries and fata l it ies and decreasing costs to  state agencies and fund i ng sou rces 
such as Med ica id  and Workforce Safety and I nsurance I .  I n  fact , enacti ng a pr imary seat belt b i l l  has 
been a part of ou r  State H ighway Safety Plan for many years and we need the help of our North 
Dakota leg is latu re to carry out that strategy, one that wi l l  have s ign ificant l ives saved and economic 
cost reductions .  Let 's d ig fu rther i nto those opportun ities : 

USAGE DATA: 
• On average ,  nearly 1 7% of North Dakotans-over 1 30 , 000 people-are sti l l  not buckl ing up .  
• An est imated 48 l ives were saved by seat be lts i n  North Dakota i n  20 1 5 , and 22 add it ional l ives 
cou ld have been saved with 1 00 percent seat belt use .  

COSTS : 

• 

• I n  20 1 0 , the econom ic cost due to motor veh icle crashes in  the U . S .  was $242 b i l l ion ( in  201 0 
do l la rs) . 

• North Dakota pays $706 m i l l ion of these costs . That is $ 1 , 049 for every res ident of North 
Dakota , each year. About th ree quarters of the costs are paid by citizens not i nvo lved in the 
crashes . 

• C rashes cost emp loyers in  the State $ 1 1 8  m i l l ion annua l ly-$300 per emp loyee . (based on 
20 1 3  do l la rs) 
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As you can see from the g raph on the fol lowing page ,  states with a pr imary seat belt b i l l  have a h igher 
usage of seat belts when compared to those with a secondary enforcement or no belt laws . I am not 
p roud that North Dakota fa l ls  6th from last i n  seat belt usage rates ; we can do better. Livi ng in  Grand 

&arks and with that be ing a border commun ity to M i nnesota , I often hear people who say, " I  buckle up  
�hen I cross the b ridge i nto M innesota" or " I  set my cru ise contro l  when I get into that state because I 

don 't want to get caught" . Leg is lation works at chang ing our  cu ltu re and our  behaviors .  

Let's take a look  at  ou r  ne ighboring state of M innesota and the resu lts they had after passing a 
pr imary seat belt law i n  the i r  state i n  2009.  Fol lowing that law change, a study was conducted to 
ana lyze the effect it had had i n  the i r  state . Here are the i r  fi nd ings from that study done i n  20 1 1 ,  two 
years after passage of the pr imary law. 

Us ing data from the M i nnesota Crash Records Database provided by the Department of Pub l ic  
Safety , the study  uti l ized two methods of analys is ,  fi rst compar ing actual  crash data and i n  compar ing 
the expected post law change inju ry types . That study estimated that there had been 68 - 92 fewer 
fata l it ies from motor veh ic le crashes , and 320 - 550 fewer serious i nju ries s ince the pr imary seat belt 
law went i nto effect. Th is improved safety record trans lated i nto at least $45 m i l l ion in avoided 
hospita l charges , i nclud ing  a d i rect savings of nearly $ 1 0 m i l l ion or more tax do l lars that 
wou ld have been paid for expenses charged to government i nsurers .  The pr imary seat belt law has 
benefitted from the support of over 70% of al l  M i nnesotans and observed use of seat be lts statewide 
has r isen from 86 . 7% in 2008 to an a l l-t ime h igh  of 92 .7% i n  20 1 1 .  

These successes seen i n  our  neighboring M i nnesota are rep l icated across the country by other states 
that have made the move to a primary seat belt b i l l .  We know th is works and we need your  help to 
make it happe n .  Here is what is projected as it re lates to North Dakota pass ing a pr imary law: 

.RIMARY SEAT BELT LAWS : 
• N HTSA estimates that if North Dakota were to pass a primary belt law,  seat belt usage cou ld i ncrease by 
approximate ly 7 percentage points (some states have seen 1 0- 1 2% increases) . 
• With a primary law, North Dakota cou ld save approximate ly 7 l ives , 6 1  serious inj u ries , and $ 1 8 mi l l ion i n  
costs each year. (Based on a 6 .9 percentage point i ncrease from the 201 6 seat belt use rate . )  

Driv i ng a motor veh ic le is a privi lege,  not a rig ht and with that priv i lege comes some expectations .  
Just as we are expected to use a turn s igna l  when we change lanes or tu rn a corner, we stop at a red 
l i ght or we reg ister ou r  cars with the DOT, us ing a seatbe lt is a l ready a law. Our  law enforcement 
officers shou ld  be g iven the ab i l ity to enforce that law just as any other one. Wh i le they are not 
looking for a reason to "write tickets" ,  they are advocat ing for and us ing strategies that w i l l  p revent 
i nj u ries and deaths on ou r  roadways , a task assigned to them by our state . Governor Burgum has 
been bold in h is announcement of the North Dakota Vis ion Zero P lan that was launched one year 
ago .  He and the DOT know that th is law can and wi l l  make a d ifference to the citizens of our state . 
As noted by Karin Mongeon ,  62% of North Dakotas favor a pr imary belt law and we are aski ng for 
you r  support of S B  2060 to provide that provis ion i n  our  state law. 

I thank you for a l lowing  me to testify today in  support of S B  2060 and I wou ld enterta i n  any questions 
you may have . 

• 
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Un ited 

States 

North 

Dakota 

20 1 0 

85 . 1 %  

74 . 8% 

20 1 1 20 1 2 

83 .8% 86 . 1 %  

76 . 7% 80 . 9% 

S8 ;}o�o # {). 
I 16 I fo/ '/ 

North Dakota 
Safety Facts 

201 3 

87 .2% 

77 . 7% 

August 20 1 7  

20 1 4  20 1 5 20 1 6  

86 . 7% 88 . 5% 90. 1 %  

8 1 % 80 .4% 82 . 8% 

I n  201 0, crashes cost North Dakota 

$706 m i l l ion -

About $1 ,049 for each res ident 

*(T he Economic and Societal Impact of Motor Vehicle Crashes, 201 O (Revised)) 

With a primary seat belt law, each year North Dakota cou ld  save about :  

• 7 l ives 

• 6 1  serious i nj u ries 

• $ 1 8 m i l l ion i n  costs 

(Based on a 6.9 percentage point increase from the 201 6  ND seat belt use rate.) 



Passenger Veh icle Occupant Fata l ities : 
Proportion of Vehic le Types 

Pickups 
45% 

80% 

60% 

40% 

20% 

1 8% 

Source: 201 5 FARS Data 

Passenger 
Cars 
36% 

Unrestrained Passenger Vehicle 
Occupant Fatal ities 

71 % 71 % 

56% 

Pickup Trucks SUVs Passenger 
Cars 

80% of n ightt ime fata l it ies 
are un restra i ned i n  North 
Dakota compared to 49% 

of dayt ime fata l it ies . 

Source: 20 1 5  FARS Data 

I n  20 1 5 ,  seat belt use saved an 
est imated 48 l ives i n  N orth Dakota . 

An add it iona l  22 l ives cou ld have 
been saved with 1 00% restra i nt 

use .  

Source : STSI 

I n  North Dakota , a la rger  

percentage of  p icku p truck and 

passenger  car fata l i t ies are 

u n restra i ned compared to S UV 

fata l i t ies . 

Source: 20 1 5  FARS Data 

Nighttime Unrestrained Passenger Vehicle 
Occupant Fatalities 
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Testimony in Support of SB 2060 
Senate Transportation Committee - Jan. 10 ,  2019  

Gene LaDoucer, AAA-The Auto Club Group 

5[3 ;).O i&, O  
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Good morning, Chairman Rust and members of the committee. Thank you for the opportunity to 
express support for Senate Bill 2060. My name is Gene LaDoucer, and I represent AAA-The Auto 
Club Group, the second largest AAA club in North America with more than 9 . 6  million members . I 
am also team lead for the North Dakota Vision Zero Young Driver Emphasis Team. It is primarily in 
that role that I am addressing you today. 

There is  no disputing the effectiveness of seat belts. Even those who don' t  regularly wear them admit 
they would buckle up if they knew they would be involved in a crash. And when it comes to motor 
vehicle crashes, teens are greatly overrepresented and would benefit significantly from this 
legislation. 

As you know, North Dakota currently has a primary seat belt law for teens under the age of 1 8 . It is 
largely ineffective, however, as it' s virtually impossible to enforce. Law enforcement officers simply 
do not know how old a driver is when encountering them in traffic.  Knowing this, teens are 
undeterred and are less likely to buckle up than any other age group. That issue would be solved with 
sound evidence-based policy. Such policy may also help parents enforce household rules. According 
to NDSU studies, more than 99 percent of parents expect their teens to wear a seat belt at all times. 
The reality is  that some adults model poor behavior. As a result, when parents are out of the vehicle, 
teens too often unbuckle, which contributes to young lives lost or significantly altered due to serious 
mJunes .  

Motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of inj ury-related death for North Dakota teens, according 
to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Teen driver inexperience, coupled with 
immaturity, often results in risk-taking behaviors such as speeding, alcohol use, and not wearing a 
seat belt - all of which contribute to an increased death rate . 

According to the 20 1 7  North Dakota Crash Summary, teen drivers age 1 4- 1 9  account for 5 percent of 
all l icensed drivers in North Dakota, but are behind the wheel in nearly 20 percent of all crashes .  
Furthermore, in the five-year period from 20 1 2  to 20 1 6, teens were involved in 1 7  percent of severe­
injury crashes involving an unbelted or improperly belted occupant. 

The Vision Zero goal is  within reach for our youngest drivers . The passage of Senate Bill 2060 would 
set the stage for doing just that - eliminating motor vehicle crash fatalities among teens - and 
ultimately all motor vehicle passengers . 

Through education, enforcement and sound policy, we can increase seat belt use in North Dakota and 
reduce the unnecessary loss of life and the personal and economic toll traffic crashes have on 
everyone . Stemming the tide of crash fatalities and serious injuries starts with embracing a culture of 
safety. And for each of us that begins before even putting the vehicle in gear -- by buckling up. It is a 
life-saving habit best established at a young age and continued through adulthood. 

• Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to express support for this important measure and urge a 
"Do Pass" recommendation by the committee 
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COSTS : 

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

PRIMARY SEAT BELT LAW FACT SHEET 

August 20 18  

• I n  20 1 0 , the eco nomic cost due to moto r vehicle crashes in  the U . S .  was $242 b illio n  
( i n  20 1 0 dolla rs) . 
� N o rth Dakota pays $706 m illion of these costs . 

� That is  $ 1 , 049 fo r every res ident  of North Dakota , each yea r. 
� About three quarters of the costs a re pa id by cit izen s  n ot i nvolved i n  the 

crashes .  
• C rashes cost employe rs in  the State $ 1 1 8  m ill ion  a n nually-$300 per employee .  

(based on  20 1 3 dolla rs) 

PRIMARY S EAT B E LT LAWS : 
• I n  States with p rimary seat belt laws , law enfo rcement officers may stop a vehicle and  

issue a citat i on  fo r a seat belt violation ,  even i f  th is i s  the on ly v iolatio n  officers not ice .  
Officers i n  States with secondary seat belt laws m a y  issue seat belt citatio n s  to 
moto rists on ly after stopp ing the d rivers fo r anothe r violation . 

• I n  States with secondary enforcement p rovis ions ,  more than half the publ ic 1 6  and 
olde r  support p rimary enfo rcement of  seat  belt laws . I n  States with p rimary laws , 
support of p rimary enfo rcement is even higher at 73 percent .  (MVOSS 2007) 

• N HTSA est imates that if North Dakota were to pass a pr imary belt law, seat belt 
usage could i n crease by approximately 8 percentage po ints . 

• With a p rimary law, North Dakota could save app roximately 6 lives ,  53 se rious 
i njuries ,  a nd  $ 1 6 m ill ion i n  costs each yea r. (Based on a 8 . 3  percentage po in t  
i ncrease from the 201 7 seat belt use rate . )  

USAGE DATA: 
• 20 .  7 percent  of No rth Dakotans-over 1 56 , 000 people-a re still n ot buckl ing up .  
• An est imated 29 lives were saved by seat belts i n  No rth Dakota i n  20 1 6 , and  1 2  

add it i ona l  lives could have been saved with 1 00 percent seat belt use . 

COMPARISON TO OTH E R  STATES : 

North Dakota Iowa M innesota 
I Seat Be lt  Law Seconda ry Primary P rimary 
I 201 7 Observed Use Rate 79 .3% 9 1 .4% 92 .0% 

FATALITY DATA: 

• I n  20 1 6 , 77 vehicle occupants d ied while rid ing i n  ca rs and  l ight trucks i n  No rth 
Dakota . Of these ,  70 percent d ied wh ile n ot wearing the i r  seat belts compared to 48 
percent  nat ionwide .  (20 1 6 FARS Data) 

• 94 percent  ( 1 06/1 1 3) of the State 's moto r  vehicle traffic fatal it ies occur i n  rural a reas ,  
and  the fatality rate pe r  1 00 m ill ion vehicle m iles is over s ix t imes higher i n  rural a reas 
compared to urban a reas .  (20 1 6 FARS Data) 

• I n  20 1 6 ,  79 percent  of n ightt ime passenger  vehicle occupant fatalit ies i n  N o rth Dakota 
were un restra i ned compa red to 58 percent of d aytime passenger  veh icle occupant 
fatal it ies . (20 1 6  FARS Data) 
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Testimony i n  S u pport of Senate B i l l  2060 
January 1 0 , 20 1 9 
Senate Transportat ion Comm ittee 
B i l l  Wocken on  behalf of the North Dakota League of C it ies 

Good Morn i ng  M r. Chairman and members of the Senate Transportat ion Comm ittee . 
For the record , my  name is B i l l  Wocken ,  appeari ng  on behalf of the North Dakota 
League of C it ies in support of Senate B i l l  2060 .  

As you have heard previously Senate B i l l  2060 does three bas ic th ings .  I t  makes fai l u re 
to use a seat belt per th is b i l l  a violation merit i ng a $50 . 00 fee ,  it defines a seat belt 
v io lat ion as fai l u re by any person in a motor veh icle to wear a proper seat belt and it 
repea ls  the p resent law and makes a seatbelt violat ion a primary offense. 

The North Dakota League of C it ies supports the state's Vis ion Zero program to reduce 
and e l im i nate roadway fatal it ies. Research has shown that use of seat belts by a l l  
veh icle occupants is  the s ing le most effective protective measure avai lab le in  a 
vehicu lar  crash .  I t  wi l l  reduce fatal and serious i nj u ries by nearly ha lf. Our  emergency 
service personne l  have seen fi rst-hand many tragedies that cou ld be prevented with 
effective use of seat belts . Doubtless there have been fata l it ies and serious i nj u ries i n  
you r  own com m u n it ies th is b i l l  may help to  avert .  

Concern has been expressed that seatbelts may be considered a h i ndrance in a vehicle 
fi re or  a submerged or overturned veh icle. I am not su re I agree but even if this theory is 
true wou ld  it be prudent publ ic pol icy to ignore a 98% solut ion because of a 2% outl ier? 
It was poi nted out  that the law a l lows exempt ions for ma i l  carriers ,  severely 
hand icapped and cars made without belts. These very narrow exceptions do not merit 
d isuse of seatbelts by the vast majority of automobi le occupants . 

M r. Cha i rman and com m ittee members, th is b i l l  is  about ba lanci ng personal  preferences 
against behavior wh ich is deadly and costly to society . The North Dakota League of 
C it ies requests you r  favorable consideration of th is bi l l .  
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BURLEIGH COUNTY 
SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 

Testimony i n  Support o f  Senate Bill 2060 

I am testifying in support of SB 2060, a bill to change North Dakota' s  Seat Belt Law from a 
secondary offense to a primary offense because this is a change to the law that I believe in. 

KELLY LEBEN 
SHERIFF 

As a 28  year veteran of law enforcement and a 1 0  year instructor for the North Dakota Safety 
Council in the areas of traffic safety, I have lived by my belief that it takes education and 
enforcement to make our roadways safer in the State of North Dakota. The ultimate goal of law 
enforcement is not to issue traffic citations, but rather to have voluntary compliance of the law to 
ensure the motoring public is safe in their travels .  As a part of every class I instruct to the public, 
I present on the current traffic fatality statistics gathered in our state . In each class, I make a point 
of discussing the fact that our statistics remain very consistent each year on what is killing our 
friends and family on the roadways in North Dakota. The # 1  cause of death on the roadways in 
our state is unbelted occupants. That statistic is 60 % for unbelted occupants. I also point out in 
each class that "If it is predictable, it is preventable ."  

There will always be the argument that the decision to buckle up or not buckle up is a personal 
choice . In reality, that argument has already been negated, because North Dakota already has a 
law making the decision not to buckle up a traffic offense .  This change in law would only move 
it from secondary enforcement to primary enforcement thus putting more emphasis on traffic 
safety and enforcement. Our state has other laws already established that impose requirements on 
the motoring public to use our roadways. These laws each have a specific purpose just like this 
change does and when we look at driving in our state, we must always remember, it is a privilege 
and not a right. 

The use of seatbelts is a proven strategy in preventing serious injury and death in motor vehicle 
crashes. By moving our law from secondary enforcement to primary enforcement, we have the 
opportunity to gain more voluntary compliance with the law thus reducing the amount of injury 
and death and the associated costs that result from these crashes .  In the end, it is not about 
issuing citations, it ' s  about saving lives. 

Thank you for your time and consideration and please feel free to contact me with any questions 
you may have . 

S incerely, 

;/_p�\)�L---
Kelly Leben, Sheriff 
Burleigh County 

514 E. Thayer • PO Box 1416 
Bismarck, ND 58502-1416 

BURLEIGH MORTON 
DETENTION CENTER 

4000 Apple Creek Road • PO Box 2499 
Bismarck, ND 58502-2499 

P 701-255-3113 • F 701-258-5319 
P 701-222-6651 • F 701-221-6899 

www.facebook.com/BurleighCountySheriffsDepartment 



A private non-profi t .  

Chairman Rust and members of the Senate Transportation Committee, 

My name is Terry Weaver and I am the Traffic Safety Program Manager for the North Dakota Safety Council 
(NDSC). T hank you for the opportunity to express the NDSC's support for Senate Bil l  2060. 

The number one contributing factor in motor vehicle crash deaths in North Dakota is not wearing a seat belt. 
In fact, according to the ND Department of Transportation , more people die in motor vehicle crashes in North 
Dakota from being unbelted than any other contributing crash factor, including drunk driving, distracted 
driving, or speeding. 

Year Percent In  Favor of 
PBL in ND 

(Strongly Favored + 

Somewhat Favored) 
201 4  55% 

201 5 56% 

201 6 58% 

201 7 6 1 %  

201 8 62% 

A Primary Belt Law (PBL) is an evidence-based strategy to move North 
Dakota toward zero motor vehicle crash deaths. Not only wil l  a PBL 
decrease motor vehicle crash deaths in North Dakota, it wil l  give the 
people of North Dakota what they want. Currently, about 6 in 10 North 
Dakotans favor a PBL - and support of the bil l has on ly increased over 
the past 5 years. 

T he NDSC urges you to pass SB 2060 because SEAT BELTS SAVE 
LIVES. They are the single most effective traffic safety device to prevent 
death and injury in a motor vehicle crash. (National Safety Council ) 

Some who oppose this bil l might use the argument that , in certain cases , seatbelts actual ly caused further 
harm. T hese cases they' re referring to, which would be incidents involving fire or a vehicle submerged in 
water, account for only ONE HALF OF 1 % of al l crashes (NHTSA). T he fact remains that occupants wearing a 
seat belt have a much great chance of being conscious and able-bodied to safely escape. 

Currently, North Dakota's seat belt use rate is 82.5% (NDDOT/NDSU UGPTI, 2018). T his means about 20% -
or approximately 150 ,000 North Dakotans - remain extremely vulnerable to the consequences of a crash. 

Mr. Chairman ,  over the past five years , 643 people died on North Dakota's roads.  Of those people kil led in car 
crashes where seat belts applied , 3 18 were not wearing a seat belt. (NDDOT )  

Together, we can save lives and work toward making North Dakota the safest state i n  the nation . The next 
step we can make toward this goal is to increase seat belt use rates in North Dakota. 

I appreciate the opportunity to express support for this important measure and urge a "Do Pass" 
recommendation by the committee. Thank you. 

- Sr�:� I\
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Traffic Safety Program Manager 
North Dakota Safety Council 

We are dedicated to pre ven ting injuries and sa ving lives. 
� 
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A D D R E S S :  1 7 1 0  C a n a ry Ave n u e ,  S u i t e  A •  B i s m a r c k ,  N O  5 8 5 0 1  ® 
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T he National Safety Council estimates the fol lowing average economic costs in 201 5  for motor 
vehicle deaths and injuries. T his is based on five economic cost components: 

(1) wage and productivity losses, which include wages, fringe benefits, household production, 
and travel delay; 

(2) medical expenses, including emergency service costs; 

(3) administrative expenses, which include the administrative cost of private and public 
insurance plus police and legal costs; 

(4) motor-vehicle damage, including the value of damage to property ; and 

(5) uninsured employer costs for crashes involving workers. 

Death . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1 ,542,000 
Disab l ing  Inju ry . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $90,000 
Evident l nju ry . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26,000 
Possib le Inju ry . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $21 ,400 
No inju ry observed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 1 1 ,400 
Property damage on ly . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $4,200 
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Research Note 

April 201 8 (revised) 

Seat Belt Use in 2017-0veral l  Results 
Seat belt use in  2017 was 89.7 percent, not statistically differ­
ent at the 0.05 level from 90.1 percent in 2016. This result is 
from the National Occupant Protection Use Survey (NOPUS), 
the only survey that provides nationwide probability-based 
observed data on seat belt use in the United States. The 
NOPUS is conducted annually by the National Center for 
Statistics and Analysis of the National Highway Traffic Safety 
Administration. 

Seat belt use has shown an increasing trend since 2000, accom­
panied by a steady decline in the percentage of unrestrained 
passenger vehicle (PV) occupant fatalities during the daytime 
(Figure 1). The 2017 survey also found the following: 

Figure 1 

Seat belt use for occupants in the West is higher than in 
the other regions, Northeast, Midwest, and South, in 2017 
(Figure 2). 

Seat belt use continued to be higher in the States in which 
vehicle occupants can be pulled over solely for not using 
seat belts ("primary law States") as compared with the 
States with weaker enforcement laws ("secondary law 
States") or without seat belt laws (Figure 3). 

Seat belt use for occupants in Midwest increased signifi­
cantly from 85.5 percent in 2016 to 88.6 percent in 2017 
(Table 1). 

National Seat Belt Use Rate and Dayt ime Percentage of Unrestrained Passenger Vehicle Occupant Fatalit ies 
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Figure 2 
Seat Belt Use  by Region 

• 201 6 

Belt Use Rate - Daytime Percent Un restrained PV Occupant Fatalities 

Figure 3 
Seat Belt Use by Law Type 
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Table 1 
Seat Belt Use by Major Characteristics 

2016 

95% Confidence 
Occupant Group1 Belt Use2 lnterval3 

All Occupants 90.1 % (88.5 ,  91 .5) 
Drivers 90.5% (88.9, 92.0) 
Right-Front Passengers 88.6% (86.8, 90.2) 

Occupants in  States With6 

Primary Enforcement Laws 92.1 % (90.8, 93.2) 
Secondary/No Enforcement Laws 83.0% (77.6, 87.3) 

Occupants Travel ing on 
Expressways 92.7% (90.5, 94.3) 
Surface Streets 88.3% (86.5, 90.0) 

Occupants Travel ing in 
Fast Traffic 92.0% (90.0, 93.7) 
Medium-Speed Traffic 88.6% (86.2, 90 .7) 
Slow Traffic 87.5% (84 .6 ,  90.0) 

Occupants Travel ing in  
Heavy Traffic 92.3% (90 .9 ,  93.5) 
Moderately Dense Traffic 88.3% (85.7, 90.5) 
Light Traffic 81 .5% (79.1 , 83.8) 

Occupants Travel ing Through 
Light Precipitation 89.3% (83.2, 93.4) 
Light Fog 91 .0% (85.5, 94.6) 
Clear Weather Condit ions 90.2% (88 .5 ,  91 .6) 

Occupants in 
Passenger Cars 91 .1 % (89.6, 92.4) 
Vans and SUVs 92.3% (91 .0 , 93.5) 
Pickup Trucks 83.2% (79.7, 86 . 1 )  

Occupants i n  the 
Northeast 90.9% (87.5, 93.4) 
Midwest 85.5% (79.7, 89.9) 
South 90.9% (89.0, 92.5) 
West 93.4% (89.6, 95.9) 

Occupants in 
U rban Areas 90.5% (88.9, 91 .9) 
Rural Areas 89.5% (86.9, 91 .6) 

Occupants Travel ing During 
Weekdays 90.0% (88.3, 91 .5) 

Weekday Rush Hours 89.9% (88.3, 91 .4) 
Weekday Non-Rush Hours 90.1 % (87.9, 91 .9) 

Weekends 90.4% (88.4, 92.1 ) 
1 Dr ivers and r ig ht-front passengers of al l  observed passenger vehicles 
2 Shou lder  be lt use  o bserved from 7 a .m.  to 6 p.m. 

2017 201 6-2017 Change 
95% Confidence Change in 95% Confidence 

Belt Use2 lnterval3 Percentage Points7 lnterval4 P-value5 

89.7% (88.2, 91 .0) -0 .5 (-2 .2 , 1 .3) 0.59 
90.2% (88.7 , 91 .5 )  -0.4 (-2 .2 , 1 .4) 0.65 
87.9% (86.1 , 89.4) -0.7 (-2 .8 , 1 .3) 0.48 

90.9% (89.2, 92.3) -1 .2 (-3.1 , 0 .7) 0.21 
85.7% (82.4, 88.5) 2.7 (-0 .9 , 6.3) 0.1 3 

92.5% (90.9 , 93.9) -0.1 (-1 .9 , 1 .6) 0.90 
87.8% (85.8, 89.5) -0.6 (-2 .6 ,  1 .5 ) 0.57 

91 .5% (89 .9 ,  92.9) -0.5 (-2 .6 , 1 .6) 0.61 
89.1 % (86.6, 91 .2) 0 .5 (-1 .6 , 2.5) 0.65 
86.0% (83.8 , 87.9) -1 .6 (-4 .2, 1 .1 )  0.23 

91 .6% (90.1 , 92.8) -0.7 (-2 .3, 0.8) 0.33 
88.1 % (86.1 , 89.8) -0.2 (-2.7, 2.2) 0.85 
82.0% (78.3, 85.2) 0.5 (-2.9 , 3 .8) 0.79 

89.8% (86.5, 92.4) 0.5 (-5 .1 , 6 .1 ) 0.86 
90.8% (81 .7, 95.6) -0.2 (-8 .0, 7.5) 0.95 
89.6% (88.1 , 91 .0) -0.5 (-2 .2 , 1 . 1 )  0.52 

90.6% (89.2, 91 .8) -0.5 (-1 .9 , 0.9) 0.46 
91 .7% (90.1 , 93.0) -0.6 (-2.6 , 1 .3) 0.50 
83.2% (80.6, 85.6) 0.1 (-3.3, 3.5) 0.97 

86.5% (82.8, 89.5) -4.4 (-9.1 , 0.4) 0.07 
88.6% (85.0 ,  91 .4) 3.1 (0 .1 , 6.0) 0.04 
88.9% (86. 1 , 91 .2) -2.0 (-5 .4, 1 .4) 0 .24 
94.5% (92 .2 ,  96.1 ) 1 .0 (-0.5 , 2.6) 0 .1 8 

90.2% (88.7, 91 .5) -0.3 (-2.0 ,  1 .3) 0.69 
88.7% (86.1 , 90.9) -0.7 (-3.5 ,  2 .1 ) 0.59 

89.5% (87 .9 , 91 .0) -0.5 (-2.4, 1 .4) 0.61 
89.7% (88.0, 91 .2) -0.3 (-2 .3, 1 .8) 0 .80 
89.4% (87.2, 91 .2) -0.7 (-2 .7, 1 .3) 0.48 
90.0% (88.5, 91 .4) -0.4 (-2.0, 1 .2) 0.62 

3 The Wilson Confidence  I nterval has the form: {(211mp + t') ± t-y(f + 4nmpq)l/2(nm + t'), where p is the est imated percentage of Belt Use ,  n,rr = n/DEFF i s  the effective 
samp le  size (where 11 i s  the sample size and DEFF is the des ign effect), t • t, _w,(df), i s  a mu lt ip l ier from the I-d istr i but ion with df deg rees of freedom , and q = 1 - p. Fo r  
percentages t h e s e  endpo ints a r e  mult ip l ied by  1 00. 

4 The regu lar symmetr ic  i nterval was used for the est imated change i n  percentage point ,  wh ich i s  i n  the form: p ± t,_""(df)-vv(p), where p is the est imated change i n  
percentage po int ,  v(p) i s  i ts  estimated variance, and 1,-(df) i s  a mult ip l ier from the t-distri but ion w i th  df degrees of freedom.  

5 A p-va lue of 0 .05 or less indicates that  there is a statistically sign ificant d ifference (at the alpha=0.05 level) between the 2016  and 2017 est imates for  the group 
in question, ind icated with bold type. 

6 Use rates ref lect the  laws i n  effect at the t ime data were col l ected. 
7 Belt use rate ,  95% Confi dence I nterval , annual changes have been rounded to the nearest tenth. Annual changes have been computed based on un rounded est imates 

and may not equal those based on  d isp layed values. 
Data Sou rce: Nat i ona l  Occupant Protect ion Use Survey, National H ighway Traff ic Safety Admin istrati on ,  Nat ional Center Stat ist ics and Analys is .  
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Survey Methodology 
The National Occupant Protection Use Survey is the only 
nationwide probability-based observational survey of seat 
belt use in the United States. The survey observes seat belt 
use as it actually occurs at randomly selected roadway 
sites, and thus provides the best tracking of the extent to 
which passenger vehicle occupants in this country are 
buckling up. 

The survey data is collected by sending trained observ­
ers to probabilistically sampled roadways, who observe 
passenger vehicles between the hours of 7 a.m. and 6 p.m. 
Observations are made either while standing at the road­
side or, in the case of expressways, while riding in a vehicle 
in the traffic. In order to capture the true behavior of pas­
senger vehicle occupants, the NO PUS observers do not stop 
vehicles or interview occupants. The 2017 NOPUS data was 
collected from June 5 to July 1, 2017, while the 2016 data was 
collected from June 6 to June 25, 2016. 

The NOPUS uses a complex, multistage probability sample, 
statistical data editing, imputation of unknown values, and 
complex estimation procedures. The sample sites for the 
2017 NOPUS were the same as that from the 2016 NOPUS 
sample sites. Table 2 shows the observed sample sizes of the 
2017 NOPUS Moving Traffic Survey. A total of 125,712 occu­
pants were observed in the 101,503 vehicles at the 1,966 data 
collection sites. 

Table 2 
S ites, Veh icles ,  and Occupants· Observed 

Numbers of 2016 2017 Percentage Change 

Sites Observed 1 ,966 1 ,966 0.00% 
Veh icles Observed 1 00,776 1 01 ,503 0.72% 
Occupants Observed · 1 24 ,746 1 25 ,71 2 0.77% 
*Drivers and right-front passengers only. 

Because the NOPUS sites were selected probabilistically, 
we can analyze the statistical significance of the results. 
Statistically significant increases in seat belt use from 2016 
to 2017 are identified in Table 1 by a p-value that is 0.05 or 
less in the table's far-right column. 

Data collection, estimation, and variance estimation for the 
NOPUS are conducted by Westat, Inc., under the direction of 
NHTSA's National Center for Statistics and Analysis under 
Federal contract number DTNH22-13-D-00284. 

NHTSA's Nationa l  Center for Statistics and Analysis 

Defin it ions 
Under NOPUS observation protocols, a driver or right-front 
passenger is considered "belted" if a shoulder belt appears to 
be across the front of the body. 

A jurisdiction that can enforce traffic laws, such as a State or 
the District of Columbia, has a "primary enforcement law" 
if occupants can be ticketed simply for not using their seat 
belts. Under "secondary enforcement laws" an occupants 
must be stopped for another violation, such as an expired 
license tag, before being cited for seat belt nonuse. As of 
May 31, 2017, primary laws were in effect in 34 States and 
the District of Columbia, 15 States had secondary laws, and 
1 State (New Hampshire) effectively has no adult seat belt 
laws. (In New Hampshire, it is legal for occupants over age 
18 to ride unbelted.). Table 3 provides a list of the States with 
"primary enforcement laws." 

Table 3 
States With Primary Enforcement Seat Belt Laws* 
Alabama Hawaii Michigan Rhode Island 
Alaska I l l ino is Minnesota South Carolina 
Arkansas Ind iana Mississippi Tennessee 
Californ ia Iowa New Jersey Texas 
Con necticut Kansas New Mexico Utah 
Delaware Kentucky New York Washington 
District of Columbia Louisiana North Carolina West Vi rginia 
Florida Maine Oklahoma Wisconsin 
Georgia Maryland Oregon  

*States with laws in  effect a s  o f  May 31 , 201 7. 

"Expressways" are defined to be roadways with limited 
access, while "surface streets" comprise all other roadways. 
"Rush hours" are defined as the time periods 7 to 9:30 a.m. 
and 3:30 to 6 p.m. 

A roadway is defined to have "
f

ast traffic" if during the 
observation period the average speed of passenger vehicles 
that pass the observer exceeds 50 mph, with "medium-speed 
traffic" defined as 31 to 50 mph and "slow traffic" defined as 
30 mph or slower. 

A roadway is defined to have "heavy traffic" if the average 
number of vehicles on the roadway during the observation 
period is greater than 5 per lane per mile, with "moderately 
dense traffic" defined as greater than 1 but less than or equal 
to 5 vehicles per lane per mile, and "light traffic" as less than 
or equal to 1 vehicle per lane per mile. 

1 200 New Jersey Avenue SE. ,  Wash ington, DC 20590 
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The survey uses the following definitions of geographic 
regions, which are defined in terms of the States contained 
in the region below: 

Northeast: CT, MA, ME, NH, NJ, NY, PA, RI, VT 

Midwest: IA, KS, IL, IN, MI, MN, MO, ND, NE, OH, SD, WI 

South: AL, AR, DC, DE, FL, GA, KY, LA, MD, MS, NC, 
OK, SC, TN, TX, VA, WV 

West: AK, AZ, CA, CO, HI, ID, MT, NM, NV, OR, UT, 
WA, WY 

Seat belt use rates reflect the State laws in effect at the time of 
data collection. 

For More Information 

This Research Note was written by Hongying (Ruby) Li 
and Timothy M. Pickrell, mathematical statisticians in 
the Mathematical Analysis Division, National Center for 
Statistics and Analysis, NHTSA. For questions regarding 
the information presented in this document, please contact 
ruby.li@dot.gov. 

0 
U .S. Department 
of Transportation 

National Highway 
Traffic Safety 
Administration 

NHTSA's Nationa l  Center for Statistics and Analysis 

SB :iolPo 

1 )ru/L1_ 
Additional data and information on the survey design and 
analysis procedures will be available in upcoming publica­
tions to be posted at the website https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot. 
gov/#/. 

Research has found that lap/shoulder seat belts, when used, 
reduce the risk of fatal injury to front-seat passenger car 
occupants by 45 percent and the risk of moderate-to-critical 
injury by 50 percent. In 2016 alone, seat belts saved an esti­
mated 14,668 lives (Traffic Safety Facts: Lives Saved in 2016 by 
Restraint Use and Minimum-Drinking-Age Laws, NHTSA, 
Report No. DOT HS 812 454). For more information on the 
campaign by NHTSA and the States to increase seat belt use, 
see www.nhtsa.gov/CIOT. 

The NOPUS also observes other types of restraints, such as 
child restraints and motorcycle helmets, and observes driver 
electronic device use. This publication is part of a series 
that presents overall results from the survey on these top­
ics. Please refer to the upcoming research notes and techni­
cal reports in the series, such as "Motorcycle Helmet Use in 
2017-Overall Results," for the latest data on these topics. 

Suggested APA format citation for this report: 

Li, R., & Pickrell, T. M. (2018, April, revised). Seat belt use in 

201 7-0verall results. (Traffic Safety Facts Research Note. 
Report No. DOT HS 812 465). Washington, DC: National 
Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 

This research note and other general information on 
highway traffic safety may be accessed by Internet 
users at: https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/#/. 

1 200 N ew Jersey Avenue SE. ,  Wash ington,  DC 20590 
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U.S. Department 
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Traffic Safety 
Administration 

DOT HS 8 1 2  546 A Brief Stati sti ca l  Summary June 201 8 (revised) 

Seat Belt Use in 2017-Use Rates in the 

States and Territories 
High l ights: In 2017 seat belt use in the United States ranged 
from 67.6 percent in New Hampshire to 97.1 percent in Georgia. 
Twenty-three States, the District of Columbia, Guam, and the 
Northern Mariana Islands achieved seat belt use rates of 90 
percent or higher. These results are from probability-based 
observational surveys conducted by the 50 States, the District 
of Columbia, and U.S. Territories. 

Background:  In 2011 NHTSA established new uniform criteria 
(per 23 CFR Part 1340) for observational surveys. Compliance 
with the criteria is verified annually by NHTSA's National 
Center for Statistics and Analysis. 

Results: Seat belt use rates in the States, the District of 
Columbia, Puerto Rico, other U.S. Territories, and nationwide 
from 2010 to 2017 are listed in the table below. Rates in juris­
dictions with primary seat belt enforcement during the calen­
dar year of the survey are shaded in the table. However, the 
law might not have taken effect when the survey was being 
conducted. 

The 2017 State and Territory survey results include the following: 

Twenty-three States, the District of Columbia, Guam, and 
the Northern Mariana Islands achieved a belt use rate of 
90 percent or higher. These States include, in descending 
order of belt use rate, Georgia, Hawaii, Oregon, California, 
Washington, Michigan, New Jersey, Illinois, New York, 
Indiana, Alabama, South Carolina, Maryland, Minnesota, 
Texas, New Mexico, Delaware, Iowa, North Carol ina, Ne­
vada, Connecticut, Florida, and Alaska. Jurisdictions with 
stronger seat belt enforcement laws continue to exhibit gen­
erally higher use rates than those with weaker laws. 

National Seat Belt Use Rate 
The nationwide seat belt use rate was 89.7 percent in 2017 
as measured by NHTSA's National Occupant Protection Use 
Survey (NOPUS). NOPUS is a national probability-based 
survey, independent from State belt use surveys. NOPUS 
provides NHTSA's official measure of nationwide seat belt 
use in the United States and other related information. Due 
to a difference in survey methodology, NOPUS provides a 
different measure of nationwide use than would be obtained 
by combining the use rates from the States and Territories. 

Seat Belt Use in the States, U .S .  Territor ies,  and Nationwide ,  2010-2017 

State or U .S.  
Territory 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Alabama 91 .4% 88 .0% 89 .5% 97.3% 
Alaska 86 .8% 89 .3% 88.1 % 86 .1 % 
Arizona 81 .8% 82 .9% 82 .2% 84.7% 
Arkansas 78.3% 78.4% 71 .9% 76 .7% 
Califo rnia 96 .2% 96 .6% 95 .5% 97.4% 
Co lorado 82 .9% 82.1 % 80.7% 82.1 % 
Connecti cut 88 .2% 88.4% 86.8% 86 .6% 
De laware 90.7% 90.3% 87.9% 92 .2% 
D istr ict Of Co lumbia 92.3% 95 .2% 92.4% 87. 5% 
Flor ida 87.4% 88.1 % 87.4% 87. 2% 
Georg ia 89 .6% 93 .0% 92 .0% 95 .5% 
Hawai i 97.6% 96 .0% 93.4% 94.0% 
Idaho 77.9% 79.1 % 79 .0% 81 .6% 
I l l i no is  92 .6% 92 .9% 93 .6% 93 .7% 
I n d iana 92 .4% 93 .2% 93.6% 91 .6% 
Iowa 93 .1 % 93 .5% 92 .4% 91 . 9% 
Kansas 81 .8% 82 .9% 79 .5% 80 .7% 

NHTSA's Nationa l  Center for  Statist ics and  Analysis 

2014 

95 .7% 
88 .4% 
87.2% 
74.4% 
97.1 % 
82 .4% 
85 .1 % 
9 1 . 9% 
93 . 2% 
88 .8% 
97.3% 
93 .5% 
80 .2% 
94.1 % 
90 .2% 
92 .8% 
85 .7% 

201 6-2017 

2015 2016 2017 Change 

93 .3% 92 .0% 92 .9% 0 .9% 
89 .3% 88 .5% 90 .1 % 1 .6% 
86 .6% 88 .0% 86.1 % -1 . 9% 
77.7% 75.1 % 8 1 . 0% 5 .9% 
97.3% 96 .5% 96 .2% -0 .3% 
85 .2% 84 .0% 83 .8% -0 .2% 
85 .4% 89 .4% 90 .3% 0 .9% 
90 .4% 91 .4% 91 .4% 0.0% 
95 .5% 94.1 % 93 .6% -0 .5% 
89 .4% 89 .6% 90 .2% 0 .6% 
97.3% 97.2% 97.1 % -0 .1 % 
92 .8% 94 .5% 96 .9% 2.4% 
81 .1 %  82 .9% 8 1 . 2% -1 .7% 
95 .2% 93 .0% 93 .8% 0 .8% 
9 1 .9% 92.4% 93 .0% 0 .6% 
93 .0% 93 .8% 91 .4% -2.4% 
82.1 % 87.0% 82 .0% -5 .0% 

Table continues on next page 
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Seat Belt Use i n  the States,  U .S . Territor ies, and Nationwide ,  201 0-2017 (conti nued) 

Stale or  U .S .  2016-2017  
Territory 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Change 

Kentucky 80 .3% 82 .2% 83 .7% 85 .0% 86 .1 %  86.7% 86 .5% 86 .8% 0 .3% 
Louis iana 75 .9% 77.7% 79.3% 82.5% 84.1 % 85 .9% 87.8% 87.1 % -0.7% 
Mai ne  82 .0% 81 . 6% 84.4% 83 .0% 85 .0% 85 .5% 85 .8% 88 .9% 3 .1 % 
Maryland 94.7% 94.2% 91 .1 %  90 .7% 92 .1 % 92 .9% 90 .8% 92.1 % 1 .3% 
Massachusetts 73.7% 73.2% 72.7% 74.8% 76 .6% 74.1 % 78.2% 73.7% -4 .5% 
Mich igan 95 . 2% 94.5% 93.6% 93.0% 93.3% 92 .8% 94 .5% 94.1 % -0.4% 
Minnesota 92 .3% 92.7% 93.6% 94.8% 94.7% 94.0% 93 .2% 92 .0% -1 .2% 
Miss iss ipp i  8 1 . 0%  81 .9% 83 .2% 74.4% 78.3% 79 .6% 77.9% 78 .8% 0 .9% 
Missouri 76 .0% 79 .0% 79.4% 80 .1 % 78 .8% 79 .9% 81 .4% 84 .0% 2 .6% 
Montana 78 .9% 76.9% 76.3% 74 .0% 74.0% 77.0% 76 .0% 78 .0% 2 .0% 
Nebraska 84.1 % 84 .2% 78 .6% 79 .1 % 79 .0% 79 .6% 83 .3% 85 .9% 2.6% 
Nevada 93 .2% 94.1 % 90 .5% 94.8% 94 .0% 92 .1 % 89.4% 90 .6% 1 . 2% 
New Hampsh i re 72 .2% 75 .0% 68 .6% 73 .0% 70 .4% 69 .5% 70.2% 67.6% -2 .6% 
New Jersey 93 .7% 94 .5% 88 .3% 91 . 0% 87.6% 91 .4% 93.4% 94.1 % 0.7% 
New Mexico 89 .8% 90 .5% 91 .4% 92 .0% 92 .1 % 93.3% 92 .3% 91 .5% -0 .8% 
New York 89 .8% 90 .5% 90.4% 91 .1 %  90 .6% 92 .2% 9 1 . 8% 93.4% 1 .6% 
North Caro l i na  89 .7% 89 .5% 87.5% 88 .6% 90 .6% 89.9% 91 .7% 91 .4% -0.3% 
North Dakota 74. 8% 76.7% 80.9% 77.7% 81 .0% 80 .4% 82.8% ,r 79.3% i\ -3 .5% 
Oh io  83 .8% 84.1 % 82.0% 84.5% 85.0% 83.9% 83.8% OL.07o -1 .0% 
Oklahoma 85 .9% 85 . 9% 83.8% 83 .6% 86.3% 84.5% 86.6% 86.9% 0 .3% 
Oregon 97. 0%  96 .6% 96 .8% 98 .2% 97.8% 95 .5% 96 .2% 96 .8% 0 .6% 
Pennsylvan i a  86 . 0% 83 .8% 83 .5% 84 .0% 83 .6% 82.7% 85.2% 85 .6% 0.4% 
Rhode Is land 78 .0% 80.4% 77.5% 85 .6% 87.4% 86.7% 87.5% 88 .3% 0 .8% 
South Caro l i na  85 .4% 86 .0% 90.5% 9 1 .7% 90 . 0% 91 .6% 93 .9% 92 .3% -1 .6% 
South Dakota 74. 5% 73.4% 66.5% 68.7% 68 .9% 73.6% 74.2% 74.8% 0 .6% 
Tennessee 87.1 % 87.4% 83.7% 84.8% 87.7% 86 .2% 88 .9% 88 .5% -0.4% 
Texas 93 .8% 93.7% 94.0% 90 .3% 90 .7% 90 .5% 91 .6% 91 . 9% 0 .3% 
Utah 89 .0% 89 .2% 81 .9% 82 .4% 83 .4% 87.2% 87. 9% 88 .8% 0 .9% 
Vermont 85 . 2% 84.7% 84 .2% 84.9% 84.1 % 85 .0% 80 .0% 84 .5% 4 .5% 
Virg i n i a  80 . 5% 8 1 . 8% 78.4% 79.7% 77.3% 80 .9% 79.0% 85.3% 6.3% 
Wash ington 97. 6% 97.5% 96 .9% 94.5% 94.5% 94.6% 94.7% 94.8% 0 .1 % 
West V i rg i n i a  82.1 % 84.9% 84.0% 82.2% 87.8% 89 .0% 86 .8% 89.7% 2.9% 
Wiscons in 79 .2% 79 .0% 79 .9% 82.4% 84.7% 85 .8% 88.4% 89.4% 1 .0% 
Wyoming  78 .9% 82 .6% 77.0% 81 .9% 79 .2% 79 .8% 80 .5% 84.8% 4.3% 
Nationwide* 85% 84% 86.0% 87.0% 86.7% 88.5% 90.1% 89.7% -0.4% 
Puerto R ico NA 91 .9% 90 .2% 89 .7% 89 .5% 91 .8% 93.8% 87.9% -5 .9% 
Amer ican Samoa 73.0% 77.0% 75.0% 74.9% 76 .3% 77. 0% 82 .9% 84.9% 2 .0% 
Guam 85 . 0% 81 .0% 81 .4% 93 .8% 90 .1 % 9 1 .5% 90.1 % 91 .0% 0 .9% 
No. Mariana I s l ands  80 .9% 93.7% NA 90 .5% 91 .4% 95 .6% 92.3% 92.2% -0 .1 % 
U.S.  Virg in Is lands 86 .4% 85 .6% 77.9% 76 .8% 66 .1 %  82.7% 79.1 % NA NA 

Note: Rates i n  ju r i sd ict i ons  with p r imary belt enforcement du r i ng  the calendar year of the s urvey are shaded. 
NA: N o  rate reported. 
*The " nat ionwide" rates are from NHTSA's Nat iona l  Occupant Protect ion Use Survey (NO PUS). 

U .S. Department of Transportation 
National Highway Traffic Safety 
Administration 

NHTSA's Nat i ona l  Center for Stat ist ics and Analysis 
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National Center for Statistics and Analysis. (2018, June (revised)). Seat 
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National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 

For questions regarding the information presented in 
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• On ly 75 percent of North Dakotans  wear  seatbelts a l l  the t ime - th is  i s  1 0  
percentage po i nts less than the nationa l  average.  States with a primary seatbelt 
law see more of their cit izens weari ng seatbelts al l the t ime.  
( https ://crashstats. nhtsa .dot .gov/ Api/Pub l icNiewPub l ication/8 1 2546) 

• Research has found that lap/shou lder  seat belts , when used , red uce the risk of 
fata l i nj u ry to front-seat passenger car occupants by 45 percent and the risk of 
moderate-to-crit ical i nju ry by 50 percent. I n  20 1 6  a lone ,  seat be lts saved an 
estimated 1 4 , 668 l ives ,  inc lud ing 29 people i n  North Dakota . If a l l  North Dakotans 
wore seatbe lts , an  add itiona l  1 2  l ives cou ld  be saved . (Wh i le th is number seems 
sma l l  - these are sons and daughters ,  moms and dads that never came home -
if you have a personal  story about th is ,  you shou ld i nc lude) 
https :/ /crashstats . n htsa .dot.gov/ Api/Pub l icNiewPub l ication/8 1 2454, 
https :/ /crashstats . n htsa .dot.gov/ Api/Pub l icNiewPub l ication/8 1 2465 

• Weari ng  seatbelts saves money. One study  look ing at hosp ita l costs found that 
there was an 84 percent decrease in costs when an i nj u red occupant was 
weari ng  a lap shoulder belt versus be ing  unbelted . 
https ://www. ncb i . n lm . n i h .gov/pubmed/271 77737 

• Th is  data i s  a bit o ld , but it found that imp lementing  a primary seatbelt law i n  
North Dakota wou ld save at least $90 m i l l ion  over seven years .  Th is  i nc ludes at 
least $ 1  m i l l io n  from Med ica id and another $8 .4 m i l l i on  for private insurers (and 
that 's the lower estimate ,  it goes h igher if more peop le wear  seatbe lts ) .  
https ://www. ugpti .org/resources/reports/down loads/dp-225 .pdf 

o At 201 0 usage rates ,  the deaths and i nju ries that resu lt from non use of 
seatbelts was estimated to cost society an  estimated $ 1 0 b i l l io n  annua l ly  
in  med ica l  care, lost productivity, and other i nj u ry re lated costs . 
( https ://crashstats . nhtsa .dot .gov/Api/Pub l icNiewPub l icat ion/8 1 20 1 3) 

• From I nju ry Facts : The tota l economic cost of fata l and nonfata l motor veh icle 
i nj u ry-re lated i nc idents in 201 7 was $433 .8  b i l l io n .  This i nc ludes employer's 
u n i nsured costs , veh icle damage ,  wage and productivity loss , and med ical and 
adm i n istrative expenses . 
https :// i n juryfacts . nsc .org/a l l- i njuries/costs/societa l-costs/data-deta i l s/ 

o MV crashes costs N D  $706 m i l l io n  i n  20 1 0 , that i s  $ 1 ,049 per person .  

CDC a lso has th i s  i nterest ing cost ca lcu lator - you may not want to pu t  i t  i n  you r  
testimony ,  bu t  you shou ld share i t  with leg is lators .  I t  shows how much money cou ld be 
saved by imp lement ing various i nterventions ,  inc lud i ng  a primary seatbelt law. I d id it ,  
and it fou nd that 8 l i ves wou ld  be save along with $28 m i l l ion  (with a budget of $1 m i l l ion  
to imp lement) .  https ://www.cdc.gov/motorveh iclesafety/ca lcu lato r/ 
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Senate Transportation Committee 
Senate B i l l  2060 
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Good morn i ng  Cha i rman Rust and members of the Senate Transportat ion 

Committee ,  my name is Sergeant Wade Kadrmas ,  Safety and Education Officer 

from the North Dakota H ighway Patro l . I am here to provide fol low-up  

i nformation  a t  you r  request fol lowing our  testimony last week i n  support of SB 

2060 . 

The fi rst i tem I wi l l  d iscuss is the enforcement of the current law,  N DCC 39-2 1 -

4 1 .4 and 39-2 1 -4 1 . 5 .  Currently, it i s  aga inst the law to not wear  a seatbelt as a 

front seat occupant of a motor veh ic le .  The seatbelt law, however, can only be 

enforced i n  a secondary manner, mean ing you need to be stopped for another 

vio lat io n  of law. Those laws could i ncl ude any traffic re lated offense or veh icle 

equ ipment v io lat ion  and apply on ly to front seat occupants . 

The second area I wi l l  d iscuss are the exempt ions to the current law wh ich an 

ind iv idua l  i s  not requ i red to wear a seatbel t .  Those exempt ions come from a 

coup le  d ifferent areas of North Dakota Century Code . The fi rst l i st comes from 

N DCC 39-2 1 -4 1 .4 

• The occupants of any veh icle manufactured before January 1 ,  1 965 .  

Veh ic les were not requ i red to have seatbelts pr ior  to th is  date . After 

January 1 ,  1 968 a l l  veh icles were requ i red to have lap and shoulder be lts . 

• Drivers of implements of husbandry - Every veh ic le designed excl usively 

for ag ricu ltu ral , horticu ltu ra l ,  or  l ivestock ra is ing operations .  These 

veh ic les are not subject to reg i strat ion for h ighway use (tractors , combines ,  

etc . ) .  
• Operators of farm veh icles as defi ned i n  subsection 5 of 39-04- 1 9 . 

o Veh ic les must be used excl us ive ly for transporti ng  the farmer's own 

property or other property on a farm work exchange basis with other 

farmers between farms and the usua l  local trad ing  p laces but not in 

con nection with any commercia l  use.  

o Veh ic le combination we ight must be between 20 , 000 and 1 05 ,500 

l bs .  
• Rura l  ma i l  carriers wh i le  on duty de l iveri ng  mai l  
• Occupant with a med ical or physica l ly d isab l i ng  cond it ion that prevents 

appropriate restra int use 

o If a q ual ified medical p ractit ioner provides a s igned statement in  

good fa ith . 



• I f  a l l  front  seat restrai nts are i n  use by others 

The th i rd area I wi l l  d iscuss are i nstances i n  wh ich seatbelt or  occupant 

protection  laws are enforced on a primary bas is .  

• North Dakota centu ry code 39-2 1 -4 1 . 2 ,  relati ng to ch i l d  restra i nt usage .  

Occupants u nder the age of 8 are requ i red to  be i n  a ch i ld  restra int system 

anywhere with in  the veh ic le .  

• Ch i l d ren ages 8- 1 7  i n  a motor veh icle must be i n  either a ch i l d  restra int 

system o r  correctly buckled in a safety belt .  

• O perators and occupants of com mercia l  veh icles subject to Federal  Motor 

Carrie r  Safety regu lations .  The State of North Dakota has adopted these 

regu lations under 39-2 1 -46 . 3  and the North Dakota H ig hway Patro l  is 

respons ib le for the enforcement of these federa l  laws app l icab le to 

commerc ia l  carriers .  The North Dakota H ighway Patro l  i s  the on ly agency 

i n  the state able to issue citat ions under the federal  code due to the 

tra i n i ng and certificat ion received . 

The fou rth area I wi l l  d iscuss are the pub l icized nation-wide seatbelt enforcement 

cam pa igns .  You have a l l  probably heard the ads on televis ion advert is i ng the 

"cl ick i t  or  t icket" campaigns held period ica l ly  across the nation . Th is  is  a 

marketing  cam pa ign  to increase the awareness and encourage seatbelt usage .  

There is  norma l ly overt ime fund ing provided by  Nat ional  H ig hway Traffic Safety 

Adm in i strat ion for law enforcement agencies to put more officers on the road 

focus ing on occupant protection enforcement .  During  these periods ,  aside from 

add it iona l  resources focusing on such v io lations ,  a l l  other laws remain  i n  effect 

re lat i ng  to the enforcement of those not wearing safety belts . The i nformation I 

have provided you today is sti l l  the framework law enforcement must operate 

under .  

Thank you for the opportun ity to come in  and provide further clarificat ion today, I 

am happy to answer any questions you may have .  



David Hafner 

Senator David Rust 
Chairman, Senate Transportation Committee 
ND  State Capitol 
600 East Boulevard Avenue 
Bismarck, ND 58501 

Re : SB2060 

Box 21  
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Hazen, ND 58545 
Cell :  701-89 1-2949 

In addition to the verbal testimony I provided on January 3, 2019 at the 
Senate Transportation Committee hearing regarding SB2060, I wish to submit the 
following written comments. 

One message provided by the sponsor of SB2060 at the hearing on January 
3rd suggested that education seems to fall on deaf ears and that the education 
message regarding training has been lost and/or is not furthering the importance of 
using safety belts. According to a retired former drivers education 
instructor /trainer, here are some of the requirements she included in her training 
program. She taught her students the importance of checking the oil, checking the 
coolant level as well as tire air pressure. She made it a requirement to learn how to 
change a tire and drive on gravel roads. She tells me that many parents thought this 
kind  of training was unnecessary. At what point has there been sufficient training to 
produce a responsible driver? 

Here's my next point. Who is to say at the scene of an accident whether or 
not a victim would be dead or alive as a result of a person's failure to use a seat belt. 
There is the case of an accident three miles from my farmyard. Two young boys 
were driving down the road to go swimming. They wanted to make a left hand turn. 
Two vehicles were following behind them. The second of the two vehicles behind 
them, a semi-tractor trailer, turned out to overtake the two vehicles in front of him. 
The passing semi-tractor trailer impacted the left hand side of the vehicle driven by 
the two young boys who were making their left hand turn. These boys were not 
wearing seat belts .  The bumper of the semi-tractor trailer ended up on the counsel 
of the boys' vehicle. Both young boys were pinned against the passenger door of 
their vehicle. If  the driver had been wearing a seat belt, would he be  dead or alive 
today. I'm happy to report he survived the accident. 



Here's a case with which I'm familiar that illustrates the trauma everyone 
experiences at an accident scene irrespective of whether passengers are wearing a 
seat belt or not. At least it was traumatic for me. On a Saturday night in 1967, I 
came upon an accident. The Highway Patrol was already at the scene. Due to the 
accident, I stopped. The highway patrolman approached me and asked me to 
standby in order to assist in transporting injured parties to the hospital. At the 
hospital I was further requested to continue to standby in the event the injured 
parties needed to be transferred to a Bismarck hospital. It's now beyond 2 :00 AM. I 
was still living at home and working with my parents. It was essential I call my 
parents and let them know that I may not be home for several hours. I knew the fact 
that the telephone would be ringing at 2 :00 AM would generate a certain amount of 
anxiety because of their fear that the news at 2 : 00 AM would not be  good. I 
reassured them that I was fine and not to worry if I'm not home for several hours 
because I was asked to remain at the hospital until it was determined whether of not 
the injured people needed transportation to Bismarck. In those days, the only 
ambulance service was provided by the local funeral home. Therefore, my presence 
was required. 

I feel with proper education and training most people are capable of deciding 
whether or not a seat belt is essential or not. A mandatory regulation will not 
persuade everyone to wear a seat belt all the time. I respectfully request the Senate 
Transportation Committee give SB2060 a Do Not Pass recommendation. 

Sincerely Yours, 

D� 



Department of Human Services 

Medical Services Division 

Medicaid Claims Incurred CY 2013 through CY 2017 for Individuals Identified by DOT as Unbelted 

2019 Senate Bill 2060 

Total Paid Based on DOT 
Reported Date of Accident Summary by Category of Service {2013-2017) 

I 11111: -· ·-- · 

Incurred Year Patients Net Pay Epis Total Episode Summary Group Patients Net Pay Epis Total 

2013 18 $400,970.89 Arthropathies/Joint Disord NEC 6 $4,568.26 

2014 12 $60,701.31 Cardiac Arrhythmias 2 $1,204. 16 

2015 14 $381,812.41 Cardiovasc Disord, NEC 3 $2,210.08 

2016 17 $41,752.03 Condition Rel to Tx - Med/Surg 1 $9.24 

2017 18 $271,020.97 Fracture/Disloc - Hip/Fem Head 8 $115,004. 15 

Aggregate 79 $1,156,257.61 Fracture/Disloc - Knee/Patella 1 $152.88 

Fracture/Disloc - Upper Extrem 6 $18,988.72 

Gastroint Disord, NEC 1 $30.42 

Headache, Migraine/Muscle Tens 2 $2,847.06 

Hernia, External 1 $0.00 

Injury - Abdomen/Trunk 7 $7,068.84 

Injury - Chest Wall 7 $43,567.16 

Injury - Eye 1 $5,660. 18 

Injury - Head 13 $107,052.02 

Injury - Knee 1 $51.06 

Injury - Musculoskeletal, NEC 16 $29,489.85 

Injury, NEC 8 $5,612.57 

Mental Hlth - Depression 2 $1,023.20 

Respiratory Disord, NEC 3 $808.69 

Spinal/Back Disord, Ex Low 14 $810,275.21 

Spinal/Back Disord, Low Back 1 $633.86 

Aggregate 79 $1,156,257.61 

Claims for conditions such as pregnancy or chronic medical conditions excluded. 

cannot assure that all expenditures would have been avoided if individuals would have been wearing a seatbelt. 
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VIS ION ZER9 
Ze ro fata l i t ies .  Ze ro excuses .  

A constituent in your jurisdiction has died as a result of a motor vehicle crash.

Ardel l Johnson was ki l led in a crash that occurrent on County Road 6 in G rand Forks County on July 19th . 
Johnson was 90 years old.

The North Dakota Association of Counties (NDACo) is sharing this information with you as a partner in
North Dakota's Vision Zero traffic safety initiative. Vision Zero includes numerous public and private 
sector partners working together to achieve the goal of zero motor vehicle crash fatal ities and serious
injuries in North Dakota. 

Crashes are not accidents - they are predictable results of specific actions and they are preventable.
Ninety-four percent of crashes can be attributed to preventable human behavior. 

Yet, crashes are the second leading cause of unintentional injury-related death in North Dakota. Over 
3,000 people were involved in severe motor vehicle crashes in North Dakota in the last five years (2012
to 2016) - 697 people were k i l led and more than 2,500 seriously injured.

You can play a vital role in supporting North Dakota's Vision Zero goal by supporting traffic safety
initiatives that promote: (1) widespread publ ic education/outreach, (2) enacting state laws that 
represent best practices in traffic safety, (3) high visi bil ity enforcement of enacted laws, (4) technology
advancement for safer roads and vehicles, and (5) infrastructure/road safety improvements. 

Working together, we wi l l  achieve North Dakota's Vision Zero goal.

Thank you for your time to review th is information. If you have any questions, p lease contact me at 701-328-
7300 or terry.traynor@ndaco.org or Ryan Gel lner, the NDACo Traffic Safety Outreach Program Coordinator, 
at ryan.gel l ner@ndaco .org or 701-364-9402 .

Sincerely,

��

Terry Traynor, Executive Director 
North Dakota Association of Counties
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U rge a DO PASS on SB 2060 

Chairman Ruby and members of House Transportation Committee, 

City of Watford City 

2 l 3  2
°ct 

St. NE I P .O.  Box 494 
Watford C ity, ND 58854 
Ph. 70 1 -444-2533 
Fax 70 1 -444-3004 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit written testimony in support of SB 2060. 

As the Chief of Police of a community with a high percentage of commercial vehicles on our 
roads, we see a much higher rate of fatal and traumatic injury crashes in our area. Our law 
enforcement officers have experienced this first hand, and it is documented in the North 
Dakota Department of Transportation 2018 Vision Zero report. Fatal and traumatic injury 
crashes have a cost to society as wel l as to the individual (s) involved. Many assert that 
societal costs resulting from these crashes reduces or eliminates the option of a personal 
decision to choose not to buckle up , without penalty. My personal opinion, based on over 30 
years of law enforcement experience, is that seatbelt use saves lives and reduces injuries, 
and their use should be mandatory and enforceable as a primary offense. 

There is no need to reiterate the robust statistics that support improved outcomes during 
crashes achieved by buckling up . If every North Dakotan buckled up before hitting the road, 
just as their children and g randchildren are taught - and required - to do, our next generation 
wil l do the same, and then each succeeding g roup wil l have the opportunity for the best 
possible outcome when crashes inevitably occur. 

Thank you again for the opportunity to support a bil l that provides additional incentive for 
seatbelt use and penalty for failing to do so. 

I urge a DO PASS recommendation on SB 2060. 

Sincerely, 

Shawn Dob le 
Watford City Chief of Police 
sndoble@.llQ..gov 
(70 1 )  842-2280 
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HOUSE TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
March 1 ,  201 9 

North Dakota Department of Transportation
Karin Mongeon, Safety Division Director

SB 2060

Good morning Chairman Ruby and members of the House Transportation Committee. My name is Karin 
Mongeon and I am the Safety Division Director for the North Dakota Department of Transportation 
(NDDOT). I am here this morning to speak in favor of SB 2060. 

Motor vehicle crashes are the lead ing cause of injury-related death in North Dakota. More people die in 
unbelted crashes in North Dakota than any other single contributing crash factor including impaired 
driving, distracted driving, or speeding. 

Crash data collected and analyzed by the NDDOT Safety Division shows that over the most recent five 
years (2013-2017), 643 people died in motor vehicle crashes. Of those killed where seat belts apply (528) 
-excluding motorcyclists, bicyclists and pedestrians -60 percent (318) were not wearing a seat belt, 30 
percent were belted, and 10 percent were unknown. This same data demonstrates in the chart below 
the direct correlation between seat belt use and injury severity. Unbelted vehicle occupants account for 
the largest percent of fatalities and serious injuries while belted occupants most commonly receive non­
serious or no injuries. (Figure 1) 
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FIGURE 1 
Percent of Restraint Use by Injury Classification

North Dakota, 2013-2017

Fatal Serious Injury Non-Serious 
Injury 

� Belted � UnBelted � Unknown

No Injury 
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An annual observational seat belt study conducted by North Dakota State University (NDSU} Upper 
Great Plains Transportation Institute (UGPTI }  on behalf of the NDDOT Safety Division shows North 

• Dakota's seat belt use rate in 2018 was 82.5 percent. While this may appear high, it's the 20 percent 
who do not wear their seat belts -about 150,000 North Dakotans -who remain extremely vulnerable ta 
the consequences of a crash. And, this 20 percent of non-seat belt users is contributing to 60 percent of 
North Dakota crash fatalities annually. Also, North Dakota's observed seat belt use rate has been 
consistently lower than the national seat belt use rate over the past 10 years. 

Vision Zero

The NDDOT, along with the North Dakota Highway Patrol, is assigned responsibility for the public safety 
of road users. The NDDOT takes this responsibil ity very seriously, and one year ago in January 2018, 
launched the Vision Zero strategy to reduce motor vehicle crash deaths and serious injuries in North 
Dakota to zero -along with the North Dakota Highway Patrol and the North Dakota Department of 
Health. 

Vision Zero has been very well-received and has the support and involvement of hundreds of 
stakeholders throughout North Dakota working together to apply evidence-based strategies proven to 
prevent severe motor vehicle crashes. A Primary Seat Belt Law (PBL) is among the evidence-based 
strategies identified in the North Dakota Vision Zero Plan as a priority strategy for implementation 
because it will have immediate and significant impact to reduce crash fatalities and serious injuries in 
North Dakota. Research shows that states that transitioned to a PBL have experienced a 10-12 percent 
increase in their observed seat belt use. (Source: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration) 

A 
To demonstrate the effectiveness of PBLs, I've included Attachment 1 which shows that states that haP 
a PBL and higher fines for seat belt violations have a lower percent of unbelted motor vehicle crash 
fatalities. 

The citizens of North Dakota largely support a PBL. An annual study conducted by NDSU UGPTI on behalf 
of the ND DOT Safety Division shows that North Dakota citizen support for a PBL has increased 7 percent 
over the past five years (2014-2018). Sixty-two percent of respondents to this survey in 2018 favored a 
PBL (Figure 2}. 

FIGURE 2 
Percent In Favor of a 
PBL in North Dakota 
(Strongly Favored + 

Year Somewhat Favored) 
2014 55% 
2015 56% 
2016 58% 
2017 61% 
2018 62% 

A PBL has no cost to State government and will save money. During a November 2018 analysis, Nort.

Dakota Workforce Safety and Insurance (WSI } claims data matched with NDDOT crash data shows that 
point in time costs to WSI for employees injured in unbelted motor vehicle crashes was more than $12.3 
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million over the most recent five year period (2013-2017}. When indemnity and medical reserves 
(anticipated spending through the life of the claims) are added, this amount increases to more than $28 
million in costs to WSI. Actual costs to WSI are even higher than what is reported considering not all 
records were matched between NDDOT and WSI data. And, amounts reported here do not represent 
costs that were incurred but not yet reported. Costs to WSI can be significantly reduced with consistent 
seat belt use. The NDDOT is in the process of conducting this same analysis with Medicaid claims data. 
The analysis is not complete, however, costs are expected to be exponentially higher due to the number 
of Medicaid recipients. 

The work that we do in the Safety Division allows us to talk to many people about seat belt use. This has 
given us insight that those who do not wear their seat belt are often, at some point, influenced by a 
significant life event and begin to wear it. Often, the significant life event is having their first child, 
becoming a grandparent, or being in or knowing somebody who has been involved in a crash. The 
significant life event impresses upon them how precious life is and prompts them to begin to wear a seat 
belt. A PBL will promote seat belt use among those who would otherwise choose not to wear one until 
their life experiences convince them to wear one by choice. 

Seat belts save lives. They are the single most effective traffic safety device to prevent death and injury 
in a motor vehicle crash. But, all drivers and passengers must wear them in order for them to be 
effective. 

I urge you to pass SB 2060 to save lives from motor vehicle crashes in North Dakota . 



ATTACHMENT 1

Percent Unrestra ined Motor Veh icle Crash Fata l it ies by State, 2016 • 
Observed Seat Belt Use by State 

Fine 201 6  Per-cent
State 2007 2008 2009 201 0  .201 1  201 2  201 3 2014 201 5  2016 Law Type Amoujt;- Unr-estrained 

r. E r. r. E r. r. r. r. r. r. r. FatalitieG 
Oregon 95.3% 96 .3% 96.6% 97.0% 96 .6% 96.8% 98 .2% 97.8% 95.5% 96 .2% Primary $ 1 30.00 22.4% 
Minnesota 87.8% 86.7% 90.2% 92.3% 92.7% 93.6% 94.8% 94.7% 94.0% 93.2% Primary $ 100.00 28.7% 
New York 83.5% 89. 1 %  88.0% 89.8% 9 0.5% 90.4% 9 1 . 1% 90.6% 92.2% 9 1 .8% Primary $ 50.00 29.5% 
Michigan 93.7% 97 .. 2% 98.0% 95.2% 94.5% 93.6% 93.0% 93.3% 92.8% 94.5% Primary $ 25.00 29.8% 
Cal iforn ia  94.6% 95.7% 95.3% 96.2% 96.6% 95.5% 97.4% 97. 1 %  97.3% 9 6.5% Primary $ 1 62.00 30.2% 
Wash ington 96.4% 96.5% 9 6.4% 97.6% 97.5% 96 .9% 94.5% 94.5% 94.6% 94.7% Primary $ 1 24.00 32.8% 
Hawai i  97.6% 97.0% 97.9% 97.6% 9 6.0% 93.4% 94.0% 93.5% 92.8% 94.5% Primary $ 1 1 2.00 34.9% 
Connecti cut 85.8% 88.0% 85.9% 88 .2% 88.4% 86.8% 86 .6% 85. 1 % 85.4% 8 9.4% Primary $ 92.00 36.7% 
I owa 9 1 .3% 92.9% 93. 1 % 93. 1 % 93.5% 92.4% 9 1 .9% 92.8% 93.0% 93.8% Primary $ 1 28.0D 37.8% 

I l l i no is  9D. 1 % 90.5% 9 1 .7% 92.6% 92.9% 93.6% 93.7% 94. 1 % 95.2% 93.0% Primary $ 25.00 38.1% 
Maryland 93. 1 % 93.3% 94.0% 94.7% 94.2% 9 1 . 1 % 90.7% 92. 1 %  92.9% 90.8% Primary $ 83.00 39.0% 
Texas 9 1 .8% 9 1 .2% 92.9% 93.8% 93.7% 94.0% 90.3% 90.7% 90.5% 9 1 .6% Primary $ 50.00 39.0% 
Delaware 86 .6% 91 .3% 88 .4% 90.7% 90.3% 87. 9% 92.2% 9 1 .9% 90.4% 9 1 .4% Primary $ 25.00 42.5% 
Wis cons in  75.3% 74.2% 73. 8% 79.2% 79 .0% 79 .9% 82.4% 84.7% 85.8% 88 .4% Primary $ 1 0.00 42.7% 
West Vi rgi n i a  89 .6% 89.5% 87.0% 82. 1 %  84.9% 84.0% 82.2% 87.8% 89 .0% 86 .8% Primary $ 25.00 43.0% 
N orth Caro l ina  88.8% 89.8% 89.5% 89.7% 89.5% 87 .5% 88.6% 90.6% 89.9% 9 1 .7% Pr imary $ 1 61 .0D 43.2% 
Ind iana 87.9% 9 1  .. 2% 92.6% 92.4% 93.2% 93.6% 9 1 .6% 90.2% 9 1 .9% 92.4% Primary $ 25.00 43.4% 
Massachusetts 68 .7% 66.8% 73.6% 73.7% 73 .2% 72.7% 74.8% 76.6% 74. 1 %  78 .2% Secondary $ 25.00 43.8% 
Florida 79. 1 %  8 1 .7% 85.2% 87.4% 88. 1 % 87.4% 87.2% 88.8% 89 .4% 89 .6% Primary $ 30.00 43.8% 
New Jersey 9 1 .4% 9 1 .8% 92.7% 93.7% 94.5% 88.3% 9 1 .0% 87.6% 9 1 .4% 93.4% Primary $ 46.00 43.9% 
Utah 86 .8% 8 6.0% 86. 1 %  89.0% 89 .2% 8 1 .9% 82.4% 83.4% 87.2% 87 .9% Primary $ 45.D0 44.3% 
Vermont 87 . 1 %  87.3% 85.3% 85.2% 84.7% 84.2% 84.9% 84. 1 %  86 .0% 80 .0% Secondary $ 25.00 44.4% 
Georgia 89 .0% 89 .6% 88.9% 89.6% 93.0% 92.0% 95.5% 97.3% 97.3% 97.2% Primary $ 1 5.00 45.3% 
Tennessee  8 0.2% 8 1 .5% 80.6% 87. 1 % 87.4% 83.7% 84.8% 87.7% 86 .2% 8 8 .9% Primary $ 25.00 45.7% 
Lou is iana  75.2% 75.5% 74.5% 75.9% 77.7% 79.3% 82.5% 84. 1 %  85.9% 87.8% Primary $ 25.00 46.2% • 
Nevada 92.2% 90.9% 9 1 .0% 93 .2% 9-4. 1 % 90.5% 94.8% 94.0% 92. 1 %  8 9 .4% Secondary $ 25.00 46.7% 
Ohio 8 1 .6% 82.7% 83.6% 83.8% 84. 1 %  82 0% 84.5% 85 0% 83.9% 83.8% Secondary $ 30.00 47.4% 
Ariwna 80 . 9% 79 .9% 80.8% 8 1 .8% 82.9% 82.2% 84.7% 87 .2% 86 .6% 88 0% Secondary $ 1 0 .00 47.5% 
Oklahoma 83. 1 % 84.3% 84.2% 85.9% 85.9% 83.8% 83.6% 86.3% 84.5% 8 6.6% Primary $ 20.00 48.0% 
Kansas 75.0% 77.4% 77.0% 8 1 .8% 82.9% 79.5% 80.7% 85.7% 82. 1 % 87.0% Primary $ 1 0.00 48.1% 
Arkansas 69 .9% 70.4% 74 .4% 78.3% 78.4% 71 .9% 76.7% 74.4% 77.7% 75. 1 % Primary $ 25.00 49.4% 
South Carol ina  74.5% 79.0% 8 1 .5% 85.4% 86.0% 90.5% 9 1 .7% 90.0% 9 1 .6% 93.9% Primary $ 25.D0 49.8% 
District of Columbia 87. 1 % 90.0% 93.0% 92.3% 95.2% 92.4% 87.5% 93.2% 95.5% 94. 1 % Primary $ 50.00 50.0% 
Rhode Is land 7 9. 1 %  72.0% 74.7% 78.0% 80.4% 77. 5% 85.6% 87.4% 86 .7% 87.5% Primary $ 40.00 50.0% 
Maine 79 .8% 83 .0% 82.6% 82.0% 8 1 .6% 84.4% 83.0% 85.0% 85.5% 85.8% Primary $ 50.00 50.4% 
New M exico 9 1 .5% 9 1 . 1 %  90. 1 % 89.8% 90.5% 91 .4% 92.0% 92. 1 % 93.3% 92.3% Primary $ 25.00 50.7% 
Nebraska 78 .7% 82.6% 84.8% 84. 1 % 84.2% 78.6% 79. 1 % 79.0% 79 .6% 83.3% Secondary $ 25.00 51.2% 
Colorado 8 1 . 1 %  8 1 .7% 8 1 . 1 % 82.9% 82. 1 % 80.7% 82. 1 %  82.4% 85.2% 84.0% Secondary $ 71 .00 51.4% 
Pennsylvan ia  86 .7% 85. 1 %  87.9% 86.0% 83 .8% 83.5% 84.0% 83.6% 82.7% 85.2% Secondary $ 1 0.00 53.0% 
Kentucky 71 .8% 73.3% 79.7% 80.3% 82.2% 83.7% 85.0% 86. 1 % 86.7% 8 6.5% Primary $ 25.00 54.0% 
Alabama 82.3% 8 6. 1 %  90.0% 9 1 .4% 88.0% 89.5% 97.3% 95.7% 93.3% 92.0% Primary $ 25.00 54.2% 
Miss iss ippi 7 1 .8% 7 1 .3% 76.0% 8 1 .0% 8 1 .9% 83. 2% 74.4% 78.3% 79 .6% 77.9% Primary $ 25.00 54.7% 
Virgi n ia  79 .9% 80 .6% 82.3% 80.5% 8 1 .8% 78.4% 79.7% 77 .3% 80 .9% 79 .0% Secondary $ 25.00 57.6% 

Miss ouri 77 . 2% 75.8% 77.2% 76 .0% 79.0% 79.4% 80. 1 %  78 .8% 79 .9% 8 1 .4% Secondary $ 50.00 57.7% 

Idaho 78 .5% 76 .9% 79 .2% 77.9% 7 9. 1 % 79 . 0% 81 .6% 80.2% 8 1 . 1 %  82.9% Secondary $ 1 0.00 59.4% 
North Dakota 82.2% 8 1 .6% 8 1 .5% 74.8% 76 .7% 80 .9% 77.7% 8 1 .0% 80.4% 82.8% Secondary $ 20.00 62.3% 
Alaska 82.4% 84.9% 86 . 1 % 86 .8% 89.3% 88 . 1 % 86. 1 %  88 .4% 89.3% 88.5% Primary $ 1 5. 00 63.8% 
Montana 79 .6% 79 .3% 79 .2% 78 .9% 76.9% 76.3% 74.0% 74.0% 77.0% 76 .0% Secondary $ 20.00 64.4% 
Wyoming 72.2% 68 .6% 67.6% 78.9% 82.6% 77. 0% 81 .9% 79 .2% 79 .8% 80.5% Secondary $ 25.00 67.6% 
South Dakota 73.0% 7 1 .8% 72. 1 %  74.5% 73 .4% 6 6 . 5% 68.7% 68.9% 73 .6% 74.2% Secondary $ 25.00 71.6% 
New Hampshire 63.8% 69 .2% 68 .9% 72.2% 75.0% 68.6% 73.0% 70.4% 69 .5% 70.2% None $ . 71.9% 

Nationwide* 1s2.0% 1sJ.0% 184.0% 185.0% 184.0% 1ss.0% 101.0% 1s1.0% 189 .0% 190.0% • 
Fi nes and Law status from: http://www.ghsa.org/html/statei nfo/laws/seatbelt_laws. html 
Percent of Unrestra in ed Fatal ities: http:// www-nrd . nhtsa.dot.gov/departments/nrd-30/ncsa/STS l/56_ WY /2014/56_ WY _2014. htm 
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Seat Belt Use 
in North Dakota: 
The Problem, The Cost 
and A Solution to Unbelted 
Motor Vehicle Crashes 

VISION ZER9 Prepa red by North Dakota Depa rtment
Zero fatalities. Zero excuses. of Transportation and Vis ion Zero Pa rtners 
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The Problem of Unbelted 
Motor Vehicle Crashes 
in North Dakota 

Motor veh ic le crashes a re the lead i ng cause of i nj u ry­
related death i n  North Dakota .1 

The number one contri but ing factor i n  these motor 
veh ic le  deaths is not wear ing a seat belt. 

North Dakota Motor Vehicle Fatal ities 
by Type, 2013-20172 
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Seat belts save l ives.

Seat belts a re the s i ngle most effective safety device 
to prevent death and i nj u ry in a motor veh ic le crash .  
Seat belts :3 

• Prevent col l is ion with other occupa nts of the veh ic le
• Keep people i n  the veh ic le
• Spread the force of i mpact over a la rge a rea and

the strongest pa rt of  the body
• Al low a person's body to s low down gradua l ly,

l essen ing the i mpact on i nterna l  organs
• Prevent i mpact with the i nter ior of the veh ic le
• Prevent trauma to the bra i n  and spi na l  cord caused

by sudden cha nge i n  motion

Yet, many North Dakotans choose
not to use their seat belts.

2 

�BaoW
3 - 1 - r c=:t 

Accord i ng to a statewide su rvey of observed seat belt 
use, most motorists in North Dakota wea r thei r seat 
belts. An annua l  su rvey of observed seat belt use in 

•North Dakota i n  2018 shows that 8 out of every 10 
people wea r a seat belt (82 .5%) .  But it is those who do 
not wear seat belts who a re m uch more l i kely to lose 
the i r  l ife in a crash .  Approxi mately 20 percent - a bout 
150,000 people - a re sti l l  not buckl i ng up .4 

Key statistics for unbelted 
motor vehicle fatalities . 5

There a re more tha n 15,000 veh ic le crashes i n  North 
Dakota each yea r resu lt ing in fata l it ies, i nj u ries, a nd 
property damage.  

One-year sna pshot (2017)  

E V E R Y
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DAYS .11  one unbelted vehicle 
occupant was ejected 1No 2017> 

• 55% of the 116 motor veh i c le fata l it ies i n  North
Dakota were not wea ri ng the i r  seat belt (excl udes
those where seat belts do  not a pply i nc lud ing
pedestrians, b icycles, motorcycles, and off-h ighway
veh icles).

• 68% of unbelted fata l it ies were pa rti a l ly or
tota l ly ejected .

• 81% of s i ngle veh ic le ro l lover fata l it ies were not
wea ri ng their  seat belt.

• 82% of those unbelted ro l lover fata l it ies were either
pa rtia l ly or tota l ly ejected .

1 North Dakota Depa rtment of Hea lth, Vita l  Records

• 
2 North Dakota Depa rtment of Tra nsportation [NDD0T], Safety Divis3 Nationa l Safety Counci l . . • North Dakota State Un iversity Upper G reat Pla ins Transportation

Institute and the NDD0T Safety Div ision 5 NDD0T Safety Division



Five-year snapshot (2013-2017) 

•• I n  North Dakota , over the past 5 yea rs , about 6 out
of every 10 people k i l led in a motor veh icle crash ,
where seat belts appl ied ,  were not wearing a seat
belt at the t ime of the crash.  J ust 3 of 10 people
ki l l ed in crashes where seat belts app l ied were
belted . The rema i nder were unknown to be belted
at the ti me of the crash .

• 

• 80% of the unbelted fata l it ies were males.

North Dakota Unbelted Motor Vehicle 
Fata l ities, 2013-2017

---.. •. .• • • 

: 4 • • • • • • 

2013 130 73 56% 
2014 110 76 69% -
2015 111 69 62% 
2016 86 t 50 58% + 
2017 91 l. 50 55% 

* I ncludes fata l ities where seat belts were ava i lable
with in the vehic le .  Excl udes fata l ities where seat 
be lts do not apply (pedestrians, b icycles, motorcycles, 
off-highway veh icles, persons r id ing on the exte rior 
of motor veh ic les, bus passengers, and farm/ 
construction equ i pment). 

North Dakota seat belt use is fal l ing short of the 

national average, and our fata l ity rate is higher. 

North Dakota vs. Un ited States 
Motor Vehicle Fata l ities and Vehicle 

Fata l ity Rate, 2008-20176 
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1 37 ,423 l
I 33 ,883t 32,999 t 
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1

I 35,485 
37 ,461 

1.26 
1.15 
1.11 
1.10 
1.14 

1.10 
1.08 

1.15 
1.18 

• 2017 116 1.20 37,150** 1.17**  

*Number o f  fata l ities per 100 m i l l ion veh icle m i les traveled.
**2017 figu res a re pre l im ina ry (NHTSA. May 2018). 

3 

0B;;2.0too 
3 - (  - (c:t  

Whi le  North Dakota 's seat belt use has rema i ned 
relatively stab le over time, the nationa l seat belt use 
rate has su rpassed North Dakota 's rate over the past 
10 yea rs. 

The Cost 

Seat belt use is not J ust a personal choice. 

Wh i le  some i nd iv idua ls  cons ider seat belt use to be 
a persona l  cho ice ,  it is a choice that affects nea rly 
everyone - i nc l ud ing North Dakota taxpayers. 

Unbelted motor veh icle crashes have a h igh cost to 

North Dakota. 

Ji s 
p -3 

Motor veh ic le crash deaths and i nj u r ies resonate 
beyond the v ictim and thei r fam i l ies. There is a lso cost 
to each North Dakota taxpayer in terms of emergency 
response, med ica l  assistance, i ncreased i nsurance 
prem i u ms,  unemployment compensation ,  and more. 

Seat belt use and injury severity: Di rect correlation. 

Unbelted veh ic le  occupa nts in crashes in North 
Dakota account for the Ja rgest percent of fata l it ies 
and serious i nj u ries, wh i l e  belted occupa nts most 
commonly receive non-ser ious or no i nj u ries.  

North Dakota Percent of Restra i nt Use by 
I nju ry Classification ,  2013-20177 

Fatal Serious Non-.arlous No Injury 
Injury Injury 
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Unbelted crash victims have 50 percent higher
medical b i l ls.

Research has shown that u nbelted crash v ict ims 
have medica l b i l ls 50 percent h igher than  belted 
crash v icti ms.8 

$28 mi l l ion in costs to North Dakota Workforce
Safety and Insurance.

Costs to North Dakota Workforce Safety and Insurance 
(WSI )  - and  therefore, North Dakota employers - can 
be significa ntly reduced with consistent seat belt use. 

In a November 2018 ana lys is ,  costs to North Dakota 
WSI for employees i nj u red i n  u nbelted motor veh ic le 
crashes were more than  $ 12 .3  m i l l i on over the most 
recent five-year period of 2013-2017. * 

This amount i ncreases to more tha n $28 m i l l ion i n  
costs to WSI when i ndemn ity and  medica l  reserves 
(antic i pated spend i ng through the l ife of the c la i ms) 
a re added . 

*Conservative estimate based on WSI cla ims data matched with
N D DOT crash data .  Not a l l  records were matched between N DDOT 
and WSI data , and amounts reported here do not represent costs 
that were incu rred but not yet reported .  Actual costs to WSI are 
l i kely h igher. 

A Solution 

"If North Dakota had a primary seat belt law, more 
people would wear seat belts and there wouldn 't 
be so many families living the nightmare of having 
to bury their loved ones. · 

Quote from Corey Nelson, brothe r  of Kyle Nelson. Kyle  was k i l led 
i n  a single-veh ic le ro l lover i n  rural Geneseo, ND on November  13, 
2014.  He  was not wea r ing a seat belt, was ejected from ,  and 
p inned under  the veh ic le .  

A pr imary seat belt law.

North Da kota has a seconda ry seat belt l aw that 
a l lows law enforcement officers to issue a citation 
for lack of seat belt use only when there is another 
citab le  traffic i nfract ion.  A prima ry seat belt law (PBL) 
wou ld  a l l ow law enforcement officers to cite a d river 
or passenger for not wear ing a seat belt, without any 
other traffic offense ta k ing p lace.  

North Da kota is one of j ust 15 states with a secondary 
enforcement law. Other states, the D istr ict of 
Col umb ia ,  and a l l  U .S.  territor ies have tra nsit ioned to 
primary enforcement. 
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A PBL is proven to w� s?ates trat traitioned to 
a PBL have experienced a 10-12 percent i ncrease i n  
the i r  observed seat belt use.10 

A majority of North Da kotans favor seat belts .  North 
Da kota 's observed seat belt use rate in 2018 was 
82.5 percent (for front seat veh ic le occupants) .11

A majority of North Da kotans favor a PBL. Another 
2018 statewide su rvey showed that 62 percent of 
respondents favored a PBL i n  North Da kota .12 

Individual responsibil ity.

Changi ng from a secondary to a primary seat belt 

• 

law ma kes it c lear to a l l  d rivers and passengers that 
they a re responsib le to the people of North Da kota for 
usi ng thei r seat belts. 

Precedent for pr imary law.

An a rgument is often made that it is an i nd iv idua l ' s  
r ight not to wea r a seat belt - or even that  d riv ing is a 
right. But, d rivi ng is a privi lege, not a right. I nd iv idua ls  
not meeti ng requ i rements set by state law a re not 
a l l owed to d rive a motor veh ic le i n  North Da kota . 

Existi ng requ i rements i ncl ude:  

• Drivers must be l i censed .
• Drivers must obey speed l i m its and traffic laws.
• Drivers must wear  corrective lenses if  necessa ry.
• Drivers may not use text messagi ng.
• Drivers may not drive wh i l e  impa i red by a lcohol

or d rugs.

• 

And , seat belt use is a lso a mong the requ i rements 
for the privi lege to d rive. But, law enforcement ca nnot 
pri mar i ly  enforce th is law resu lti ng i n  non-comp l iance 
among some drivers and occu pants. 

VIS ION ZER9 
Zero fata l i t ies .  Zero excuses.  

North Dakota 's Vision Zero strategy a ims to establ ish a cu lture of 
personal responsi b i l ity where motor vehic le fata l it ies and serious 
inj u ries are recogn ized as preventable and not to lerated. This 
means addressing both the causes of crashes and the extent 
of human i nju ries and fata l ities when crashes occur. 

V i s i o n Z e r o .  N D . g ov 

8 NHTSA 
9 NDDOT Safety Division and NHTSA 

10 NHTSA 
11 NDDOT Safety Division 
12 NDDOT Safety Division 
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HOUSE TRANSPORTATION COM M ITTEE  
March  1 ,  2019 

North Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

Terry Weaver, Traffic Safety Ma nager 

SB  2060

The North Dakota Safety Counc i l  (N DSC) is a private non-profi t organ izat ion ded icated to savi ng 
l ives and prevent ing i nj u ries . They are a chapter of the Nat ional  Safety Counci l  (NSC) . The NSC 
advocates for a l l  states to have primary seatbelt laws based on  their  proven performance to reduce 
i nj u ries and deaths on state roadways . 

As a t raffic safety cou rse provider ,  a l l  of the N DSC's cu rricu l ums encompass the importance of 
wear ing seat belts . Today, the data p rov ing that seat belts a re effective is so overwhelming ,  the 
arguments agai nst the ir  use are no longer stat ica l ly va l id . The on ly  decis ion states now face is the 
secondary versus primary status of the i r  l aws . 

Let's review what we know about the impact fe lt when a state l aw has been changed to primary 
enforcement :  

• In 2009 , belt use averaged 88 percent i n  the 30 States ( inc lud ing the Distr ict of
Col umbia) with primary seat belt laws at that time. Seat belt use averaged 77 percent
i n  those states with weaker enforcement laws .

• Studies of 5 States that changed the i r  belt use laws from secondary to primary
enforcement found that belt use increased from 1 2  to 1 8  percentage points where a l l
passenger veh icles were covered by  the law and 8 percentage poi nts i n  one State
where p ickup trucks were excluded .

• The Centers for Disease Control and Prevent ion 's systematic review of 1 3  h igh-qua l i ty
stud ies found that primary l aws i ncrease belt use by about 1 4  percentage poi nts and
reduce occupant fata l i t ies by about  8 percent compared to secondary laws .

• In another study, Farmer and Wi l l i ams (2005) found  that passenger veh icle d river
death rates d ropped by 7 percent when states changed from secondary to pr imary
enforcement .

• On average,  States that pass primary seat belt laws can expect to i ncrease seat belt
use by eight percentage poi nts. Depend ing on the level of h ig h-visi b i l i ty enforcement
that they employ, however, fa r g reater resu l ts a re poss ib le .  (UNC Highway Safety
Research Center, 201 1) .

• Recent research (Masten ,  2007) has provided strong support that chang ing  from a
secondary to a primary enforcement seat belt l aw i ncreases occupant seat belt use
du ring the n ightt ime hours as wel l  as the dayt ime hours when most observat iona l
su rveys of  seat be l t  use a re conducted . (UNC Highway Safety Research Center,
20 1 1 , p. 2- 1 3) .

• (Hed lund 2008) stud ied the effects of primary l aw changes on  seat belt use and
occupant fata l i t ies i n  M ich igan ,  New Jersey , Wash i ngton ,  Delaware ,  I l l i no is ,  and
Tennessee . Strong evidence was found  i n  the Fata l i ty Accident Report ing System
(FARS) data for a l l  6 States that primary seat belt laws i ncrease seat belt use.
Furthermore,  statistica l ly  s ign ificant decreases i n  the number of front-seat passenger
veh icle occupant fata l i t ies were found i n  M ich igan and Wash ington .  (FARS is a
national database used by all states to track info on fatal crashes and is fed to the
National Highway Transportation Safety Administration or NHTSA) .



So?o@O 
3 - l  - c q  

We know th is change wi l l save l ives and save the state m i l l ions of do l la rs each�a<rwh i� ;o�g us
noth i ng .

We have heard some say that i f  a person chooses to  not wear a seat belt , th is is a personal freedom
issue because they a re not harming anyone other than themselves. However, when a fam i ly 
member is serious ly i nj u red o r  k i l led i n  a veh ic le crash , a l l  of the fam i ly ,  extended fam i ly and the 
commun ity is  impacted . Not weari ng a seatbelt i s  a lso a danger to passengers i n  the veh icle as a 
sudden stop or  impact wi l l  cause an u nbelted person to fly through the car at forces 3 to 4 t imes the i r
weight ,  essentia l ly  becoming a weapon to a l l  others in  the veh icle . Therefore , it i s  NOT true that not 
wear ing you r  seatbelt harms no one .

The North Dakota Safety Counc i l ' s  Master Tra iner ,  Don Moseman ,  was a State Trooper i n  the 
Denver, Co lorado area for nearly 20 years .  He i nvestigated nearly 30 fatal veh ic le crashes i n  h i s  
career where at least one person i n  a veh ic le was k i l led . I n  fact, most of  the crashes i nvo lved 
mu lt ip le fata l i t ies. In h i s  experience, he never pu l led a dead body from a seat belt. Don states, "If a 
primary seatbelt l aw encourages one Mom ,  Dad , B rother, or S ister to wear  a seat belt i n  a situation 
where they m ight have not worn one and thei r l ife i s  saved i n  a crash , th is leg is lat ion wou ld be worth
the effort . "

We support SB 2060 and we are ask ing you  jo in  us  to  save the l ives o f  the citizens o f  North Dakota .

• 

• 

•
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Letter of Support for a Primary Seat Belt Law 
i n  the State of North Dakota (Senate B i l l  2060) 

To the  Leg is lators o f  the State of North Dakota , 
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I hereby express my agency's support for Senate B i l l  2060 to enact a pr imary enforcement 
seat belt law i n  the State of North Dakota . 

Lack of seat belt use is a serious pub l ic hea lth and safety issue .  Motor veh icle crashes a re 
the lead ing cause of i nju ry-re lated death i n  North Dakota . And , more peop le d ie i n  u nbelted 
crashes in North Dakota than any other s ing le contribut ing crash factor i nc lud ing drunk  
drivi n g ,  d istracted drivi ng ,  or  speed ing .  

I n  North Dakota , over the  past five years (20 1 3-20 1 7) , 643 people d ied i n  motor veh icle 
crashes.  Of those k i l led where seat be lts app ly (528) - exclud ing motorcycles , b icycl ists and 
pedestrians - 60 percent (3 1 8) were not weari ng a seat belt . (Sou rce : North Dakota 
Department of Transportat ion [NDDOT]) 

North Dakota 's seat belt use rate is 82 .5  percent .  Th is means that about 20 percent - about 
1 50 ,000 North Dakotans - remain extremely vu lnerab le to the consequences of a crash .  
Th is 20 percent i s  contribut ing to 60 percent of North Dakota crash fata l it ies annua l ly. 
(Sou rce : N DDOT) 

Seat be lts save l ives . They are the s i ng le most effective traffic safety device to prevent 
death and i nj u ry i n  a motor veh icle crash .  And , every driver and veh icle occupant shou ld 
wear  one - every trip ,  every t ime. 

A Primary Belt Law (PBL) is an evidence-based strategy proven to increase seat belt 
use. A PBL is identified i n  the North Dakota Vision Zero Plan as a pr iority strategy for 
implementat ion because it wi l l  have immed iate and s ig n ificant impact on  reduc ing crash 
fata l it ies and serious i nj u ries i n  North Dakota . Vision Zero is North Dakota 's strategy to 
e l im inate motor veh icle crash fata l it ies and serious i nj u ries on North Dakota roads .  

Adopti ng a PBL wi l l  cost noth ing and  w i l l  save money from :  ( 1 ) wage and  prod uctiv ity 
losses ; (2) med ica l  expenses , inc lud ing emergency service costs ; (3) adm i n istrat ive costs of 
private and pub l ic i nsurance and law enforcement and lega l  costs ; (4) motor-veh icle 
damage,  inc lud ing the va lue of damage to property ; and (5) u n i nsu red employer costs for 
crashes i nvo lv ing workers . 

Today, 34 states and the District of Co lumbia have PBLs wh i le on ly 1 5  states have a 
secondary enforcement law. 

It is t ime for North Dakota to adopt a PBL to save l ives from motor veh icle crashes.  

S incerely, 

[ I nsert Name] 
[ I nsert Tit le] 
[ I nsert Agency] 
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Signe r  Tit le  Agency Affi lfation 
1 Gene  La Doucer  Sr .  Pub l i c  Affa i rs Represe ntative AAA- The Auto C l u b  G ro up  ( N D )  

2 S u s a n  L .  Gou l d i ng LPN A l t ru  Hea lth System 

3 Ta ra Ro ladson Phys ica l Therap i st Anne  Ca r l sen Center 

4 Trav is  F. Bateman  Offi cer  Arnegard Po l ice Depa rtment 

5 Try Wh ite Owl  Ch ief of  Po l ice Arnegard Po l ice Depa rtment 

6 Kerry Joh nson H ighway Su per intendent  Barnes  Cou nty 

7 Kr ist i  B l um hagen Contract Adm i n istrato r Bas i n  E lectr ic 

8 Shauna  Bang Safety Coord i n ato r Benz  O i l  Co., I nc. 

9 A l l en  Schm idt Ch ief of Po l ice Bertho ld  Po l ice Depa rtment 

10 Dave D raovitch Ch ief of Po l i ce B i smarck  Po l ice Depa rtment  

11  Scott McPherson Teacher/D rivers Educat ion I n structo r B isma rck  Pu b l i c  Schoo ls  

12 Brandy Ne lson HR Bou rgau lt 

13 Dusty G rosu l a k  HSE  Ma nager  B ru i n  E&P Ope rati ng, LLC 

14 Ke l ly Leben She riff Bu r le igh Cou nty She riff' s Depa rtment 

15 J a son  Benson Cass Cou nty Eng ineer  Cass  Cou nty H ighway Depa rtment  

16 Jeffe ry A.  Osvo ld  Ch ief of Po l ice Cava l i e r  Po l ice Depa rtment 

17  J a net E rha rdt D rivers Educat ion I n structo r Center Sta nton Pu b l i c  Schoo l  

18 Sha nnon  Ka i ser  A lcoho l  P revent ion Spec ia l ist and Ca r Seat Techn ic i an  Ce ntra l Va l ley Hea lth D i str ict 

19 Ange l i a  K .  Svi hovec VP Region a l  Services a n d  Advocacy CH I  St. A lex ius  Hea lth - B i sma rck 

20 Kr i st i  P .  Ven h u i zen C ity P rosecuto r City of G ra n d  Fo rks 

2 1  LeeAn n  G i l be rtson Safety Coord i nato r Co le Papers I n c  

22 J e n n ife r B ra u n  MSW, LCSW Head Sta rt/ Ea r ly Head  Sta rt D i recto r Com m u n ity Act ion Pa rtne rs h i p  

23  Keith Bakken H ES Ma nager Com m u n ity Contractors I nc . ,  G ra n d  Forks N D  

24 Ga ry Pederson H R  Ma nager Dacota h Paper  Co 

25 Joseph Knowsk i  Ch ief of  Po l ice Devi ls Lake Po l ice Depa rtment 

26 Dave M ichae l son  D riv ing Schoo l  Educator D i ck i nson High School & Gotta Go  D r ivi ng  Schoo l  

27  Carson Nea l  D iv i s ion Ma nager D ietr ich ' s  of G ra n d  Forks 

28 Da ry l  Du ka rt D u n n  Cou nty Com m iss ioner  Rep fo r V is ion Ze ro D u n n  Cou nty 

29 P au l  Opa re-Twum Safety Ma nager E&M Services LLC 

30 Dawn G rossman Owner  Ed ' s  Towing 

31  Ge ra l d  A Sau man CEO E lectr ica l Tech no log ies 

32 P h i l i p  F rench Su per intendent  Ende r l i n  A rea  Schoo l  

33 V icky B l ack  Tra u ma P rogra m Ma nager Essent ia Hea lth Fa rgo 

34 Ma rga ret E. Litt lefi e l d  F am i ly Advocacy N u rse F am i ly Advocacy P rogra m @ G FAFB, N D  

3 5  R i cha rd C. S immons  Safety D i recto r FBS Consu lt ing, LLC 

36 Me l issa Jo You ng D rive r Educat ion Teacher  G le n b u rn Pu b l i c  Schoo l  

37 Jeff McKay D rive rs Educat ion I n structo r G rafton Pu b l i c  Schoo ls  

38 N ick  West Cou nty Eng ineer  G ra n d  Fo rks Cou nty 

39 Robert W. Rost GF Cou nty Com m iss ioner, Former  She riff G ra n d  Forks Cou nty Com m iss ione r  

40 Jo l a i ne  Kna i n  Pa rent A ide G ra n d  Fo rks Cou nty Soc i a l  Se rvices 

41 Ann  Hema nson Res ident Service Coord i nato r G ra n d  Forks Hous i ng  Autho rity 

42 L insey Naastad RN G ra nd  Forks Pub l i c  School D i str ict 

43 Tracy Joh nson Head  Sta rt P rogra m D i recto r G ra n d  Forks Pub l i c  Schoo l  Head  Sta rt P rogra m 
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44 Lee Ann  J am ison 

45 Doug Hoga n 

46 Scott Ed i nge r 

47 Mohamed  H usse in  

48 J e n n ife r Ze i t le r  Sm ith 

49 Ka ro l i n  J a ppe 

so Edwa rd S .  Ma rt inez I I  

51  Thomas Joh nson 

52 M iche l l e  Bye 

53  Jackson Knudson  

54 Suha i l  Kanwa r  

55  Dan  Schaefe r 

56 Jason O l son 

57  Becky Ha rdy 

58 Rya n Ge l l n e r  

59 Te rry Traynor 

60 Genny D ie nstmann  

61  J o hn  Rose 

62 Boyd D .  Westma n  

6 3  Den ise Brown 

64 Ma ry Korsmo 

65 Bob G reen  

66 M ichae l  J am ison 

67 Lynae  H a nson 

68 J e n n ife r Acke rt 

69 Dust in  Aust in  

70 Darre l  He l lman  

71  Sa ra h McKenna  

72 Li n d sey Na r loch 

73 Jeffe rson Beck 

74 Kr ist i  Kevo rk ia n 

75 Rya n H u be r  

76 Sha ron  G .  Young  

77 Jason Benson 

78 J a mes C .  Ke l l e r  

79  Te rry Weave r  

80  D . E .  Moseman  

8 1  Kather ine  Za nde r  

82 Li n dsey Dockte r 

83 Donne l l  P reskey 

84 Cory J . Ste i ne r  

85  Nathan Sa nd berg 

86 Lee Er ickson 

Tit le 
Customer  Se rvice Reps 

D i recto r 

Ch ief of Po l ice 

Vice P res i dent 

D rive rs E d .  & H igh Schoo l  Teacher  

Mackenz ie  Co.  Eme rgency Manager, Alexa nde r  VFF & F i rst Responde r  

Detective Sergeant  

D r ivers Educat ion I n structor 

Pa rent, F am i ly, and Com m u n ity Engagement Ma nager  

Eng ineer  2 

Cou nty Eng i neer/Pu b l i c  Works D i recto r 

Operat ions Ch ief 

Ch ief of Po l ice 

D rive r Education  I n structo r 

P rogra m Ma nager  

Executive D i recto r 

Executive D i recto r 

P res i dent  

D rivers Educat ion I n structo r 

Tra i n i ng Coord i nator 

Executive D i recto r 

D rive r Safety I nstructo r, N D DTSEA Boa rd Membe r  

Tra i n e r  /Consu lta nt 

Ass ista nt Executive D i recto r 

Deve lopment  Coord i nato r 

Safety Consu lta nt 

Env i ro nmenta l ,  Hea lth & Safety Ma nager 

Office Ma nager  

I nfo rmat ion Ma nager  

Safety D i recto r 

Com m u n icat ions  Ca l l  Ce nte r Operator 

Po l ice Offi cer  

Emergency Ma nager 

Pres ident 

Pres ident of N DDTSEA 

P rogra m Ma nager 

Maste r I n structo r 

Com m u n ity P rotect ion Ma nager  

Ma rketi ng Coord i nator 

Exec D i recto r ND Sheriffs and Deput ies Assoc iat ion 

Su per intendent 

Safety Ma nage r  

SADD  Coord i n ator 
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G reat P l a i n s  Rehab i l at ion 

J amestown Parks and Recreation  

J amestown Po l ice Depa rtment 

Jasmin  Ch i l d  Care & Preschoo l  

Lewis and C l a rk  Schoo l  D istr ict #161 

Mackenz ie  Cou nty Eme rgency Ma nage ment 

Mackenz ie  Cou nty She r iff' s  Office 

Mandan  Pu b l i c  Schoo ls  D rive rs Educat ion 

Mayvi l l e  State U n ivers ity Ch i ld  Deve lopment  P rogra m 

Mckenz ie  Cou nty 

Mckenz ie  Cou nty 

Metro Area Ambu l ance Se rvice 

M i not Po l ice Depa rtment 

Mt .  P leasant  Schoo l  Ro l l a  #4 

N D  Assoc iat ion of Cou nt ies 

N D  Assoc iat ion of Cou nt ies 

ND Assoc iat ion of Cou nty Eng i neers 

N D  Ch iefs of Po l ice Associat ion  

N D  D rive r and  Traffic Safety Educat ion Associat io n  

N D  Loca l Tec h n ica l Ass ista nce P rogra m 

N D  State Associat ion  of City a n d  Cou nty Hea lth Offi c i a l s  

• 

North Da kota D r ive r a n d  Traffic Safety Educat ion Assoc iat ion 

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Counc i l  

N DSC- Membe r  

No rth Da kota Safety Counc i l  

N DSU PD  

Ne lson Cou nty Emergency Management 

No rth Da kota Assoc iat ion of Cou nty Eng i nee rs 

No rth Da kota D rive r a n d  Traffic Safety Educat ion Assoc iat io n 

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth Da kota Safety Cou nc i l  

No rth  Da kota She riff' s & Deput ies Associat io n  

No rthe rn Cass Schoo l  

No rthern  I m p rovement Co.  

No rthern  L ights SAD D 
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8 7  Matt O ' B r ien  

88 Theresa G ra nt 

89 Ka l l i e  Ch ristenson 

90 G reg K ing  

91 Te rry Davis 

92 Meghan  La rson 

93 J o h n  Rose 

94 David Sch ne ibe l  

95 Jac i  W itty 

96  E l iza beth Oestre ich 

97 Ka it lyn Re i ne rs 

98 J a sm i ne  Wangen 

99 Patr ic ia O l sen  

100 Carma Hanson 

101 Amber  Rose  Emerson 

102 J ohanna  Askega rd-G iesmann  

103 G reta M i l le r  

104 Katie Bjornson 

105 Amy Eber le  

106 Scott Engum 

107 N icho le  Se l z l e r  

108 J am ie Schwan 

109 

110  Debra Ha nson 

1 1 1  Shannon  S i l bernage l  

112 David Fe la n d  

1 13  J ames  A .  Thorson 

1 14 Lu i s  Coca I l l  

115  Car lotta Broecke l  

1 16  Kr isty Thorson 

1 17  Rache l  Hafne r  

118  Kh rystye Ea r l e  

119  J usti n G lasser  

120 Rona ld L. Ho lte n 

12 1  Kody O l son  

122 Wayne E Ho l l and  J r  

123 Donna  Ho l a nd  

124 Shawn Doble 

125 Bret Ketcham 

126 Rya n Ho len  

127 Dav id  A .  Pete rson  

128  R i c k  E l se 

129 Lor i  Bakken 
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Ch ief o f  Po l ice 

P r i nc i pa l Pa rtner  

RN  

D iv i s ion Safety Ma nager 

D riv ing I n structo r 

RN a n d  Ce rtifie d  CPS Tech 

Ch ief of Po l ice 

F i re Ch ief 

CPST 

Manager, Com m u n ity P rogra ms 

Com m u n ity Life Educato r/ Ch i ld  Passanger Safety Techn ic i an  

Safe K ids  Spec ia l ist 

Safe Kids Spec ia l ist 

Coord i nato r 

RN ,  Safe K ids  M i not Coord inator  

Ped iatr ic S u rgeon 

Com m u n ity Life Educato r 

D i recto r, C h i l d ren s  C l i n ics 

Tra uma  P rogra m Ma nage r 

Tra uma  Su rgeon 

Tra uma  RN  P rogram Spec ia l ist/ I nj u ry P revent ion 

Pa ramed i c  

Peds  Tra u ma P rogra m Coord i nato r, RN 

Lea d  Probat ion Officer  

Ch ief of Po l ice 

Corporate Safety D i recto r 

Ch ief of Po l ice 

Se n io r  Ad m i n i strative Staff 

D rivers Educat ion I n structo r 

Executive D i recto r 

D rivers Educat ion I n structo r 

Manager 

I n structo r and Owner 

Safety Ma nager 

Safety 

LPN 

Ch ief of Po l ice 

D i recto r of Safety 

Secreta ry/Treas u re r  

Ch ief o f  Po l ice 

Safety Consu lta nt 

Ma rketi ng  D i recto r 
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Oa kes Po l ice Depa rtment 

Ok iciya Consu lti ng  

Pe mb i na  Cou nty Pub l i c  Hea lth  

P l a i ns  A l l  Ame rica n P i pe l i ne  

P ub l i c  Schoo l  

Ransom Cou nty Pu b l i c  Hea lth 

Rugby Po l ice Depa rtment 

Rugby Vo l u nteer  F i re Dept 

Safe K ids  Fa rgo Moorhead 

Safe K ids  FM  

Safe K i d s  FM  a n d  Sa nfo rd Ch i l d ren s  

Safe K ids  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Safe Kids G ra n d  Fo rks 

Safe Kids G ra n d  Fo rks/ Altru Hea lth System 

Safe K ids  M i not 

Sa nfo rd Ch i l d ren ' s  Hosp ita l 

Sa nfo rd Ch i l d re n 's/ Safe K ids  Fa rgo Moorhead 

Sa nfo rd Hea lth 

Sa nfo rd Hea lth 

Sa nfo rd Hea lth 

Sa nfo rd Hea lth B isma rck  

Sa nfo rd Hea lth Fa rgo 

Sa nfo rd Hea lth  Tra u ma Services 

Sa nfo rd Med ica l  Center Fa rgo 

Sta nd i ng Rock Tr i ba l  Cou rt 

Stee le  Po l ice Dept 

Strata Corporat ion 

Su rrey Po l ice Depa rtment 

Te rracon 

TG U School D i str ict 

The Arc, U pper  Va l ley 

Tre nton H igh  Schoo l  

Tu bu l a r  Tra nsport & Logist ics 

Va l l ey D rive r Educat ion,  LLC 

Vecto r Construct ion I n c  

Wade  Works LLC 

Wa l sh  Cou nty Hea lth D i str ict 

Watfo rd City Po l ice Depa rtment 

WB I  E ne rgy 

Weiz  & Son s  I nc. 

W i l l i ston Po l ice Depa rtment 

Workfo rce Safety & I n s u ra nce 
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135 Dav id W.  Ne lson 

136 Cou rtney B rya nt 

137 Stacy Wagner  

138 Tim P icker ing 

139 Kr iste n Jones  

140 Rodger Schm idt 
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142 M ichae l  Wolf 

143 Sa ra Bje rke 

144 Steve La rse n  

145 E l i za beth Raymond 

146 Lo ri Ann  Novak 

147 Danaka Wa l z  

148 Carol Me i d i nger  
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Perm itt ing Spec ia l ist 

Master of Pu b l i c  Hea lth Stu dent  
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Ath letic Tra i n e r  

Safety Coord i nato r 

p rivate cit ize n 
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Good morn ing Cha i rman Ruby and members of the House Transportation 
Committee, my name is Sergeant Wade Kadrmas ,  Safety and Education Officer 
from the North Dakota H ighway Patro l .  I am here today on behalf of my agency 
to provide testimony i n  support of Senate B i l l  2060 . 

The fi rst item I wou ld l i ke to cover today is  our  current seatbelt laws , N DCC 39-
2 1 -4 1 .4 and 39-2 1 -4 1 . 5 .  Current ly ,  i t is  aga inst the law to not wear  a seatbelt as 
a front seat occupant of a motor veh icle .  The seatbelt law, however, can only be 
enforced in  a secondary manner ,  mean ing you need to be stopped for another 
v io lat ion of law. Those laws cou ld i nc lude any traffic related offense or veh ic le 
equ ipment violation . 

The second area I wi l l  cover are the exemptions to the current law.  The 
exemptions to North Dakota 's seatbelt l aw are as fol lows : 

• The occupants of any veh icle manufactured before January 1 ,  1 965 a re
not requ i red to wear seatbelts . The reason for th is is  veh icles were not
requ i red to have seatbelts pr ior to this date . After January 1 ,  1 968 a l l
veh icles were requ i red to  have lap and shoulder belts . So ,  d rivers are
requ i red to wear the lap and shoulder if the veh icle was manufactu red after
th is date .

• Drivers of imp lements of husbandry - Every veh icle designed excl usively
for agricultura l ,  horticu ltu ra l ,  or l ivestock ra is ing operations are exempt .
Examples of these vehicles are tractors and combines .

• Operators of farm veh icles as defi ned i n  subsection 5 of 39-04- 1 9 .
o This covers farm p lated veh icles and veh icles des ignated as a farm

veh icle and used excl usively for transporti ng the farmer' s  own
property or other property on a farm work exchange basis with other
farmers between farms and the usual  loca l trad ing p laces but not i n
connection with any  commercia l  use .

o Veh icle combination weight must be between 20 , 000 and 1 05 , 500
lbs .

• Rura l  mai l  carriers wh i le on duty de l iveri ng mai l .
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• Occupants with a med ical or physica l ly d isabl ing cond it ion that prevents
appropriate restra int  use .

o A qua l ified med ical practitioner needs to provide a signed statement
i n  good fa ith for th is  to be va l i d .

• If a l l  front seat restra i nts are i n  use by others than an ind ividua l  over the
age of 1 7  wou ld not have to wear a seatbelt .

The th i rd area I wi l l  d iscuss are examples when seatbelt laws are enforced on a 
primary bas is .  

• North Dakota centu ry code 39-2 1 -4 1 .2 ,  re lati ng to ch i ld restra int usage .
Th is states occupants under the age  of 8 are requ i red to be i n  a ch i ld
restra int system anywhere with i n  the veh icle .

• Ch i ld ren ages 8- 1 7 i n  a motor veh icle must be i n  either a ch i ld  restra int
system or correctly buckled i n  a safety belt .

• Operators and occupants of commercial motor veh icles subject to the
Federa l  Motor Carrier  Safety regu lations . The State of North Dakota has
adopted these regu lations under 39-2 1 -46 .3  and the North Dakota
H ighway Patrol is respons ib le for the enforcement of these laws . The North
Dakota H ighway Patrol is  the only agency in  the state able to enforce the
federa l  commercial motor veh icle laws adopted , due to the tra in ing and
certificat ion received by troopers th rough the Federa l  Motor Carrier Safety
Admin istration .

Test imony was g iven during the Senate Transportation Committee hearing wh ich 
stated that enforcement of a primary seatbelt law wou ld be d ifficult for officers to 
enforce because it is  hard for officers to see if drivers or occupants in  a veh icle 
are wearing a seatbe lt .  Th is isn 't the case . In 201 7 and 201 8 ,  troopers across the 
state issued 1 3 ,450 occupant protect ion enforcement contacts . We are current ly 
observi ng and making the determ inat ion that occupants of a veh icle are not 
weari ng seatbelts . 

The patrol works d i l igently to enforce seatbelt violations .  Troopers posit ion 
themselves in p laces that a l low them to see if front seat passengers and ch i l d ren 
are uti l izi ng occupant protect ion devices . We look for the contrast ing colors of 
their  cloth ing compared to the color of the seatbelts . We look for the seatbelt to 
cross over the shoulder of the ind ividua l . This is easy to recog nize th rough the 
rear window or from various ang les when parked along the roadway. See ing a 
seatbelt clearly dang l i ng from the s ide p i l la r  is one of the easiest ways to observe 
the lack of seatbelt use. Also ,  at times ,  ind ividuals not weari ng seatbelts can be 
observed wh i le  the driver or occupants are attempting to put on a seatbelt as 
they are being pu l led over. We do not and should not be guess ing when we 
enforce secondary and primary occupant protection laws . 
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Chang ing the law to primary enforcement re l ieves officers of the burden to look 
for a secondary violation and to estimate or j udge the age of an  ind ividua l . I t  wi l l  
a lso a l low them to focus on  a habi t  that i s  statistica l ly known to he lp reduce 
serious i nju ry and death when ind iv idua ls are invo lved i n  a crash . 

North Dakota 's Vis ion Zero strategy is  focused on reducing serious i nj u ries and 
fata l it ies during crashes. Law enforcement strives every day to encourage 
ind ividua ls to voluntar i ly comply with traffic laws to keep others on the roadway 
safe . Every day there are some ind ividua ls  who choose to speed , d rive impa i red , 
violate other drivers r ight of way ,  and d rive d istracted . The choices by other 
drivers to violate these laws endanger others on the roadway. 

I have compi led activit ies generated by troopers across the state from 20 1 7  and 
20 1 8 . During th is time ,  troopers issued 8 1 , 1 1 5  speed related enforcement 
activit ies ,  that is  an average of 1 1 1  per day. Troopers issued 1 6 , 567 rig ht of way 
violations over th is period , that is  an average of 22 per day. Also , duri ng th is 
period troopers issued 1 , 504 d istracted driving enforcement activit ies ,  that's an 
average of two per day .  Over th is  two-year  period troopers arrested 2 , 277 d rivers 
for impa i red driving , that's an average of three per day. These are on ly the 
drivers that were caught violati ng our traffic laws and these are on ly numbers 
from the h ighway patrol . Our other law enforcement partners a lso work hard to 
encourage ind ividua ls to voluntari ly comply with our traffic laws . 

Primary enforcement a l lows officers the ab i l ity to stop ,  educate , and re i nforce the 
need to wear seatbelts before the d river and occupants of a veh icle come across 
one of the i rresponsib le drivers that travel on our roadways da i ly .  Al l we want is  
for ind iv iduals drivi ng on our roadways to make smart choices and to voluntari ly  
comply with our states traffic laws for the safety of others . 

This concludes my testimony. I am happy to answer any questions .  
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M r. Cha i rma n and  members o f  the  House Tra nsportat ion Com m ittee my 
n ame  is M i ke Gerha rt, Execut ive Vice P res ident of the  No rth  Da kota Motor
Ca rr i e rs Associat ion .  I am he re th is  morn i ng  to test ify i n  s upport of Senate
B i l l  2060.

The Cente rs for Disease Contro l  a nd P revent ion  cite motor veh ic l e  c rashes
a s  the  lead i ng ca use of  i nj u ry- re l a ted deaths  i n  No rt h  Da kota . On ave rage,
eve ry t h ree days a pe rson d ies in a motor  veh ic le  c ra sh  on  North  Da kota
roadways .

Accord i ng to the  Fede ra l Motor Ca rr i e r  Safety Ad m i n istrat ion ,  seat be l t  
usage rates for motor ca rr ie rs i s  h igher  i n  states where p r ima ry seatbe l t
l aws exist . Seat  be l t  use is one of the  most effective ways to p rotect
commerc ia l motor veh ic le d r ive rs from i nj u ry o r  deat h .  The use of 
seatbe lts a l so p rotects other motorists who a re i nvo lved in cra shes with
commercia l motor veh ic les .

I wou ld  ask  for a DO PASS reco m mendat ion on  Senate B i l l  2060 . Th is  
leg is l a t ion wi l l  i ncrease the safety on  No rth  Da kota roadways a nd most
importa nt ly save l ives . I wou ld be h appy to a nswe r a ny quest ions .
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Regarding: SB 2 060 

My Name is Ryan Gel l ner, representi ng the North Dakota Association of Counties. 

The North Dakota Association of Counties and the North Dakota County Commissioners Association 
support SB 2060 . 

I n  North Dakota there a re over ten-thousand m i les of county roads that counties a re u lt imately 
respons ib le for. Doing whatever we can to protect those d rivi ng on  county roads, or  a ny road for that 
matter, i s  an important part of that respons ib i l ity. 

North Dakota is one of the rema in ing 15 states that lack primary enforcement a uthority for the use of 
seatbelts in motor vehicles. A Pr imary Seatbelt Law is wi l l  have an immediate a nd sign ificant impact on 
reducing motor vehic le crash deaths and serious i nju ries i n  North Dakota. 

SB 2060 does not cost anyth ing but wi l l  c lear ly save money. Unbe lted crash vict ims have medica l  b i l l s  
SO-percent higher than belted crash vict ims ( NHTSA), costing ND  Workforce safety $28 M i l l ion over the 
last 5 yea rs (NDDOT) . 

Driving on pub l ic  roads is a privi lege, and not a right . . .  therefor it can and shou ld be regulated. Requ i ri ng 
seatbelt use is no more a n  infri ngement on your  rights than being requ i red to turn on  you r  head l ights or  
use you r  turn  signa ls  or  stop at  stop signs. U pgrad ing North Dakotas seatbelt law from secondary 
enforcement to primary enforcement won't create a new law. It wi l l  s imply a l low law enforcement 
officers to enforce a seatbelt law just l i ke they do a ny other traffic law. 

The I l l i no is  Supreme Court ru led i n  the case People vs. Koh rig ( 1986) that seatbelt laws a re 
constitutiona l .  The cou rt said, "A law whose a im is to reduce the private a nd publ ic costs resu lt ing from 
i nju ries and deaths caused by motor veh ic le accidents is with i n  the po l ice power of the state." 

You have the power. The North Dakota Association of Counties is asking you to keep us safe on our  
roadways. More people die i n  motor vehic le crashes i n  ou r  state from being u nbe lted than a ny other 
contributing crash factor inc lud ing drunk driving, d istracted d riving, or speeding. ( NDDOT) 

Thank  you, Chairman Ruby a nd a l l  the Tra nsportat ion Committee members. You r  work on protecting 
every North Dakota citizen r iding i n  an a utomobi le i s  greatly appreciated. 

"If North Dakota had a primary seat belt law, more people would wear seat belts and there 

wouldn't be so many families living the nightmare of having to bury their loved ones." 

Quote from Corey Nelson, brother of Kyle Nelson. Kyle was killed in a single-vehicle rollover in 
rural Geneseo, ND on November 13, 2014. He was not wearing a seat belt, was ejected from, 
and pinned under the vehicle. 
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Mr. Cha irman ,  members of the House Transportation Committee ,  my name is Kristen Jones and  I am  
a Masters in  Publ ic Hea lth Student a t  NDSU .  I am here to present testimony on beha lf o f  Carma 
Hanson who i s  unab le to be  here today for t h i s  heari ng .  I wi l l  prov ide the  testimony as she  has it 
written .  

I am the Coord inator of Safe Kids Grand Forks , an  i nj u ry prevent ion coa l it ion that covers northeast 
North Dakota and northwest M innesota .  Altru Hea lth System is the lead agency for our coa l it ion and  
our  membersh ip cons ists of  over 1 50 bus inesses , agencies , i nd iv id ua ls ,  serv ice cl u bs and comm u n ity 
members who come together  under  the u mbre l la of i nj u ry prevent ion for ch i l d ren .  I am a lso a 
certified ch i ld passenger safety techn ician  (car seat expert) and  have spent much of my career 
implement ing effect ive strategies that prevent un intentiona l  inj u r ies and  deaths ,  particu lar ly in 
ch i ld ren .  

Over the yea rs ,  I have been a part o f  the statewide g roup  of  experts that gather routine ly to  create 
what has been known as the North Dakota Strateg ic H ighway Safety P lan  - now the North Dakota 

asion Zero P lan .  Th is p lan is requ i red by the Federa l  H ig hway Adm in istrat ion (FHWA) and is 
�earheaded by the North Dakota Department of Transportation . In the past ,  experts have come 

together from a reas such as law enforcement ,  traffic eng i neers ,  metropol i ta n  p la nn ing organ izations ,  
county agencies ,  ch i l d  passenger safety, emergency med ica l p rov iders and  others to  create a 
strategy for making our  North Dakota roadways safer. When our  team gathers ,  we create a p lan 
hop ing to m i rror the evidence-based outcomes proven successfu l i n  other  states .  For  many years ,  
members of th is g roup have known that a primary seat belt b i l l  i s  a p roven effective strategy i n  
reducing traffic inju ries and fata l i t ies and  decreasing costs to  state agencies and fu nd ing sou rces 
such as Med icaid and Workforce Safety and I nsu rance I .  In fact, enacting  a primary seat belt b i l l  has 
been a part of  our  State H ighway Safety P lan fo r many years and  we need the he lp  of  ou r  North 
Dakota leg is latu re to ca rry out that strategy, one that wi l l  have s ign ificant  l ives saved and economic 
cost reductions .  Let's d ig fu rther  into those opportun it ies : 

USAGE DATA: 
• On average ,  nearly 20 percent of North Dakotans - over  1 50 , 000 peop le - a re sti l l  not buckl i ng  up .
• An  estimated 48  l ives were saved by  seat belts i n  North Dakota i n  20 1 5 , and  22  add it iona l  l ives
cou ld  have been saved with 1 00 percent seat belt use .  

COSTS : 
Accord ing to data from the Nationa l  H ighway Traffic Safety Adm in istrat ion ( N HTSA) : 

• I n  20 1 0 , the economic cost due to motor vehic le crashes in  the U . S .  was $242 b i l l ion ( i n  20 1 O

•
dol lars ) .

• North Dakota pays $706 m i l l ion of these costs . That is $ 1 , 049 for every res ident of North
Dakota , each year. About th ree q uarters of the costs a re pa id by cit izens  not involved in the
crashes.
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20 1 3  do l lars) . 

• you can see from the g raph on the fo l lowing page ,  states with a primary seat be lt b i l l  have a h igher
usage of  seat be lts when compared to  those with a secondary enfo rcement  or  no belt laws.  I a m  not 
p roud that North Dakota fa l ls 6 th from last i n  th is data and  in  a more recent yea r, it has been reported 
that we are the second lowest in  the county in seat belt usage rates ;  we can do better. L iv ing in 
Grand Forks and with that be ing a border  commun ity to M i n nesota , I often hear  people who say, " I  
buckle up  when I cross the bridge into M innesota" o r  " I  set my  cru ise contro l  when I get into that state 
because I don ' t  want to get caught" .  Leg is lat ion works at chang ing  ou r  cu ltu re and our  behaviors .  

Let's take a look a t  our  ne ighboring state of  M i nnesota and the  resu lts they had after pass ing a 
p rimary seat belt law in the i r  state in 2009 .  Fo l lowing that law change ,  a study was conducted to 
ana lyze the effect it had had in  the i r  state . Here a re the i r  fi nd ings from that study  done in 20 1 1 ,  two 
years after passage of the primary law. 

Us ing data from the M innesota Crash Records Database prov ided by the Department of Pu b l ic 
Safety, the study ut i l ized two methods of analys is ,  fi rst comparing actua l  crash data and in  comparing 
the expected post law change inj u ry types. That study est imated that  there had been 68 - 92 fewer 
fata l it ies from motor veh icle crashes ,  and 320 - 550 fewer ser ious i nju r ies s ince the primary seat be l t  
law went into effect. Th is improved safety record translated into at least $45 mi l l ion in avoided 
hosp ita l charges ,  includ ing a d i rect savings of nearly $ 1 0 m i l l ion  or more tax do l la rs that 
wou ld have been paid for expenses cha rged to govern ment i nsu re rs .  The p rimary seat belt law has 
benefitted from the su pport of over  70% of a l l  M i nnesotans and observed use of seat be lts statewide 
has risen from 86 .7% in 2008 to an a l l-time  h igh  of 92 .7% in  20 1 1 .  

�hese successes seen i n ou r  ne ighboring M innesota are rep l icated across the country by other  states 
that have made the move to a primary seat belt b i l l .  We know th is works and we need you r  he lp to 
make it happe n .  Here is what is projected as it re lates to North Dakota pass ing a primary law: 

P RIM ARY SEAT BELT LAWS : 
ND's cu rrent seat belt use is at 82 . 5  percent desp ite on-going ed ucational campaigns and efforts to 
increase usage .  States that have passed a p rimary belt law have seen an increase in the i r  seat 
belt usage rates of 1 0-1 2% .  Even with NO enforcement of the law, the National H ighway Traffic 
Safety Adm in istration estimates that if North Dakota were to pass a primary belt law, seat belt 
usage cou ld i ncrease by approximately 7 percentage points . 
With a primary law, North Dakota cou ld save approximate ly 7 l ives ,  6 1  ser ious i nj u ries ,  and $ 1 8 
mi l l ion i n  costs each yea r. (Based on a 6 .9 percentage po int increase from the 20 1 6  seat belt use 
rate . )  

At the t ime o u r  state 's cu rrent seat belt law was written ,  most veh ic les o n l y  h a d  lap belts in  a l l  seating 
posit ions.  Therefore , an officer cou ld  not  see i f  the d river o r  occupants were buckled unt i l  they were 
stand ing alongside the veh icle , th us  it was mad a secondary offense as the re was no way to stop 
someone for "no seatbelt usage" when they cou ld not be seen .  Now however ,  veh icles have lap  and 
shou lder  be lts in  most a l l  the i r  seat ing positions rm:1k ing it easy to  te l l  i f  someone  has the i r  be lt on  o r  
not. Officers have t he  d iscretion of whether  they want t o  enforce the law or  not, j ust as  they do with 
other  offenses . 

A-iving a motor veh icle is a priv i lege ,  not a r ight and with that priv i lege comes some expectations . 
...,.ust as we are expected to use a tu rn s igna l  when we change lanes o r  tu rn a corner ,  we stop at a red 

l i ght or we reg ister our  ca rs with the DOT, us ing a seatbelt is a l ready a law. Our  law enforcement  
officers shou ld be g iven the ab i l ity to  enforce that  law just as any other  one . Whi le  they a re not 
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looking for a reason to "write tickets" , they are advocating for and  us ing  strategies that �i l l  p rave�r' 
i nju ries and deaths on our  roadways , a task assigned to them by ou r  state . Governor Bu rgum  has 
been bold i n  h is  announcement of the North Dakota Vis ion Zero P lan  that was lau nched one year  

AJo. He and  the  DOT know that th is law can and wi l l  make a d ifference to  the  cit izens of  our  state .�s noted by Karin Mongeon ,  62 percent of North Dakotas favor a p rimary belt  law and  we are ask ing 
for you r  support of SB 2060 to provide that  p rovis ion I n  ou r  state law. Th is is a law that  wi l l  cost 
ZERO dol lars to imp lement and yet wi l l  save l ives , save inju r ies and  save at least $ 1 8 m i l l ion from ou r  
state 's  budget. At a t ime where we are a im ing for fi nancia l  cost sav ings and  budget reductions ,  th is is 
one a rea where we can impact our bottom l i ne  at no cost to our state . I wou ld strong ly  ask for you r  
support of SB 2060.  

I thank  you fo r a l lowing me to testify today i n  su pport of SB  2060 and I wou ld enterta in  any questions 
you may have.  

Carma Hanson 
chanson@altru .org 
70 1 -739- 1 59 1  ( I  am cu rrently on a medical m iss ion tri p and  wi l l  not have cel l  phone service u nt i l  my 
retu rn to the US  on 3-3 but wou ld be happy to answer any questions after that date . )  

• 

•
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North Dakota 
Safety Facts 

August 20 1 7

North Dakota's seat belt use rate genera l ly remains lower than the 
national average . At 82 .8% use , over 1 30 ,000 North Dakotans sti l l  are 

not buckl i ng up .  

20 1 0 

Un ited 
85 . 1 % 

States 

North 
74.8% 

Dakota 

20 1 1 20 1 2 20 1 3 20 1 4 

83.8% 86. 1 % 87.2% 86 .7% 

76 .7% 80 .9% 77 .7% 8 1 % 

I n  201 0, crashes cost North Dakota 

$706 mi l l ion -

About $1 ,049 for each resident 

*(The Economic and Societal I mpact of Motor Vehicle Crashes, 201 o (Revised))

20 1 5 20 1 6 

88 .5% 90 . 1 %

80.4% 82 .8% 

With a primary seat belt law, each year North Dakota cou ld  save about : 

• 7 l ives

• 61 se rious i nju ries

• $ 1 8 m i l l ion i n  costs

(Based on a 6 .9  percentage point increase from the 201 6 ND  seat belt use rate . )  



Passenger Veh icle Occupant Fatal ities : 
Proportion of Veh icle Types 

Pickups 
45% 

Passenger 
Cars 
36% 

80%

60%

40%

20%

1 8% 
Source: 201 5 FARS Data 

• Unrestrained Passenger Veh icle
Occupant Fatalities 

Pickup Trucks SUVs Passenger 
Cars 

80% of n ighttime fata l i t ies 
are unrestrained i n  North 
Dakota compared to 49% 

of dayt ime fata l it ies. 

Source: 201 5 FARS Data 

I n  20 1 5 , seat belt use saved an 
est imated 48 l ives in North Dakota . 

An add it ional 22 l ives cou ld have 
been saved with 1 00% restrai nt 

use . 

Source: STSI 

I n  North Dakota , a larger  
percentage of p ickup  truck and 

passenger  car  fatal i t ies are 
u n restrai ned compared to SUV 

fata l i t i es .  

Source: 201 5 FARS Data 

Nighttime Unrestrained Passenger Vehicle 
Occupant Fatallt les 

1 00% Q 

75%

50%

25%

0% 
Passenger Pickups SUVs 

Cars 
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Good morn i ng Cha i rman Ruby a nd members of the Comm ittee. My name i s  Ch ri s
Pr ice a nd I am the D i rector of the Divi s ion  of Emergency Med ica l  Systems fo r the
North Dakota Depa rtment of Hea lth a nd a l so a pa ramed ic .  I am here to p rov ide
test imony on beha l f  of  the North Dakota Depa rtment of  Hea lth i n  s uppo rt of
Senate B i l l  2060.

I wou ld l i ke to ask you to ta ke a moment a nd th i n k  a bout a motor veh i c l e  crash, i t
m ight have been one you had fi rst- hand knowledge of o r  one that you have 
hea rd about. Did someth i ng happen to you or someone you know that rea l ly
d i dn 't have to happen? How d id that make you fee l ?  P robab ly not very we l l .
That 's the same fee l i ng that every Emergency Med ica l Techn i c i an  (EMT) o r  
pa ra med ic has each t ime he  o r  she  attends a moto r veh i c l e  crash i n  wh ich a n  
occu pant has succumbed to i nju r ies wh i l e  not wea ri ng a seat be lt . I can say afte r 
33 yea rs as a pa ramed ic, that the fee l i ng doesn 't get a ny better. I n  fact, i t  has  o n ly
become worse.

Seatbe lts save l ives - the facts a re i nd i sputab l e. I am confident that a ny EMT o r  
pa ra med ic stand i ng before you wou ld be  ab l e  t o  sha re a sto ry about a t ime  when
he o r  she ca red for a be lted c rash  v ict im i n  the presence of  a l ife l ess, u nbe lted 
vict im .  In my case, I th i n k  a bout a crash that I responded to i nvolv i ng be lted, front
seat occu pants, an u nbelted rea r passenger  who was ejected, a nd a fue l  lea k a nd
subsequent flash fi re. The unbe lted passenger  who was ejected from the veh ic l e
d id  not su rvive, wh i le the  be lted, front seat occupants su rvived a nd were
unha rmed by the fi re.

You may have hea rd, or may hea r in add it i ona l  test imony, a bout  the fi nanc i a l  a nd
soc ieta l costs of u nbe lted crash  v ict ims .  I n  add i t ion, there i s  u ndoubted ly a n
emot iona l  cost - not on ly to the v ict ims '  l oved ones, but  a l so to the E M S  
responders, the c lea r  majority be ing commun ity-sp i r ited vo l u nteers. Yes, a ny
severe i nj u ry o r  loss of l ife weighs  heavi ly on  the m i nd s  of you r  fr i ends  a nd 
ne ig hbors who respond with the loca l ambu l a nce serv ice, but I can ass u re you 
that the eas i l y  preventab l e  i nj u r ies and  deaths, l i ke those that a re the res u lt of not
wea ri ng a seat be lt, a re the ha rdest to come to terms with .

Seat be lts a re the s i ng l e  most effective traff ic safety device to p revent death a nd
i nj u ry i n  a motor veh ic l e  crash .  (Nat iona l  Safety Cou nc i l )

1
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seat be l ts p rotect you by: p l 2-
• Keep ing  you i n  contro l  of you r  veh i c l e  i f  you a re forced to swerve o r /bra ke 

sudden ly by keep ing you i n  the d river 's seat. 
• Keep ing  you i n  the veh ic le .  (You a re 2 5  t i mes more l i ke ly  to be ki l l ed if you ' re

th rown from a veh i c l e  dur i ng a c rash .) 
• Spread i ng the fo rce of impact over a l a rge  a rea a nd the strongest pa rt of the

body. 
• A l l owi ng you r  body to s low down g radua l ly, lessen i ng the im pact on  i nterna l

o rgans .  
• P revent i ng i mpact with the i nter io r  of the veh i c l e, such  as  the steeri ng whee l ,

dash o r  wi ndsh ie ld .  
• P revent i ng t ra uma to the b ra i n  a nd sp i na l  cord caused by sudden  change  i n

mot ion .  
• I nc reas i ng  you r  chance of rema i n i ng consc ious after a c ra sh, wh ich  wi l l  he l p

you get out of the veh ic le a nd he l p  othe rs .

Wea ri ng a seatbe l t  can prevent you from co l l id i ng with othe r  occupa nts in the 
veh i c l e . An u n restra i ned occu pant becomes a project i l e  and r i s ks ser ious i nj u ry o r
death t o  others i n  t h e  veh ic le .  
• Exposu re to u n be lted occupa nts i nc reases the r i s k  of i nj u ry o r  death to othe r

occupa nts i n  the veh ic le  by  40  percent . 
• I n  a fronta l c ra sh, a n  unbe l ted rea r  seat passenger  s itt i ng  beh i nd a be lted 

d river i nc reases the r isk of fata l i ty fo r the d rive r by 1 37 percent com pa red with
a be lted rea r seat passenger. ( I n s u ra nce I nst i tute fo r H ig hway Safety)

One death on  No rth  Dakota roads  is too many. A prima ry seat be lt law is a n  
evidence-based strategy to he l p  move No rth Dakota towa rd zero motor veh ic l e
crash  deaths .  These deaths a re preventab le. To  prevent u nbe lted motor veh i c l e
deaths, everybody needs to  wea r a seat be l t, every tr i p, eve ry t ime.

The No rth  Dakota Depa rtment of Hea lth i s  p leased to be partner ing with the
North Dakota Depa rtment of  Tra nsportat ion and the No rth  Dakota H ig hway 
Patro l on the Vis i on  Zero i n it iat ive and  is comm itted to reduc i ng  moto r veh ic l e
crash  deaths and  ser ious i nj u ries to  No rth Dakotans .

I u rge  you to pass SB  2060 to save the l ives of No rth Dakota ns .  I am happy to
answer a ny quest ions  you may have.

2
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Good Morn ing Mr. Chairman and members of the House Transportation Com mittee .  For 
the record , my name is B i l l  Wocken ,  appearing  on behalf of the North Dakota League of 
Cit ies i n  support of Senate B i l l  2060. 

As you have heard previously Senate Bi l l  2060 does three basic th ings.  I t  makes fai l u re 
to use a seat belt per th is b i l l  a v io lat ion merit ing a $50 . 00 fee ,  it defi nes a seat belt 
violation as fai l u re by any person in a motor veh ic le to wear a proper seat belt and it 
repea ls  the present law and makes a seatbelt violation a pri mary offense. 

The North Dakota League of Cities supports the state's Vision Zero program to reduce 
and e l im inate roadway fatal it ies. Research has shown that use of seat belts by a l l  
vehic le occupants is the  s ing le  most effective protective measure ava i lable  i n  a 

• veh icu lar crash .  I t  wi l l  reduce fatal and serious i nju ries by nearly ha lf. Our  emergency 
service personne l  have seen fi rst-hand many traged ies that cou ld  be prevented with 
effective use of seat belts. Doubtless there have been fatal i t ies and serious i nj u ri es i n  
your  own commun it ies th is b i l l  may he lp  to  avert. 

• 

Concern has been expressed that seatbelts may be considered a h indrance in a vehic le 
fi re or a submerged or overturned vehic le .  I am  not sure I agree but even if th is theory is 
true wou ld  it be prudent pub l ic  pol icy to ignore a 98% solut ion because of a 2% outl ier? 
It was poi nted out that the law al lows exemptions for mai l  carriers ,  farm vehic les,  
severely hand icapped and cars made without belts .  These very narrow exceptions do 
not merit d isuse of seatbelts by the vast majority of automobi le occupants. 

M r. Cha i rman and com mittee members, th is bi l l  is about balanci ng personal  preferences 
against behavior which is deadly and costly to society . The North Dakota League of 
C it ies requests your favorable cons ideration of th is b i l l .  
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KELLY LEBEN
SHERIFF 

I am testifying in support of SB 2060, a b i l l  to change North Dakota' s  Seat Belt Law from a 
secondary offense to a primary offense because thi s  i s  a change to the law that I believe in. 

As a 28 year veteran of law enforcement and a 1 0  year instructor for the North Dakota Safety 
Council in the areas of traffic safety, I have l ived by my belief that it takes education and 
enforcement to make our roadways safer in the State of North Dakota. The ultimate goal of law 
enforcement is  not to issue traffic citations, but rather to have voluntary compliance of the law to 
ensure the motoring public is safe in their travels . As a part of every class I instruct to the publ ic ,  
I present on the current traffic fatal i ty statistics gathered in our state . In each class, I make a point 
of discussing the fact that our statistics remain very consistent each year on what is  kil ling our 
friends and family on the roadways in North Dakota. The # 1  cause of death on the roadways i n  
our state is unbelted occupants . That stati stic i s  60  % for  unbelted occupants . I also point out i n  
each class that "If it i s  predictable, i t  i s  preventable ." 

There wi l l  always be the argument that the decision to buckle up or not buckle up i s  a personal 
choice. In real i ty, that argument has already been negated, because North Dakota already has a 
law making the decis ion not to buck l e  up a traffic offense . This change in law would only move 
i t  from secondary enforcement to primary enforcement thus putting more emphasis on traffic 
safety and enforcement. Our state has other l aws already established that impose requirements on 
the motoring publ ic to use our roadways .  These laws each have a specific purpose j ust l ike this 
change does and when we look at driving in our state, we must always remember, i t  is a privilege 
and not a right. 

The use of seatbelts is a proven strategy in preventing serious injury and death in motor vehicle 
crashes. By moving our law from secondary enforcement to primary enforcement, we have the 
opportunity to gain more vo luntary compl iance with the law thus reducing the amount of injury 
and death and the associated costs that result from these crashes. ln the end, it is not about 
issuing citations, it ' s about saving lives .  

Thank you for your time and consideration and please feel free to contact me with any questions 
you may have . 

���L-
Kel ly Leben, Sheriff 
Burle igh County 

•OURTHOUSE 
, 14 E. Thayer • PO Box 1416
Bismarck, ND 58502-1416 

BURLEIGH MORTON
DETENTION CENTER

4000 Apple Creek Road • PO Box 2499
Bismarck, ND 58502-2499

P 701-255-3113 • F 701-258-5319
P 701-222-6651 • F 701-221-6899

www.facebook.com/BurleighCountySheriffsDepartment
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Good morning, Chairman Ruby and members of the committee .  Thank you for the opportunity to 
express support for Senate Bill 2060. My name is Gene LaDoucer, and I represent AAA-The Auto
Club Group, the second largest AAA club in North America with more than 9 .6  million members . I
am also team lead for the North Dakota Vision Zero Young Driver Emphasis Team. It is primarily
in that role that I am addressing you today.

There is no disputing the effectiveness of seat belts .  Even those who don't  routinely wear them 
admit they would buckle up if they knew they would be involved in a crash. And when it comes to
motor vehicle crashes, teens are greatly overrepresented and would benefit significantly from this
legislation.

As you know, North Dakota currently has a primary seat belt law for teens under the age of 1 8 . It 
has been rendered largely ineffective, however, by the secondary nature of the offense for those 1 8
years of age and older. Law enforcement officers simply do not know how old a driver is when 
encountering them in traffic. Knowing this -- and routinely seeing adults not wearing their seat belts
-- teens are undeterred and have become the age group least likely to buckle up . That issue can be
solved with sound evidence-based policy. It may also help parents enforce household rules .  
According to  an NDSU study, more than 99 percent of parents expect their teens to  wear a seat belt 
at all times .  Yet, several studies and a review of the data paint a different picture . As a result, young
lives are being cut short or significantly altered due to serious injuries .

Motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of injury-related death for North Dakota teens, 
according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Teen driver inexperience, coupled
with immaturity, often results in risk-taking behaviors such as speeding, alcohol use, and not
wearing a seat belt - all of which contribute to an increased death rate.

According to the 20 1 7  North Dakota Crash Summary, teen drivers age 1 4- 1 9  account for only 5 
percent of all licensed drivers in North Dakota, but are behind the wheel in nearly 20 percent of all
crashes .  Furthermore, in the five-year period from 20 1 2  to 20 1 6, teens were involved in 1 7  percent
of severe-injury crashes involving an unbelted or improperly belted occupant.

The Vision Zero goal is within reach for our youngest drivers. The passage of Senate Bill 2060 
would set the stage for eliminating motor vehicle crash fatalities among teens - and ultimately all
motor vehicle passengers .

Through education, enforcement and sound policy, we can increase seat belt use in North Dakota
and reduce the unnecessary loss of life and the personal and economic toll traffic crashes have on 
everyone. Stemming the tide of crash fatalities and serious injuries starts with embracing a culture 
of safety. And for each of us that begins before even putting the vehicle in gear -- by buckling up . It
is a life-saving habit best established at a young age and continued through adulthood.

• Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to express support for this important measure and urge a
"Do Pass" recommendation by the committee .
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE B ILL NO. 2060 

Page 2, line 1 0, after "a" insert : 
"i" 

Page 2, line 1 3, after the period insert : 

"2..:." 

Page 2, line 1 3, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter "� 

"a. To" 

Page 2, line 1 4, overstrike "to drivers" and insert immediately thereafter : 

"b. To a driver" 

Page 2, line 1 5, overstrike "to operators" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"c. To an operator" 

Page 2, line 1 5, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"d .  To"

Page 2, line 1 6, overstrike "to" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"e . To" 

Page 2, line 1 9, overstrike "or when" and insert immediately thereafter: 

"L. When" 

Page 2, line 20, after "occupants" insert: "; or 

g,_ To an operator or a passenger of a motor vehicle that stops frequently 
to allow the driver or passenger to leave the vehicle temporari ly or to 
deliver property from the vehicle. This exception applies only when the 
vehicle is traveling at a speed not exceeding thirty miles [48.28 
kilometers] per hour between stops" 

Page 2, after line 20, after the period insert : 

"�" 

Page 2, after line 22, after the period insert : 

"4. "  

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 1 9 . 05 1 5. 0 1 003 
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